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    We were five days into our ten day station just outside the heliosphere. It was absolutely the most boring duty station in all the USAC. The main alien fleet was still 14 months away. Everyone on the planet was busy preparing our defenses for the incoming threat. We... were busy twiddling our thumbs.

    The assignment was fun for the first several hours. Once we were over the thought of venturing outside the solar system and once we had looked around at the amazing views of the stars, the thrill was gone. Our main attraction looked to be an asteroid of about 30 meters in width that was approaching us from the suspect region of Epsilon Eridani. The only curious thing about it was its speed, almost half the speed of light.

    After calculations had been done it was determined that it was on a course that would take it near Earth. We had been given instruction to pull up alongside and to blast it into tiny bits. Earth had enough problems with its reconstruction without having to worry about an asteroid strike. After five days of our uneventful assignment we were glad to have the distraction.

    The throttle was at full as we raced towards the incoming rocky threat. I waited until the last possible moment to do the now classic flip maneuver in our Defender. The BHD (Black-Hole-Drive) continued its pull, first slowing us to a stop and then propelling us forward in an attempt to match the speed of the incoming asteroid. With our dual reactor setup the acceleration would take us an hour and a half.

    I considered myself a good pilot. I scored well on my qualifying tests. And I was an ace in the Defender Simulators back in Chamber 2 under the Adirondacks in upstate New York. I would use those skills to slide up in front of the asteroid and then move off to the left side where we could blast it with our coil guns. My Offensive Specialist Randy had an itchy trigger finger.

    His name was Thurmon Campbell but we called him Randy because he was always flirting with the ladies. I found him a bit obnoxious, but he seemed to have a knack for attracting their attention. As we pulled up in front of the asteroid Randy was already hatching plans about how he was going to be telling the ladies of his heroics in saving the planet.

    I could care less about what he told them so long as he got the job done. As a gunner he was a worthwhile addition to my crew. He preferred manual controls over the computer assist and his scoring in the simulations had shown him to be skilled at it.

    I prompted Raven and Tork for status from their stations before making the outbound maneuver. Raven (Janet Plumb) was our Defensive Specialist. Her jet black hair had given her the obvious call sign. Tork (Derrick Kennedy) was our Engineer. He was a quiet sort that spent his time tinkering with the ship’s systems. The automation on-board the Defender governed most of what went on with the systems, but Tork liked staying on top of it anyway. The way I looked at it, if he was happy, I was happy.

    I took us to within five kilometers of the asteroid before banking hard left. At two kilometers out I would do another flip allowing Randy to take his shot at glory. Just for kicks I put my controls on manual in order to make Randy work for his shot. If I could coax a miss it would give me ribbing ammunition for whenever he got mouthy. He got mouthy a lot.

    We quickly slid out to two kilometers and I flipped the ship around. We were completely unprepared for what lay directly behind the asteroid. It was a long line of alien fighters. Raven's console quickly lit up with a count of 315. They had been using the iron asteroid to approach Earth under cover. Randy redirected his first shots at the lead fighter just as I made another flip and went to full throttle.

    The fighters broke rank and came hard at us. Raven directed our grav-shield to the rear of the ship while Randy began the launch of four Drillers. Our newest Drillers consisted of one BHD ring with a new field generator that allowed the Driller to change directions much faster. They could now almost match the turns of the alien fighters.

    New algorithms in the Drillers programming offered an added benefit. The Driller would fly around chasing after a target and when it caught its prey, the black hole of the BHD ring would cut into the target vessel just like a drill. The new algorithms would then direct the Driller to stop and turn once inside a ship.

    The old weapon would attempt to turn a ship into Swiss cheese by drilling straight through. This new model would gut whatever it came in contact with from the inside out. It was an untested weapon but the Tacticians assured us it would be more destructive than the original. Randy had four Drillers flying moments after our surprise meeting.

    The fighter’s immediate shots took our shields to 65% with the first hit and 85% with the second. The fighters gained as our BHD began to accelerate. The following shot took the shields to 112% taking out all five of our BHD rings. We were suddenly floating dead in space.

    The final shot sent us spinning, but had not knocked our active skin offline. When the rings collapsed the active skin shut down the sensors and covered the remaining portions of the front of the Defender. Our propulsion was gone but as a consequence, with the active skin, our ship was now invisible to the alien sensors. We were blind to what was happening just outside, but the enemy could not detect us either.

    The computer gave its best estimate of our position and orientation but without a drive those parameters were largely useless. We were floating in deep space with no way home. It was just over a day’s travel at light speed to get back to Earth. We weren't going anywhere. But we had to warn the others of the approaching horde of alien fighters. The Earth had barely begun its recovery from the prior alien attack.

    It had been three months since the combined USAC and World forces had defeated the alien carrier. It had been a hard fought battle with more than 270 million citizens dead. So far as we knew, the alien casualties had been zero as their ships were all autonomous. Twenty of the World’s largest cities along with numerous other military and industrial targets had been wiped out.

    For me, I had lost a favorite aunt, uncle and cousin in Atlanta. Liz and I had been best friends growing up on my Grandfather's farm in East Alabama. When my aunt and uncle moved away I was devastated to see Liz go. It was that separation that had hardened me and sent me down the path from being a Tom-Boy to a Defender pilot for the USAC. For a while we had kept in close contact digitally, but that soon faded as we made our way into high school and into the inevitable friendships that followed.

    The aliens had taken my cousin from me along with my aunt and uncle, when Atlanta had been destroyed. It was my first encounter with the aliens and I had grown up having a score to settle. Now floating helplessly in deep space I had no way of enacting my revenge.

    We waited 20 minutes for the fighters to pass before attempting to activate a communications sensor. I had taken the time to complete a brief of our encounter and of what was coming Earth's way. The briefing coupled with a complete recording from each of our sensors was compressed and ready to send when the comm came online.

    We were trapped more than a light day away while the enemy bore down on our planet. After receiving my signal our forces at home would only have 24 hours to prepare for the 315 fighters that were fast approaching.

    At last count we had 37 Defenders at the ready along with more than 500 heavy space based coil guns and 260 ground based guns. Our factories had been feverishly pumping out ground launched Drillers but I had no idea of how many.

    With the main alien fleet only 14 months out we would need the help of every man, woman and child on the planet to continue to raise our defenses. I worried that this pack of fighters would cause enough damage and distraction to make that defense impossible.

    When the 20 minutes had passed I powered on the sensors and blasted out the warning. The fighters had indeed continued on their course towards Earth leaving us spinning helplessly away in space. At one half-light speed it would take the aliens two days to reach Earth. Our comm blast would reach home in one.

    After sending the blast I turned to the team and asked what we could do to change our situation. Tork immediately volunteered a spacewalk in an attempt to do an on-ship repair. He proposed either that or an attempt to bring a damaged BHD ring inside the ship where it could be further evaluated.

    I was just about to give the go-ahead when Raven threw out the facts. The fact that we were traveling at nearly half the speed of light was a big problem. And the fact that beyond the active skin we did not have adequate shielding from the stellar winds and the charged particles that freely moved about outside the heliosphere.

    If Tork went outside the craft, even with his suit and helmet, he would likely be irreparably cooked from the inside out within a short time. We were trapped until such time as someone at home could attempt a rescue.

    When the news reached Earth, there was a scramble to assemble all of our ready forces. A fast Defender was dispatched to attempt a rescue of my crew from our stranded position. Every available trained pilot was needed for Earth’s defense.

    The fast Defender was powered by four reactors which would allow it to reach us in less than eight hours. This would also allow time for a rescue and for a return to Earth before the alien fighters attacked.

    Our defender would first have to be stabilized so that a door-to-door transfer of its occupants could occur. It was a risky maneuver considering the stranded Defenders speed and the stellar winds. A volunteer crew was selected and sent within an hour of receiving the comm blast. They would have a four hour window available to attempt a transfer.

    With the alien threat having moved on towards Earth we were free to use our sensors. We racked our brains looking for anything that could better our situation. After an hour of nothing, Randy offered up an idea. He reasoned that we could momentarily turn off the active skin and fire a round from one of our coil guns. The inertia from that round might slow our spin.

    If he could calculate which gun would offer the best chance at slowing our out-of-control spin we had a shot at increasing our chances of a rescue. There was no question of survival time involved as we had enough nutrients and fuel to last us for a month. It was a question of wanting to get back to protect our world.

    There was one aspect of Randy's plan that he was unsure of. What would happen when the active skin went down? Would the inertial forces that the skin held back splatter us all against the interior walls of the ship? Would the supercharged particles of the stellar wind come streaming through and cook us? Those were the questions we had no answer to.

    Randy re-ran his calculations and setup the computer to best time the shot. Involving the computer in this instance was an irritant to him, but the computers precision was needed if the plan was to have a chance at success.

    With the calculations complete and the parameters entered Randy enabled the computer to take its best shot. A countdown timer appeared on our consoles and we each watched anxiously as it ticked down to zero. The ship jerked violently and then three seconds later violently again. The computer continued to repeat this pattern in an attempt to bring our spinning to an end.

    After 27 rounds the Defender slowed to an almost imperceptible turn. Randy's idea had worked. Raven looked over the interior sensor data and concluded that our exposure to the stellar winds had been a minimal risk. But, it was a risk that we would likely not know the outcome of for many years down the road.

    I took the opportunity to train our sensors on the alien fighters and to broadcast that information towards home. I hoped they could somehow put it to use. I gave Tork the order to plan for his extra-vehicular ring repair in case we had no alternatives, the one thing we had was time.

    I then began to think about how unfair it was that the alien craft each had repair robots attached to the outer chassis. They could affect repairs while zipping along at any speed... even during battle. I made a log note to post the idea up to our Techs when we got home.

    For the next several hours we all sat quietly wondering about each of our existences. I thought for a few minutes about my crew. Randy was from Connecticut. He had lost family in New York when the carrier and its horde of fighters had attacked.

    He had joined the USAC a year earlier after eight years as a low level commercial pilot. He loved the travel, but did not care for hauling freight. There was no glory in hauling boxes of clothing or toys or bean sprouts. It was a job he was happy to move on from.

    Raven was from Vancouver. She made her way into the Corps through a simulation game that had been put on the market several years earlier. The geniuses behind our Defender craft had put out a holo-game called ZZ Defender. Those who scored well through competitions had been recruited into the USAC directly at a time when Defender crews were sorely needed. The game continued to be a recruiting tool bringing in much needed talent.

    Applications to the USAC had been through the roof since the last devastating attack. Raven and a team of three others had been the West Coast ZZ Defender Champions. The rest of her crew had been accepted into the USAC and divided amongst three other Defender teams. I was happy to have Raven on mine.

    Tork had come from the Midwest, somewhere in Northern Missouri. He was about as small town as you could get. As far as engineers went, I would not have traded him for any others I had known. He was a quiet but relentless worker.

    As my thoughts wondered I began to daydream about my earlier days on my Grandfather’s farm. We had a small herd of goats and it had been my job to keep them fed and keep them happy. I spent much of my time hacking into our automated feeders in an attempt to have them do more of my chores. Several minor alterations had worked wonders until I crashed and ruined a very expensive piece of equipment.

    My parents were livid, but my Grandfather took it in stride. He told me that man would never have accomplished much if he had never taken risks. It was a statement that had ruled much of my adult life.

    After seven hours adrift I was elated to hear an incoming message. A rescue ship was fast approaching. My team got loud in celebration. The plan was for the rescue ship to match our speed and move in close enough for a door to door transfer attempt at getting us out. Their ship had a pilot and one crewman to handle the winch line.

    The rescue Defender would be maneuvered until its rear door and ours were facing one another. Their ships computer would attempt to bring them within three meters for the transfer.

    We had been monitoring the stellar winds and they seemed to build and then ebb in an eight minute interval. We would attempt our first transfer during a lull.

    The pilot of the other ship introduced himself as Bumba. He was South African. He manually piloted his Defender to within one kilometer before turning it over to the ships computer. Within minutes the two Defenders were facing back to back while traveling at one half-light speed. We again watched a timer tick away waiting for a lull in the stellar winds.

    With precision timing the active skins on both Defenders shut down and the doors lifted. Rocko was at the ready with a line and winch with Tork being the first to hook up and cross. The process took four minutes.

    The doors once again closed and the skins re-activated as the stellar winds again began to build. When the easing cycle repeated the transfer process began again. This time it was Raven who was then followed by Randy. As the squad Commander I felt it was my duty to go last. When the time came for my turn the stellar winds did not die down.

    We waited patiently for almost three hours for the ebb, but no change came. Bumba then made a command decision of his own. I asked what they were doing when the Defender began to slowly pull away. I was told that our time was limited and that Tork had volunteered to go out on a tether in an attempt to change one of the damaged rings on the front of our ship.

    I thought it a bad idea to risk the lives and safety of five in an attempt to rescue the one. Tork reasoned that we would need the ship if it was at all repairable. We had 315 fighters looking to destroy our world.

    It was a reasonable argument, but one that was easily countered with why five live crewman and a good Defender were not worth risking. My arguments were ignored. Bumba brought the Defender in close before putting the plan into action. The door opened and out floated Tork with the tool needed to make the exchange for a spare ring that the rescue ship had brought to us.

    The stellar winds still raged as Tork hurried through his repair attempt. With no active skin the rescue crew was taking a big risk. I felt unworthy of their gamble. Seven minutes into the ring exchange and Tork was reeled back into the other Defender. When their door had closed and the ship had moved safely away I was ready to give the new ring a try.

    I applied power slowly and checked the status. The exchange appeared to have worked. I took a moment to thank Tork and again chastise him for taking the risk. But I was glad to be heading home in my own ship.

    Bumba then told us to say our goodbyes because he needed to get back as soon as possible. There was much that needed doing. I watched the green blip from the sensors as the fast Defender quickly sped away. I pushed my throttle full and watched my own speed climb at what seemed like a snail's pace.

    If I was lucky I would arrive home just before our attackers. Our Defenders were much slower with only one BHD ring but, just as the fully capable ship, they would continue to accelerate when the throttle was set to full. My trip counter ticked away from more than 17 hours.

    When I arrived at the base near Lake Pleasant in the Adirondacks I moved quickly into a hangar. A crew was waiting to effect repairs. I hurried away to the elevators to take me to Chamber 2 for a briefing on the fight that was almost upon us.

    I hustled into the briefing room where I was met by my crew. I took note that Tork was not looking well. Just as the briefing was about to begin he collapsed. I was sure it was due to the sacrifices he had made to get us safely home.

    When the medic team had him on the way to the infirmary the briefing began. Our Battle Commander, Admiral Rex Hall, strode in with a stern look on his face. We would be fielding 42 Defenders against the 315 alien fighters. It was not good odds. We would be deploying our fighters in squads of six, based on a perimeter around where the alien fighters were expected to arrive.

    Our newest space based coil guns were now on mobile platforms, but there were only eight of them and they were still relatively slow to move. Our strategy would be to try to quickly move forces to wherever the heaviest need was.

    In the few months since the carrier attack, the Australians had constructed and opened a factory that was now pumping out 300 light coil guns a day. These new light guns were mobile and were being rushed to every major city in an attempt to beef up their defenses. There was also added emphasis on protecting our factories as further destruction could end any attempt at rearming ourselves for defense against the main fleet.

    When the briefing ended we had our orders. We also had a new engineer. He would be meeting us at our Defender as he was being pulled directly from training in the DSims two weeks early. I was not happy with the current crew chang,e but being happy was not a requirement. I would have to give the new crewman the chance to prove himself.

    I had ten minutes to spend before returning to the hangar. I decided on a call to the family. I wanted to hear my parent's voices and I wanted the encouragement that I knew would come from my Grandfather.

    My Mother had her usual worried tone. She wondered why I would be calling after not talking to her for weeks. I told her everything was fine and to just stay on the farm and tend to business. She was of course suspicious.

    I then moved on to the real purpose of my call... my Grandfather. I needed his wisdom, his support, his calm and confidence. I had no problem going headlong into whatever came my way. But that did not mean my guts would not turn to jelly.

    I was nervous and my Grandfather always had a way of putting my mind at ease. He told me that man makes mistakes. That all you can do when times are tough is to do the best you can. That worrying never solved anything... action did.

    He ended by saying that he had complete confidence in his Granddaughter. After all, she had his genes. The talk had been just what was needed. As I rode the shuttle towards the hangars my inner thoughts changed from worry about my loved ones and for all Mankind to ones of strength and determination.

    In less than two hours the alien fighters would be upon us. Earth would again be fighting for its survival. As I stepped out into the hangar and viewed the crews, handlers and support personnel hurrying about, I had a renewed feeling of pride... a renewed feeling of fight. We would be giving the aliens the best of what we had.
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    It was early morning when we lifted off. Our repair crews had been able to change out the BHD rings and sensors on our Defender, putting it back in service. Randy and Raven were busily checking and rechecking their system status reports while I schooled our new engineer on what I would like out of her.

    She went by the name of Shepard as she was said to tend to her systems like they were a herd of sheep, always checking, always adjusting, always keeping them online and optimized.

    We had four high powered Defenders that had been outfitted with four reactors each. When the first alien carrier had arrived it was only destroyed by using a risky maneuver at faster-than-light speed. One crew had departed Earth, circled in a wide loop at full power and when it reached just above light speed it collided with the alien craft.

    With the ship traveling faster than light the aliens were unaware of its approach until it was too late. The active skin allowed the Defender to pass through the carrier while it fired its coil guns. The alien carrier was destroyed along with its remaining fighters. Battle Command planned on again utilizing the element of a FTL surprise to attack the incoming fighters.

    The Defenders were to approach from an angle where their computers would coordinate coil gun shots that would take out multiple targets with each pass. It was hoped that the alien numbers could be cut in half just before their arrival.

    Of the remaining Defenders three had the dual reactor setup like ours. We were assigned to the same squad so that our maneuvering and flight speeds could be matched. When the fighters arrived we would first loose our Drillers and then stand firm attempting to draw the fighters in close to the six mobile coil guns we had repositioned to meet them. At that point it would again turn into a free for all.

    As we awaited the initial contact by our four ultra-fast Defenders I took a moment to acquaint myself with my fellow commanders. Defender 327 was piloted by Captain Sandy "Beefy" McKiddle and Defender 328 by Colonel Rudolf "Konk" Wilhelm.

    Beefy was from just outside Sao Paulo, Brazil and had grown up on a cattle ranch. He had been schooled in the States before the world knew of the impending alien threat. He joined the Brasil Corpo de Astronautas while it was being newly formed. As a former motocross rider and enthusiast he had scored extremely high on the spatial aptitude tests during his initial training, placing him in the pilot seat.

    Colonel Konk was from Germany and had grown up just outside the fences of the closed down and repatriated Ramstein Air base. His great Grandfather had been in the Luftwaffe and even though he had not seen battle before his passing, he had filled his Great Grandson's imagination with tales from the sky.

    Konk was determined to attain the glory of being an airman that his Grandfather had only alluded to. He was precise in his maneuvers and calculating in his decisions. After several short discussions I was comfortable with the squad that I had been assigned to.

    As our ultra-fast Defenders approached the alien fighters our tactical screen filled with yellow blips and the fast approaching green ones. Within seconds 82 of the 315 fighters went red on the screen. The fast Defenders had also launched their Drillers which were just beginning to interact with the now scattering alien ships.

    The Drillers immediately took out another 22 fighters before slowing enough to begin their pursuits of others. By the time the fighters reached our position their numbers had been cut by another 17. That's when Battle Command enacted phase two.

    Just over 400 Drillers were launched from the ground as the mobile coil guns began to pump out long distance rounds. The 38 Defenders in our group next launched the 608 Drillers we carried with us. Randy's tactical display went haywire with blips of the Defenders, Drillers and fighters as they each twisted and turned.

    As the first fighter came within range I pushed the throttle to full and followed an initial flight plan posted up by Beefy. We would travel outward at a 45 degree angle and then turn hard towards the incoming horde. As was expected from them, the alien fighters then broke into two groups. A group of 90 headed for the atmosphere and the cities that waited below while the remaining ships attacked our position.

    We were soon in the thick of it, shouting commands over the comm and reacting to commands shouted back. Fighters and Defenders were exploding right and left on our first pass when Battle Command called our squadron home.

    The bulk of the 90 alien fighters that had entered the atmosphere were headed for the industrial grounds in Australia. As the fighters swooped in low to do their damage, they were met by thousands of rounds coming up from the light coil guns the Aussies had been manufacturing.

    The aliens lost 16 fighters on their initial approach before they once again began their devastating crushing attacks with their gravity weapons. The fighters, despite the defenses, cut a wide swath of destruction from Brisbane to Sidney to Melbourne. Millions of lives were lost in a matter of minutes.

    On the first pass our squad took out two fighters. We banked hard and came in for a second pass when the aliens revealed a new tactic. Each alien fighter had a compliment of four repair robots attached to its outer hull. As we came in hard the fighters launched the robots directly at us.

    When the first one came in contact with a Defender it was partially dematerialized by the BHD with the remainder being absorbed and then ejected by the active skin. When the second repair robot hit it took out two of our sensors. Of the 15 initial Defenders sent to assist Australia, nine were made useless by the alien robot tactic, including that of Konk and his crew.

    The battle in space and the battle over Australia only lasted for 37 minutes. When the final alien fighter went down we had lost 28 Defenders with another 12 being damaged. We had lost all six of our mobile space guns as well as 16 stationary ones.

    When counting the light ground based guns the losses were in the thousands. But, the worst losses of all were the 3.4 million Australian civilians who had perished in the onslaught. The once powerful industrial corridor between Brisbane and Melbourne was now in shambles.

    With only 14 months remaining before the main fleet arrival we had our work cut out for us. The fleet consisted of 18 carriers, each with a compliment of 1024 fighters, 14 Destroyers, five Cruisers and three Battleships. And then of course the 40 kilometer wide mega-ship.

    Our squadron had survived to fight another day. But we had only encountered a force of 315 fighters versus the more than 18,000 fighters that were now headed Earth's way. New Defenders and ground defenses had to be built and new crews trained. It was a daunting task.

    The world powers called another emergency meeting to discuss possibilities and plans for the next 14 months. Every man, woman and even children down to the age of eight were enlisted and assigned work duties and production quotas.

    No one was immune from the toils of defending the planet. Many nations resorted to extreme punishment for those who were caught slacking off or not pulling their weight. One such nation offered a severe beating with a cat-a-nine-tails on the first offense with execution offered on the second. Only a handful of beatings had occurred.

    There were no outcries of injustice, no protests and no lawsuits. Everyone participated or was thrown to the wolves by the society they lived in. This was for the survival of all Mankind. Everyone had skin in the game.

    Within a month of the conclusion of the fighter onslaught, new recruits were lined up in the parking lot of the Adirondacks base as far as the eye could see. It was my job to train them, train them fast and train them well. The pilot training sessions lasted eight hours a day, seven days a week for 12 weeks running three shifts. The Adirondacks base would crank out over 1,000 crews by the time the main fleet arrived. The other two training locations would add another 1,500.

    After the initial four weeks of training, if crews were doing well, they earned a half day break. Crews were restricted to the base during the time off, but trainers had the option of "Going into town." On our first such occurrence Randy, Raven and I headed for the local bar. Our reclamation suits would hardly be considered high fashion during any era, on that night they drew extra attention. Four locals were already well into a particular way when we entered the establishment.

    We sat at a booth against the wall and quickly ordered our drinks. I had not had a real meal for months and with the nutrition fully provided for by the suits, I had no taste for the greasy fried bar food that was the normal fair.

    As we waited for our drinks, the four hucksters at the bar turned around on their stools to face us. At first it was just the occasional low comment followed by snickers. The minor harassment soon turned into loud laughs and slapping knees, with a rude gesture thrown in here or there.

    I had a short temper and Randy repeatedly told me to just ignore them and take it easy. But easy was not my style. When I had finally reached the point of no restraint I rose from the booth and stepped in front of the biggest fellow.

    I asked if he had a problem with me and would he like to step outside. He replied that he would never hit a lady, even a he-man lady like myself. I told him he and his friends looked like an overgrown monkey and three organ grinders. It drew an angry look. I next told him his Mama was an alien. It was the lowest of the low comments a person of the day could make.

    He cocked back his big drunk fist and took a swing. After four months straight in the reclamation suit, my muscles were toned and responded quickly. I was buff. I easily dodged his flying fist and countered with a punch to his solar plexus. As he quickly hunched over the next small fist came up under his chin rocking his head backwards.

    I then followed with the ole knee to the groin which dropped him quickly to the floor. The first organ grinder then made his attempt at bringing my unleashed fury to an end. His punch from the side missed and I countered with a light blow to his larynx.

    When the third fellow stepped in I ducked well below his throw and again went for the groin shot. With two of the men on the ground and a third gasping for air the fourth put his hands up in surrender. The bar brawl had lasted all of 13 seconds.

    I walked back to the table, downed my drink and left money for the tab and tip. I decided it best we leave before the local law enforcement arrived and carted us off to a cell while attempting to sort things out.

    It was frustrating given the circumstances that the same yahoos were still causing some of the same problems out in the real world. I tried to convince myself that everyone was working hard and with that many people were on edge. They were probably just blowing off steam from a 12 hour workday of their own.

    We returned to the base cantina and had another drink before settling in to our individual quarters. I took the final hour I had off and called on my Grandfather for a bit of comfort and support. All was well at the farm and the year had produced a good harvest.

    But, there were no profits. Only credits. All economies had quickly standardized on credits that could be banked for future use. We all knew that the yoke of government control had been fitted tightly around our necks and shoulders, but with the approaching doom there was little room to complain.

    I knew that one day in the future, if there was a future, that free men would rise up to throw off that yoke. But today was not that day, and the words of encouragement from my Grandfather only worked to solidify my resolve.

    Over the next two months I continued with the training of the four crews that were under my charge. As our training techniques had continued to be refined the crews moved rapidly from level to level in the simulations.

    Tactics were optimized, weapons and ship’s abilities enhanced and schedules pushed. Outside, the base factories were coming into full production. With the three main facilities and numerous smaller ones scattered about we expected to have almost 4,000 crews at the ready come zero hour.

    Each new Defender came with four reactors, eight BHD rings, ten sensors and 32 enhanced drillers. They flew faster and turned tighter, nearly matching the rapid turns of the alien fighters. The coil guns had received a boost in kinetic performance of almost 30%.

    As I oversaw the rewarding of Astro-pins to my first three crews upon their graduation, I was already preparing for the new arrivals. I was then suddenly told to report to the Training Commander’s office.

    When I arrived Shepard was already sitting in a chair in front of his desk. Commander Jake Hargrove had a new assignment for us. We would be heading immediately to a short briefing and then taken topside to the hangars for a mission. I asked about Randy and Raven and was told they would not be going along.

    Commander Hargrove escorted us to the briefing room and then offered a quick nod for good luck as he returned to his own important duties. When I turned my head back towards the others in the room, I was stunned to see our chief scientist David Brenner standing before me. He was the father of the technologies that had thus far saved us from complete destruction by the alien invaders.

    David Brenner made his was over to me and gave a quick hug. He then got on to the business of the upcoming mission. A new experimental Defender was being commissioned in the hangars as we spoke. It held 32 Sodium Fusion Reactors, 20 BHD rings and 24 sensors. It also came with a complement of 64 of the newest Drillers.

    With the additional gear on-board the two rear seats had been removed to make room. The new ship would only hold a pilot and a systems engineer. Our mission would be a run out to the main fleet for surveillance.

    I asked why we had been selected and got a reply. David Brenner had seen video footage of the bar brawl. I had been selected because I had maintained a cool demeanor and had acted decisively during and immediately after the event. He liked my spunk and determination.

    Shepard was a highly rated engineer and had been on my crew giving her combat experience. So, she was going along to keep things running. David then told us of another piece of gear we would be testing. It was a new reclamation suit.

    This suit had many enhancements including its appearance. It was a sleek silver with a bright blue stripe down one side. The American flag adorned one shoulder. It was also a tighter fit and easier to maneuver in. We were told that it offered shielding that would allow us to float endlessly in the stellar winds of deep space without harm.

    Aside from the built-in enhanced sensors it came with a waist-belt with three small storage compartments. One compartment was a filter, one a power pack and the third offered nutrients. A food pack and filter could sustain the average human for nearly a month before needing an exchange. The power pack would last three.

    On-board we would have two dozen spares for each as well as a machine that would recycle and reload any that had been used. If the new suit and its features functioned properly we could sustain ourselves on the ship for nearly five years. All in all, it was an incredible leap forward in our ability to travel the stars.

    With 32 reactors the trip to Epsilon Eridani would take just under 15 days. We would reach the fleet in two. Our mission would be a run to their home-world to gather what information we could and then back to the main fleet. We needed to know if there were more ships following the alien fleet and if so what would we next need to prepare for... if we were indeed left to prepare.

    Shepard and I were then taken into private rooms where the old suits were removed. We received thorough wash-downs. It felt strange and cold to not have the warm gel of the suit flowing about my skin. As I stood in the raw in front of a mirror I took a moment to look over the new buff body the suit had given me.

    Gone were the cellulite patches that had plagued me since being a teen. Gone were the blemishes and uneven tones caused by years of ultraviolet sun damage. I turned and marveled at my small waist and tight behind and then again as I flexed my now rock hard biceps and six-pack abs.

    The gel also worked to dissolve body hair leaving nothing but smooth and beautiful skin. Had the suits been available to the general public the makers would have become wildly rich. I then looked up at the pale and blotchy skin on my face. It looked old and hard compared to my body. I took it as just adding a bit of character to an otherwise near perfect human specimen.

    We were then moved into another room where suit handlers fitted the new suits to our bodies. When the gel once again began to flow it felt like a warm blanket being pulled over me on a cool night. I flexed my arms and jumped a few times to get a feel for its flexibility. The suit was light and hugged tightly to the frame. It offered no resistance for any bend or flex that I could put forth. Again I marveled in the mirror at its sharp appearance and natural form.

    My next stop was into another room where I was asked to sit in a chair. A tech stood over me with an electronic clipboard while punching in numbers and twisting virtual dials. He then leaned in and removed my audio implant and replaced it with another that had been QE enabled.

    I was told to tune it to channel 1650 for a test. The implant was attached to the nerves of the inner ear. Whatever I heard could be sent directly to our main communications hub instantly... from any distance. I had heard of the Quantum Entangled device and how it had played a role in earlier battles. This would be my first experience using one.

    I was next taken to another room where several doctors were waiting. I was laid down on a table and within seconds it was lights-out. I was awakened several hours later and took note of the tiny bandage that now adorned my right temple.

    I was told I now had an optical implant and whatever I saw with my right eye would be broadcast over the quantum channel along with the audio from my right ear. They were truly the devices of invasion of privacy, but where I was going, privacy would not be needed.

    We were then returned to our quarters. As I lay back on my anti-grav mattress another tech standing over me with a clipboard looked me in the eye and told me he would see me in six. The sleep drugs administered quickly and I was soon in la-la land. The six hours of rest would be over soon enough.
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    As the stimulants pulsed through my bloodstream I was fully awake in seconds. The new Bio-Gel Sustenance suit (it was officially named the BGS) was much more comfortable with thinner layering and a tighter fit. When I walked into the hallway towards the elevators the other workers stopped and stared. It had been months since I had that feeling of being an attractive woman. It felt good to be back.

    I met Shepard at the elevator and we made our way topside. Our new ship, even though it had the same inner frame, was named the Ghost series. With a slightly thicker skin and a more powerful magnetic field applied, it would disappear when activated without the customary rippling effect the Defender series had when looking through it.

    The sensors had also been redesigned and repositioned to offer a stealthy approach when the BHD drives were off and the sensors still active. In the Defenders the sensors had to be off to allow the active skin to shield us from detection. I was eager to give our Ghost a try.

    After a final short brief on our mission I joined Shepard in the cockpit for a systems check. Ten minutes passed before the pale blue of the sky turned quickly into the blackness of space. I pushed the throttle full and watched in awe as the ship rapidly accelerated away from Earth.

    In two hours we passed through the heliosphere on our way out to the alien fleet. With our new power-plants, the trip out to our enemy took only two days while reaching a speed of nearly 500 times light-speed. The thought of traveling 500 SOL made me smile.

    As we approached the distance of the alien fleet we took a wide berth while leaving the sensors on full to collect data. From the perspective we had we could see that the fleet was still intact. On an earlier mission a prior crew had attempted to launch a set of Drillers at the fleet with the hopes of doing damage. If any damage had been done from that attack it was not visible from our view.

    We continued to accelerate before reaching our maximum safe speed of 2412 SOL. At that speed striking a rock the size of a softball would instantly end our voyage. The ship had the ability to continue to accelerate but our sensors would not be able to steer clear of smaller obstacles with any degree of safety. I was quite happy with our two week voyage time.

    With our belt-line nutri-packs and filters we were no longer tethered to the chairs. In the cockpit of the Ghost it really didn't matter as there was no free room to get up and move around. It was just two weeks sitting in the same position.

    I tweaked my BGS to set it to the highest level of stimulation available. I planned on being muscle bound upon our return to Earth. I also felt it would not hurt to be as physically fit as possible in case there was some need to go extra-vehicular. The new BGS was fully capable of protecting us if a spacewalk was necessary.

    The suit utilized a new Sodium skin that would automatically activate to protect us from radiation sources such as the charged particles of the stellar winds. The activation level of the skin on the BGS was very low as it needed to consume little power if our power packs were to last any length of time.

    Shepard was a wiz with the on-board computer and after the first day she had a ghost operating system running with everything in simulation. She had four scenarios from our training session available to occupy our time. I spent hours upon hours learning the ins and outs of operating the weapons, defenses and systems.

    Spare moments were spent perusing the ship’s manuals and familiarizing myself with every square inch of that which surrounded me. Shepard used her time in a similar fashion. I was still amazed at how our technology allowed us to go for months without eating or using a restroom.

    It made me think about every science-fiction book and movie that I had ever read or seen and how no story that I could remember had ever made mention of a toilet on a ship. And, I was especially grateful for the diminished effects of my monthly womanly issues due to the nutri-packs and the BGS.

    As we decelerated towards Epsilon Eridani we got our first glimpse of the orange sun and the tiny speck of a world in its habitable zone. The planet was a pale blue like earth only slightly smaller. There were also two larger gas planets orbiting closer to the star and two large asteroid fields farther out.

    We dropped below light speed and turned off the BHD when we reached five light hours distance. The spectrograph from the sensors told of a planet much like our own, liquid water, oxygen, nitrogen and a solid core. As we closed in we could make out pink clouds in the atmosphere and temperatures that only differed by a few degrees from earth.

    The poles shown white with ice caps while the rest of the planet was covered with deep blue oceans. We had been gawking for several minutes at its beauty before the warble sound of channel 1650 rang in my ear. I enabled the QE channel and was immediately greeted by a voice from 10.5 light years away. Man had now truly ventured to another world.

    The wide channel of the QE communications allowed data from all sensors to stream home live as well as the rapid uploading of archived data from passing the fleet. The command center at home was strangely quiet as everyone let out nothing more than oohs and aahs.

    Commander Bennett came on and asked that we circle the planet once in search of more aliens and then make the return trip to the fleet. I first made a request that the planet be named Alvin after my Grandfather. The Commander took note and said he would pass that along.

    I enabled one BHD ring, punched a few numbers into the nav computer and then sat back in my chair while taking in the sights of a new alien world. Our ship would steer to a course that would place us in a single orbit around the planet before the BHD shut down.

    We would then circle in silence and a brief burst of the BHD would again break us free. Once at a safe distance I would again push the throttle to full for our journey back to the fleet. As we drifted I took note that Alvin was slightly smaller than Earth with a diameter of about 9,000 kilometers as compared to Earth’s 12,740.

    As we approached I observed the two small yellow-brown moons in orbit around Alvin. The computer showed them to be high in Fluorine and Sodium. I was at first deceived by what looked to be green continents on the surface of Alvin only to discover they were the reflections of the yellow-brown moons above, on the blue waters below.

    The twin moons were about 800 kilometers in diameter and were pockmarked with hundreds of large craters. I named them Beta and Gamma after the two long haired Dachshunds I had when a child, they also had a yellow-brown appearance.

    As I continued observation of Alvin and the parameters the computer displayed on my holo-screen, I noticed that there was one element that the Earth had that Alvin was lacking... Sodium. The planet the aliens had come from was almost devoid of Sodium.

    The team at home quickly came to a conclusion as to why the aliens were so interested in our planet, Alvin was missing a crucial element. As we circled closer to the planet's atmosphere our sensors picked up two surface structures. They were approximately 20 kilometers in diameter and were each circled by a thin structural ring about 100 kilometers out from the center.

    The dark gray surface of the structures was much like that of the alien fighters. At that moment I couldn't help but stop the ship with a short burst from the BHD. I got no argument from Command as they too were deeply interested in our discoveries.

    Were these alien bases? With no land in sight were the alien’s water creatures? Was their only purpose of visiting our planet to rape it of its Sodium as they had apparently done to their own? Were they desperate as a civilization because their fuel source was running out and their planet potentially ruined?

    The questions came quickly and David Brenner and the other scientists at home pored over the data in search of answers. The two structures were radiating a low level signal similar to the signals the aliens had used for communications, signals that we were still unable to decipher.

    I did a deep scan of the surrounding waters and noticed the salinity inside the ringed areas contained levels of Sodium about half that of Earth. The remaining oceans were fresh water. Was this the last of their Sodium? Was it the reason they seemed so desperate? And, what of their civilization? Where were their people?

    Again the questions came fast and furious. With another micro-burst from a BHD I turned the ship on its tail and started us slowly into the atmosphere. Shepard was getting nervous and asked what I was planning. I told her we were going right down to the surface unless Command gave orders to stop. The orders never came.

    We reached a kilometer above the surface and the northernmost structure. Our sensors picked up a large number of animals within the alien barriers. They appeared to be squid-like creatures. We then moved out about 200 kilometers north of the northernmost underwater structure. I checked the atmosphere and the holo-screen told me it was stable and breathable with an oxygen level of 23%.

    The CO2 was almost double that on Earth, but was still at a level that was safe. Alvin would likely be a habitable planet. I did a quick check of surface temperatures finding 31 degrees Celsius on the side facing the sun and 27 degrees Celsius in the darkness. I wondered what it might be like to go for a daytime swim in Alvin's warm waters.

    I next launched a Driller with direction to go deep into the ocean waters. Everyone at home watched intently as the Driller slowly descended into the deep blue. As the Driller reached the surface we got our first close look at alien life forms. They were similar to our jellyfish and floated gently in schools near the surface.

    I paused the Driller and manipulated the sensor to scan in a full circle. The translucent jellyfish schools continued outwards in every direction and their numbers were in the millions if not billions in our immediate area. At 100 meters down we got our first glimpse of vertebrate life. It was an immense lumbering manta ray like creature, with a 50 meter wingspan. The manta had no interest in our Driller as it moved slowly along sucking in jellyfish.

    I continued on to 400 meters depth where the waters began to darken. I was startled when a large shadow quickly brushed by the Driller. Suddenly, up from the depths, came another. For only an instant I got a look at its wide mouth and dark teeth as it attempted to attack the Driller. Before the alien creature had a chance to turn it into a meal the BHD of the Driller cut it in half.

    Any number of the dark creatures quickly filled the waters around the Driller and attacked their fallen mate. Then another attacked the Driller followed by another and each attacker met with the same fate. The water was soon thick with chum making any further reconnaissance useless.

    An alert then popped up on my holo-screen. Some type of craft had launched from the structure and was on a heading that would take it near our Ghost. Apprehension grew as the craft approached. Had we been detected? Did the active skin not conceal us as well as we thought?  I held the throttle ready as the short and wide craft lumbered past, heading towards the northern pole of Alvin.

    With the threat reduced I pulled the Driller back up to 200 meters and sent it in the direction of the nearest structure. The jellyfish-like creatures came in and out of view as the Driller moved silently along. None seemed to have any significant intelligence. Then, at 30 kilometers from the structure we were confronted by what we considered to be our first sentient alien being.

    It was one of the squid-like creatures that we had observed swimming within the confines of the structure. It was bright green in color with small dark spots. The one item that had everyone stunned was the glass bubble like helmet that covered all but its six tentacle legs. The creature stopped and stared at the bubbling black holes of the Driller for several seconds before turning and jetting the water with a black ink as it swam away.

    On my holo-screen I pushed the throttle of the Driller forward and matched the creatures speed at nearly 30 knots. When the Driller reached a half kilometer distance from the structure I stopped it dead in the water and turned the BHD off and the active skin on full.

    The Driller was invisible to detection as we looked on at the structure before us. We drifted forward with the ocean currents and soon found ourselves within ten meters of the gigantic alien structure. It was a smooth dark gray metal going up to the surface with a vertical box like column every hundred meters.

    I panned downward with the sensor and took note of a light coming up from below. I again turned on the BHD and gave it a quick burst sending the Driller down towards the light. For only a moment we got a glimpse of writings on the walls just above the lighted area.

    It was our first such find and the chatter at command over the QE comm was that it might help our scientists to finally break their language codes. Two of the alien beings riding on what looked to be an underwater craft of sorts then approached the Driller.

    In seconds the water in front of the Driller's sensor filled with bubbles and an intense temperature spike was soon followed by our lone sensor going dark. The Driller had been destroyed.

    With the new threat of an alien attack I pushed hard on the throttle taking us quickly back to the open safety of space. We detected multiple craft leaving the giant structures that headed out in all directions. I again set a course for a slow orbit around the planet to continue with my original orders.

    Our scientists now had mountains of data to peruse and analyze. Videos of our encounter with the aliens would be played time and time again in an attempt to glean every bit of information available from them. As we rounded the planet the sensors picked up another alien ship... this time in orbit on the far side of Gamma. Alarms quickly sounded as two alien fighters departed the ship and headed in our direction.

    The BHD was turned off and the active skin fully enabled which should have given us invisibility to the fighters. I again held my hand close to the throttle as the fighters approached while Shepard readied four Drillers for launch. I let out a sigh of relief when the fighters turned and headed towards the area where we had done our surveillance.

    The immense alien ship was saucer like in shape just as the mega-ship approaching Earth with the main alien fleet. Two more fighters soon emerged from an opening in the side and went into slow patrol around the ship.

    Shepard logged that the alien craft had its gravity wave active and had it aimed in a wide pattern at the small moon. She ran a few calculations and came back with a startling discovery. The aliens were pushing the moon towards Alvin. I marveled at the fact that a single ship was able to move such a large mass.

    I fired off a micro-burst of the BHDs to bring us to a full stop. We watched and gathered information for nearly ten Earth hours before Command came back with a theory. If the big ship continued its push the small moon would be in a decaying orbit within a month.

    The decaying orbit would cause the moon to accelerate slightly which would in turn eventually send it hurdling into its twin. I could not fathom the reason for putting your entire planet at risk of destruction. Shepard continued to run her own numbers and soon came back with a new theory.

    Since the planet had been depleted of its Sodium it was possible that by allowing the moons to collide and shower the planet with their debris that the Sodium in the oceans could be replenished. But it was a process that could take hundreds if not thousands of years. Again, it seemed like a risky maneuver. Why not just mine the Sodium from the moon directly? Why risk your existence on such a perilous scheme?

    Command then gave the word to return to our previous mission. We had an alien fleet to worry about first and we needed whatever data could be gathered from it before its arrival. The remainder of our trip around Alvin was uneventful and the data much the same as what we had already gathered. I again gave the BHD a quick burst sending us towards the nearest gas giant that orbited close to the orange fire of Epsilon Eridani. With a few minor micro-burst adjustments we would use the gravity of the gas giant to silently slingshot us back towards the alien fleet.

    We drifted for nearly half a day before reaching the far side of the second planet and pushing the throttle to full. Six minutes later we passed light speed and once again accelerated towards the enemy fleet. Our reconnaissance mission to the alien home world had given us far more information than we could have hoped for.

    The data also told us that the main alien fleet that approached Earth was our only concern. Even if the aliens had more ships at the ready it would take them 13 years to launch another attack as their speed was limited to below SOL. Our technologies and abilities continued to grow and the knowledge of no further threat would only serve to embolden our resolve.

    With the QE comm, Command had all the information we had acquired and our scientists and engineers were no doubt busily analyzing it. I wondered what the squid creatures were like. Did they laugh? Have families? Were they expansionists? Were they only trying to survive? It was obvious that they were aquatic animals and I found it interesting that they wore a type of helmet when in the oceans of Alvin.

    Were they saltwater creatures? Was the lack of Sodium somehow detrimental to their health? And could our scientists crack the language barrier that prevented us from understanding their motives for attacking Earth? We knew they were interested in our Sodium and we knew they used it for power. But, why not negotiate with us? We had plenty.

    At full throttle our journey back to the alien fleet would take 12 days. Again I spent the time practicing in simulations against hordes of enemy fighters. During the flight out I found that I was beginning to anticipate the simulated alien moves and had advanced to a 3-1 kill ratio. Shepard continued to tweak the program and I continued to hone my skills.

    As we reached our cruising speed of 2412 SOL the view of the stars behind our ship was again complete blackness. It was as if a giant void had opened up shielding a third of the universe from our sensors.

    All I could hear inside our ship was the faint hum from our 32 reactors which were constantly being drowned out by the play-list of music I had stored in my audio implant. My selection was typically of the Binge genre which was a throwback to the generational music of the 2030s. Hard tones followed by soft sequences that slowly built up to more hard tones.

    As I practiced my weapons and maneuvering skills I soon found that during certain songs my kill ratio increased to 5-1. I quickly compiled a short-list of songs for use during combat. If it worked in the simulation I was willing to take the chance that it would work during a real fight.

    I practiced my turns and flips until the moves were all second nature. I had also found a firing pattern for the coil guns that was effective against multiple craft at once. As I flipped hard and fired off three rounds in a simulation my screen was suddenly overwritten with odd shaped characters. Shepard then asked a question.

    She wanted to know what I thought I was seeing. It took a few moments to recognize the characters as being the same ones we had seen on the side of the alien structure. Shepard then asked if I understood them to which I gave her an irritated glance. My holo-screen soon showed another two lines of characters... but this time they were in English.

    Again Shepard asked if I understood what it said. As I read through the text with a scowl on my face I came to the sudden realization that she had done it! She had cracked the alien's language. I quickly asked how and she revealed that she had a linguistics algorithm that had been running in the background on the ship's computers, continuously analyzing the alien’s communications.

    The artificial intelligence module of the computer system had taken the symbols from the alien structure and run them through the linguistics algorithm. It was nothing that Shepard had done herself. But the result was one of immense importance.

    If we could decode their communications we could use it against them in battle or perhaps even find a method to disrupt their comm altogether. It was a huge discovery, but as we sped along at 2412 SOL we had no immediate way of sending the message home. We would have to wait until we dropped below light speed which would take another three days, and then only if we flipped and slowed immediately.

    I began to run the numbers for a flip when a warning light flashed on both of our holo-screens. Collision with an object just above our safety parameters was imminent. I looked directly at Shepard as the collision counter ticked down from ten seconds. At zero the impact was not much more than a shudder. But the affect was a critical strike to our BHD rings knocking out all but one.

    I did an immediate flip and punched in the numbers for how long it would take to slow to a dead stop. I was disheartened when the time counter came back with just over 182 days. From our current speed we would come to a stop more than 12 light years on the other side of Earth. I viewed it as an unacceptable outcome.

    I punched up our on-board supplies and found that we had four extra rings. I again ran the numbers with only five BHD rings and found that it would still take 36 days to stop, placing us just over two light years beyond our own planet. Shepard then suggested that we scavenge some of our side rings. It would inhibit our ability to turn but at this time turning was not our problem.

    We were soon busily running scenarios and simulations of doing a ring exchange at 2412 SOL. The tiniest spec of space dust could obliterate the ship if it was struck at that speed with no active skin. Our best simulation yielded an exchange time of 22 minutes. During that short time-span we would travel almost 400 million kilometers.

    I asked Shepard for her thoughts and she concurred that without a full exchange we risked missing any attempt at fighting the main fleet before it reached our space. We were unaware of any such plans, but those things always had a way of not coming to the forefront until zero hour approached.

    As I reached for my helmet Shepard put her hand on my arm. She was the engineer and it was her duty to bring the ship back to within its proper operating parameters. She was the one responsible and she would not be releasing that duty to me.

    I looked her in the eye and then took a firm grasp of her hand. After a nod of my head and a slap on her shoulder I turned towards the supply boxes as she slipped her helmet over her hair and spun it slightly to the left until it latched. I followed immediately after with the same maneuver.

    Shepard took several minutes checking and rechecking the information on her holo-screen before proceeding to the control panel by the rear door. No one before had turned off the active skin while traveling faster than light and simulations above light speed had generally yielded gibberish for results as the standard laws of physics seemed to no longer apply.

    As Shepard looked hesitantly at the holo-button I wondered if we would not be instantly vaporized. She then looked back at me through the glass bubble of her helmet and gave me a wink. The button was pressed and the active skin turned from pitch black into the familiar silvery white of a parked ship.

    Other than the expected visual alarms going off on our holo-screens and the now vivid silvery white interior of our Ghost, there was no indication that anything had changed. We each quickly attached our tethers. Shepard then pushed the button and the rear door slowly opened.

    I handed Shepard the ring tool and sent her on her way. We were traveling at 2412 times the speed of light with only a thin layer of protection from our BGSs. I watched intently on the console holo-screen as Shepard loosed the first ring. Suddenly, the holo-screen started flashing a bright red warning. We had entered into some type of a plasma cloud.

    Seconds later everything began to be covered with a faint green glow. The green glow continued to grow in brightness as Shepard worked. At the same time I became brutally aware of the lack of our simulated gravitational forces inside the ship.

    The green glow turned into an aura that moved back and forth between green and orange as you moved in one direction or the other. We had no shielding except for that which our BGS supplied. The outermost layer was a low powered Sodium active skin. I held up my arm and watched as the green glow of the plasma danced across it in tight swirls.

    The plasma also had an effect on the stimulus operation of the BGS. The small micro-pulses that kept our muscles toned and bones thick were now seemingly in overdrive. I felt as though I was flexing every muscle in my body at once.

    The weightless feeling along with the stimulation from the BGS and the green and orange aura gave the sense of having a hallucination. The plasma seemed to flow slowly over my suit and then wisp away into nothingness.

    As I waved my arms back and forth in wonder I suddenly became aware of the fact that the active skin of the BGS was going into overdrive. My arms were fading in and out of sight right before my eyes. The plasma was supercharging the active skin.

    I had sudden thoughts about what it would be like to have an active suit that matched the capabilities of the active skin of the ship. It would be like a personal cloaking device. My mind began to wonder with all the abilities that an invisible BGS suit would provide.

    I could charge headlong into one of the alien ships and wreak havoc on their crew. Blasting away with a coil gun while throwing punches from an unseen location. I could bash alien skulls and run amok without threat of discovery or harm. I could own their ship and they would fear me.

    I was then brought back to the reality of the moment when I reached my hand out towards the toolbox only to have it pass through it like it was not there. I began to wonder if I would slip off the tether and through the walls of the ship and out into space. I began to fear for Shepard and what might become of her being already outside of the ship.

    The green glow then suddenly left just as quickly as it had come. The red alerts on the holo-screen returned to the door open and active skin off warnings. I marveled at the black void of space behind us slowly moving out to the red and then orange stars as it had a dream-like appearance. I was soon brought back to reality by a scream from Shepard.

    I called out several times but got no response. I quickly scanned her health status and all parameters were in order. Shepard then came back with a reply of frustration. The ring tool had slipped in her gloved hand from the plasma activating her suit and was now floating away from the ship. I momentarily pondered what damage a ring tool might do to a stationary object if struck while traveling at 2412 SOL.

    I turned back to the tool chest in search of another ring tool. The box contained none. I then checked the ships manifest and after several searches located one in another supply case. When Shepard returned I handed over our last ring tool with an apprehensive look. She remarked that it would not happen again.

    Shepard continued on her faster-than-light spacewalk and when the last ring went into place 24 minutes had passed. I was dizzy from the combinations of stress and the visual and physical stimuli from the plasma glow. When the door closed and the active skin of the Ghost came back to life I let out a sigh of relief.

    The immediate pitch black of the ship’s interior and the feeling of gravity brought my senses crashing back to reality. Shepard returned to her console and ran test after retest on our new hardware. She then ran a complete physical report on the conditions of our bodies and turned to me with a puzzled look.

    She pointed out structural changes to our DNA. The strands of fiber that defined who we were and what we looked like had tightened and had grown slightly in length. She feverishly worked at running calculations and simulations of what affects the longer tighter DNA might have on our bodies. Every simulation yielded the same result. Our spacewalk in a plasma field at 2412 SOL had probably turned back our biological clocks, adding years to our life spans.

    I flipped the ship back to the forward position and then set the throttle so that we continued on at 2412 SOL. I sat back in my chair and began to ponder what I would do with the extra years that I would possibly have at my disposal.

    I wondered if another 20 minutes of spacewalk through the plasma would again increase that span. Shepard ran repeated tests on the sensor reading from the plasma cloud and could not come up with a solid explanation of its makeup or possible origins. It was unlike anything she had ever seen.

    As we continued on our trek, several days had passed since the plasma spacewalk. Shepard spent her time analyzing the alien language translations, trying repeatedly to fill in holes and better define meanings. As my mind wandered on about my new found health I suddenly became aware of a tiny spider that had somehow managed to stow away aboard our craft.

    I wiped my eyes several times before coming to the realization that my eyesight had somehow gotten much better. I should not have been able to see the spider at all as it was tiny in size and blended in with the black surroundings of the active skin.

    I activated the play-list in my audio implant and was startled at how high the volume was. Then out of curiosity I turned on the holo-screen camera to have a look at my face. I took immediate note of the appearance of a small scar almost missing from my chin where I had crashed my bicycle into my father's car as a child.

    Shrinking too were the freckles that normally adorned my nose. Whatever it was that had happened to us during the spacewalk was having an immediate impact on our bodies. I quickly brought the strange health anomalies to Shepard's attention.

    When she looked up at me from her screen her eyes went wide. As we discussed what was happening she again ran a full health report. Our DNA continued to slowly lengthen.

    I then asked if our computer profiles held the standard IQ test that we had taken when first joining the corps. She said it did. I took the 15 minutes to once again run through it and was again startled by its conclusion.

    I had been repeatedly tested and had consistently scored in the 131 to 134 range. I was above average when it came to intelligence, but it was nothing to boast of. The new score totaled at 144. I was one point shy of being considered a genius.

    Shepard took the same test and came in at 151, again, 12 points higher than her previous best. The faster-than-light spacewalk had added nearly a dozen IQ points to our intelligence scores and potentially dozens of years to our lives. Shepard then ran vision tests and compared them with the health database.

    In the short time since the spacewalk I had gone from a corrected 20/20 to a clean 20/12. What others could clearly see at twelve feet I could now see at 20. Shepard explained that it was an excellent ratio for the human eye. Birds of prey were the only animals we knew of that had significantly better. An eagle would typically have 20/4 or 20/5.

    We next did a hearing test that yielded similar results. It seemed all of our senses were heightened and abilities increased. After exhaustive testing of our new found health we got back to the business at hand... preparing for the alien fleet. Shepard continued with her language translations while I returned to my simulated battles. Within hours my kill ratio had increased by 30%.
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    Nine days later our speed had slowed to 0.99 SOL and our QE comm link once again became active. The teams back home had come up with the same discovery as Shepard regarding the alien's language. Shepard quickly forwarded her achievements to be combined with that of Command's.

    Shepard next transmitted our health stats and the sensor data from our spacewalk. The medical corps officers were in a state of disbelief. She then chimed in with a warning. Before they could begin trials on attempting to make something of this, they had to reproduce the conditions we had gone through, and before testing on humans they needed to see if we survived it first. We didn't know if we were truly blessed or would we be dead in a month.

    In our final day of travel we came to within 200 million kilometers of the alien fleet. After matching their speed I punched in the numbers and waypoints that would take us to within 2,000 kilometers of the largest mega-ship.

    We would burst to increase our speed and then move past in stealth mode. The maneuver would take 16 hours and it would yield our best data on the fleet to date. We were down to ten months before zero hour. Everything was on the line.

    At 100,000 kilometers we began to get our best visuals. The carriers began to take on their long rectangular shape and the 40 km mega-ship was now showing color. A thin green glow bordered the rim of its disk shape.

    At 20,000 kilometers rows of fighters were clearly discernible.  The green glow of the rim of the mega-ship continued to brighten. The remaining saucer shaped ships were a dull dark gray.

    When we reached 4,000 kilometers the individual fighters could be counted. The computer quickly posted 8643 which we doubled to account for those on the opposite sides. Upon further inspection we could make out the slightest details of damage to one of the carriers. Some of the Drillers from an earlier mission had evidently found their mark.

    Command then came in with new orders. Perform another micro-burst and keep our ship at the 2,000 kilometer range. We were to be the eyes and ears for Earth for the next ten months. Our trip out to Epsilon Eridani had taken only a month’s time. With the extended mission I suddenly felt a bit claustrophobic in our tiny ship.

    We had food, we even had enough Sodium to easily sustain us at the current speed, but I wondered what we would do to occupy our minds. A ten month stakeout was not my idea of an adventure. But orders were orders and we were at war. Whatever sacrifice we had to make was trivial compared to the sacrifices that were coming.

    My handler back at the base then came over the QE comm. He would be doing what he could to provide me with entertainment, instruction or with whatever digital offerings I sought. Movies, music and calls home would all be made available over the quantum link.

    With calls home, any discussions related to our position or our mission were off limits and punishable by life imprisonment. We had no way of knowing if the aliens had cracked our own communications, but we knew for certain that if they had... they already understood English and would be on top of our plans.

    For nine weeks we cruised along sending back data on our foes. Every 27 Earth minutes a set of fighters would depart from one of the carriers for a patrol around the fleet. Their patterns were repeated and predictable.

    In the days of waiting and watching Shepard had continued to monitor our health status. The numbers had peaked and were now holding steady. I wondered if this was this our new norm. My IQ now tested at 146 and my vision at 20/8. The vision was the best a human could possibly have. A BGS readout also showed bone density growth of 26%. Even the food and filter packs were depleting at a slower rate than specified.

    The freckles on my nose and the childhood chin scar were almost completely gone and my skin had a healthy glow that I had not seen since I was in my early teens. My hearing continued to improve as did my reactions to the flight simulations. My simulation kill ratio was now a solid 8-1 with my reaction times increasing two-fold.

    I guessed that we were somewhere near the best a human could possibly be with all of our senses. With the improved health came improved confidence. With improved confidence came an increased willingness to fight. But sitting so close to the enemy without being able to pull the trigger was frustrating.

    On day 248 to zero a new order came in on the QE comm. Command was sending a team of four Ghost ships out in an attempt to do battle with the fleet before they reached Earth. They were to approach at just above SOL and punch through the first four carriers while firing their coil guns.

    The technique had worked to destroy a previous carrier and Command wanted to know if the aliens would be able to counter it. If the tactic worked and if it was then repeatable it could be a short battle with the result of the alien fleet being defeated before reaching Earth.

    Command had locked in our speed and trajectory and the Ghost ships were fed the information before leaving Earth. Shepard and I watched patiently as the countdown timers on our holo-screens approached zero.

    I had asked repeatedly to become a part of the assault only to be told that we were the eyes and ears because of my QE implant. Only two other such devices had been created and they could not take the chance of losing one of what was considered one of our most valuable advantages... instantaneous communications.

    When the countdown timer reached 32 seconds two of the large carriers made an unexpected move. They lifted and moved off to the side of the fleet. The space surrounding the carriers was quickly flooded with fighters taking up long formations.

    Our Ghost team was traveling above SOL giving us no way to contact them. As the timer reached zero two of the carriers first imploded in the front and seemingly rolled up until the rear of the ships exploded backwards in brilliant flashes. More than 2,000 fighters were instantly vaporized.

    As the remaining ships began to scatter and fighters flooded the space around them a new timer popped up on our screens. We had six minutes before the next pass. Every fighter was launched and spread out in an ever widening perimeter.

    The large saucer shaped ships and the remaining carriers then began moving in random directions while staying within the expanding fighter perimeter. Again there was silence as the timer ticked down to zero.

    This time another carrier imploded in front and again rolled up until exploding out the rear. The other Ghosts had evidently missed in their attempts. The attack counter once again reset to six minutes. As we watched patiently the fighter perimeter grew until we were on the edge of their fighting force.

    When the timer reached zero another carrier followed the same pattern as the earlier ones as it was torn apart from an unseen force. This time, one of the smaller saucer shaped ships, one that we termed a destroyer, suddenly imploded on one edge tearing a gigantic hole in its hull and pulling away almost a quarter of the ship.

    The damaged Destroyer quickly left the fleet as it began to drop well below the speed of the others. The remaining 15,000 odd fighters were seemingly in a frenzy moving randomly in every direction. The attack timer once again reset to six minutes.

    I could hear the chatter starting to pick up at Command as the excitement of destroying the fleet a ship at a time grew. I turned to Shepard and she too was sporting a wide grin. Could this be it? Would Earth and its billions of inhabitants be saved? Would man now be ready to move out and explore the universe? My adrenaline was peaking just as the next counter reached zero.

    Nothing happened. No explosions. No indications of an attack other than the mega-ship firing off its gravity weapon in two seemingly random bursts. The timer once again reset to six minutes and continued its countdown.

    At the next zero the mega-ship again fired its gravity weapon twice and again there was no further indication of destruction. Twice more we watched as the timer hit zero and reset and twice more there was no indication of attack.

    Ghost 446 then came on the comm after dropping below SOL. The alien mega-ship had nearly pinpointed their incoming trajectory and had fired upon them as they approached their targets. Its gravity weapon was far more powerful than what we had encountered previously, giving it the ability to reach out 20,000 kilometers or more.

    Command quickly reasoned that the outlying fighter swarm had been used to detect the faster-than-light ships before they struck allowing the mega-ship to best our attack strategy. Ghost 446 was now limping home on one ring and damaged sensors.

    Shepard then gave me more bad news. We were essentially trapped in our current position only 2,000 kilometers from the mega-ship. With the range of its gravity weapon being deadly at 20,000 kilometers or more we could not chance even a micro-burst without risking death.

    We had managed to destroy four carriers and damage a destroyer. Fighter numbers had been reduced by more than 2,000. We had lost three crews and their vessels but everyone considered the skirmish a huge victory for man. The crews would be mourned just as the soldiers who had died in battle before them. Freedom came with a price.

    For the next week we moved silently along with the fleet gathering intel. The alien ships and their utility robots were busily at work repairing their damaged ships. In the short time since the battle the destroyer had managed to effect repairs enough that it once again moved at speed with the fleet.

    I sat practicing my simulation scenarios when alerts began to pop up on my holo-screen. The fleet had altered course slightly and the mega-ship was now moving slowly in our direction. We were still well within the range of its gravity weapon and as such we had no choice but to sit quietly as the mega-ship came closer.

    At 200 kilometers the mega-ship filled our holo-screens. The exterior was smooth and very much unlike the other ships in the fleet. The carriers were long dark and rectangular and were covered down each side with external hangar bays. The smaller saucer ships were also of a dark gray exterior and were covered with box like structures and piping.

    The smooth exterior of the mega-ship was gold in color and the green glow of the rim made it look out of place among the other alien craft. As we drew closer we could see that the green glow was coming from inside the ship. The rim of the mega-ship was transparent.

    At five kilometers our sensors were able to see movement inside the transparent windows. Small dark spots were occasionally moving across the interior. Shepard remarked that they had the appearance of transports or trains of some sort. The Tacticians and Battle Planners at home were no doubt working feverishly to categorize and possibly exploit every new bit of information we gathered.

    The great ship continued to approach and the distance closed to 100 meters, then 50 meters, then ten. I braced for an impact that did not come. Our systems momentarily shut down our sensors and covered them completely with the active skin. We then passed through the hard transparent outer shell of the alien craft.

    When the sensors came back online we were inside the alien mega-ship floating in water our sensors determined was a saline solution, we were floating in brightly lit green seawater. The active skin worked well within the water absorbing it as we came in contact and expelling it on the other side. We moved through the solution as if never being there.

    Our holo-screens then began to fill with moving targets which all registered as unknown. The waters of the outer shell were close to a kilometer in depth heading towards the interior of the ship. An alert went off warning of a collision. The camera view showed a long train of box-like structures being pulled by a type of submarine locomotive.

    I again instinctively braced for an impact. A bead of sweat formed on my forehead and rolled down into my left eye as my stress levels rose. An impact never came. The train was absorbed and expelled by the active skin just like any other form of matter. As the 150 or so cars passed through us we could see into the interiors of each car.

    Some were packed with small boxes and some large. Some were transporting mechanical devices. When the next 30 cars of the train passed through we could see the same squid-like creatures we had seen on Alvin riding on-board.

    When the final car passed the train continued on its way as if nothing had happened. Our scientists were still baffled by the active skin and by how it actually worked. It was almost as though we were moved into another dimension while still having visual access to our own.

    Even with my increased IQ it was tough to comprehend what was happening. It was just something that we had to accept. Shepard had reasoned previously that we should look at it no differently than gravity itself. It was beyond our comprehension, but it was there and we should make every effort to make use of it. So, we did.

    As we continued to move through the ships on-board ocean we soon began to close on the first of the interior walls. Squids were moving about on small powered craft. Some pulled small trailers while others only carried more squids.

    Shepard aimed a mic at one of the transport craft and had the computer translate their conversation as the camera panned along with them. The conversation was broken because of our limited understanding of their language, but it was clear that they were discussing some maintenance activity going on within the ship.

    Shepard then switched to another transport that was heading towards us. The squids were discussing a meal. The transport moved close to the interior wall where a door opened and the transport proceeded inside. Numerous other sub trains and small transports passed around and through us as we continued our drift towards the interior wall.

    I again had the urge to brace myself as we began to move through the wall. The exterior sensors once again shutdown as each of them passed through the thick material of the wall itself.  Once inside it was a bit disappointing as the interior rooms were nothing but storage.

    As we passed through the final wall we again emerged into another interior ocean. Again the far wall of the ocean was nearly a kilometer away. There were no large sub trains within this ocean, it was instead crowded with the small transports. There were also many individual squids swimming about.

    Midway into the ocean there was a floating structure made of the transparent material that lined the outside of the ship. The structure was covered with small transparent tubes and had numerous squids swimming up to it and then away.

    The squids would attach their mouth to a tube for several seconds and then release before moving to another tube. Several seconds later they would detach and continue on their way. Shepard did a quick zoom with a camera and identified the first tube to have some type of shrimp floating through it when a squid attached. They were having lunch.

    When the squid connected to the next tube it was evident that materials were moving from the squid back into the structure. The structure was nothing more than a floating lunch-wagon with restrooms.

    With the QE comm the information we were gathering was being seen instantly by Command back at home. Much of it would not be useful during battle, but the more we knew and understood our enemy the better chance we had of not only defeating them, but of making contact and being able to reason with them.

    Perhaps the entire war could be prevented or a truce negotiated. We would be willing to share our resources in exchange for peace and perhaps new technologies. And if the reason for the alien attacks were for their survival we would probably be willing to lend a hand. If anything, humans as a whole were a benevolent minded species... even after the devastating attacks we had suffered.

    When we passed through the next wall the storage areas were filled with what appeared to be the same mini assault subs that had destroyed our Driller on Alvin. The computer counted thousands upon thousands of them. I got a sudden chill as I thought about an invasion of our oceans and what that would mean to our shipping.

    The majority of our goods were still transported around the globe on mega-container ships. Even though plane flights had become inexpensive with the advent of Sodium fusion, large scale shipping on the oceans continued to have an economic advantage. If the squids controlled the oceans they could shut down and disrupt large parts of our economies.

    I then had a sudden urge to start blasting the great ship from the inside out. What damage could we do by loosing all of our Drillers at once, as well as damage from our BHD and coil guns? We were on the inside where their powerful gravity weapon would likely do no harm.

    I floated the idea to Command and was told to sit tight. All options were being considered. I gave Shepard the go-ahead to ready the Drillers in case new orders came down. She was already a step ahead of me.

    As we passed through the next wall we came into an ocean area that was only 500 meters in depth. It was teaming with what were likely thousands of tiny squid. We were floating through the alien's nursery. I looked on in wonder at the tiny green six tentacled offspring of our enemy.

    I began to wonder if the aliens had any traits that we would normally consider human. Were they greedy, arrogant or spiteful at times? Did they have compassion for their fellow squids? Were there family units? I was left wondering if what we termed human nature was instead more likely universal concepts of most sentient beings.

    Shepard then called my attention to our aft video sensor. It was teaming with the small creatures. As we continued to move the same phenomenon happened to each of the sensors until we had no view of our surroundings. Were the tiny creatures somehow able to see our sensors? Command was abuzz with chatter and authorization came back quickly for us to do a micro-burst out of there if I felt it necessary.

    I began a brief discussion with Shepard on her thoughts when the mega-ship once again dramatically changed course. This time it dropped its speed to one half SOL. In an instant we were outside of the mega-ship and moving away at millions of kilometers per hour. Within seconds we were beyond the mega-ship's kill zone. I wondered if we would later regret not having taken action when we had the chance.

    The new speed pushed back the fleet’s estimated arrival time by two months. The Tacticians had come to the conclusion that the aliens needed to slow to effect repairs on their damaged destroyer. I had a different theory. We had been detected and they had slowed in an attempt to figure out just what we were.

    Shepard had been going over the ships specifications and came back with what she thought might be the answer. The electronics of our sensors put out a 25kHz hum, but the amplitude was not considered detectable. At 12 feet away even our most sensitive microphones were unable to detect its presence.

    Our engineers had not taken into account the effects of being in water where that 25kHz tone could easily be transmitted over a much longer distance. The infant squids had evidently picked up on it. It probably was only a matter of time before other sensors on-board the mega-ship would have been able to detect us.

    Command considered it a minor victory that the aliens had slowed as two months would allow more pilots to be trained and more coil guns to be added to our defense. The new estimates would place 4,100 Defenders and 16 Ghosts in service by the time the fleet arrived.

    For a month we floated along observing the aliens from a distance. The time seemed endless and monotonous. I began to doubt our chances. How ready was Earth for this invasion? Did the people know of the size of the fleet? Or of its power?

    As we cruised along awaiting new direction, I was given the chance for a call home to speak with my family. My Grandfather answered and was in good spirits. But his voice sounded notably weaker and I could tell that age was taking its inevitable toll. I wished that I could somehow take him for a ride at 2412 SOL where the green glow could heal his aging body. It was a wish that I knew I would probably never be granted.

    We had a good talk and again my spirits were raised and self-confidence renewed. He somehow always knew the right things to say. I next talked to my mother where I was asked where I had been and why had I not called sooner. I gave her the standard answer that I was not at liberty to say. She let out a "humph" sound but I knew it was only the sound of a mother concerned for her child.

    I considered myself a tough chick. I had a thick skin and a sometimes foul mouth. I would fight at the drop of a hat or step in to defend a friend. But emotions could sometimes get to even the toughest of us. I felt a bit ashamed of the relief that came when the call ended. I had been only moments from breaking down. The months on end in space were pushing my sanity. I was beginning to brood when the sleep aids of my BGS hit my bloodstream and I quickly dozed off.

    The zero-hour counter was down to 98 days. Earth's defenses continued to build. My irritation with not being able to fight continued to grow. Sitting on station, cruising at only half SOL, was like a plague on my soul. I wanted action. I wanted combat. But my orders were to sit tight and watch.

    On day 94 I got news of another attempt at a raid. Four more Ghost ships were on their way and would be impacting the fleet within the hour. They would be traveling at more than ten SOL. It was the fastest safe speed they could employ while passing through the alien vessel with the active skin.

    I again watched patiently as the combat counter trickled down to zero, the target was the mega-ship. As the counter ticked away I could almost feel the sweat beading on my forehead due to the anxiety of waiting. At zero we got evidence of the attack.

    One of the destroyers again took a hit. It was obliterated, leaving nothing but a cloud of debris. The other three Ghosts had missed all targets. Immediately the surrounding matrix of alien fighters moved their perimeter outwards.

    Shepard ran several calculations and came back with the bad news. Even at ten SOL the alien mega-ship would have time to react and destroy any attempts at an over SOL assault. Our best weapon against the alien fleet was now useless.

    I again pressed Command for permission to launch an assault of my own. Again I was denied. I felt helpless as I sat and watched as the alien fleet closed in on my home. Being an observer did not sit well with my psyche. I thought several times of just turning the ship back towards the fleet and going at it alone.

    But I had another person on-board. I had no right to throw Shepard's life to the wind along with my own. And what right did I have to take this incredible craft that I was piloting for my own. Were there not others who were willing to give their lives while following orders? I was not a troublemaker, but I was having a difficult time with what I considered to be sitting on the sidelines.

    Our world would be in turmoil in only three short months. The alien fleet had us way outgunned. Our best weapon was our speed and they had found a way to counter its benefit. I felt like I was sitting on the train tracks and my shoe was caught under a rail. The train was barreling down upon me and my foot would not come free.

    I thought about my mother and father yelling at me to at least do something. I thought about my aunt, uncle and cousin and how the aliens had taken them from me. Then I thought about my grandfather and about what he would say or do.

    He would tell me to stay strong, to be patient and to give it my best when the time came for action. It was his image that brought me courage, it was his image that gave me confidence and it was his image that rallied my flagging spirits.

    When the time came for battle I would either stand or fall. Earth and all I knew might perish, but it would not be because of my lack of trying. I would fight the good fight and I would fight to win.

    Man's survival lay in the balance. We were in need of a miracle and with each passing day the chances of that miracle happening seemed to be slipping away. Would Man come up with a solution to this debacle? Would we be able to overcome the overwhelming odds?   I sat back in my chair looking at an image of the alien mega-ship cruising along. I wasn't so sure of our chances.
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    The fleet was fast approaching. We had 18 days until its arrival. A new attempt at stopping the incoming alien assault had only inflicted minor damage. More than 500 active skinned nukes had been launched and set in the path of the incoming attackers. The nukes were dropped into position with timers set to arm and fire upon the alien’s arrival; we called them "space mines."

    The alien fleet had altered course slightly, traversing only an edge of the mine field. Upon detonation of the nukes, estimates were that 147 alien fighter craft had been destroyed. A second field had been laid out only to have the alien fleet maneuver around it using random course changes. Space was such an immense place.

    Our factories had been working night and day. Our cities fortified and our military trained. The stress at home was overwhelming with some dropping from the workforce due to the inability to function with the tiresome schedules and the threat of the coming war.

    Production had slowed just when it was most critical to our survival as a small percentage of the populous was beginning to crack, some had given up altogether. Even the politicians in their daily speeches of encouragement were beginning to show signs of fatigue. Man was teetering on the edge of destruction and hope of victory and survival was beginning to wane.

    The Military Command had a grim outlook with simulations turning in billions of deaths with some of the best-case scenarios. Some had gone as far as calling for an Earth ship to be built that would carry a chosen few far away from the coming menace.

    They would fly to the stars in search of a new home for Mankind. But the masses were not interested in putting forth effort to ensure Man's survival. Their interest lay in the survival of themselves, their world and the lives they still had to live. Their desires were to save all living humans and not just a select few. The Earth ship idea had been met with extreme resistance.

    Outside of the cities, efforts were made to construct underground bunkers. Many had the notion that when the fighting began they would be able to hide away until the aliens had been defeated. Others complained that valuable resources were being wasted.

    As zero hour approached the world civilizations were beginning to get restless. The airwaves were limited to movies and music that were considered uplifting or to those that inspired fight and resistance. Many of the old war movies from the 20th century had once again become popular. Meanwhile, I sat on a Ghost ship with Shepard... trapped on a monotonous mission to watch the attackers as they crept ever closer.

    For a year Earth had been broadcasting continuous requests to the aliens for sympathy or compromise. Offers of sanctuary or negotiation had fallen on deaf ears. Our alien attackers had no interest in our pleas.

    On day 14 to zero Command began to show signs of desperation. We had orders to observe as four more Ghost ships would attempt an attack. This time, they would be using our stealth tactic in an attempt to slide inside the mega-ship's defense and enter into its hull.

    Once inside, the orders were to open fire. It would be considered a Kamikaze run by most, with chances of not coming home being high. But these were soldiers and they were willing to risk their lives in the defense of their loved ones, of their planet, of all that they knew.

    Again I asked to be included in the raid only to be denied. The QE comm embedded in my head was still considered too valuable to lose. I wondered how valuable it would be if there was no home to return too. I kept my idle thoughts to myself.

    The four Ghosts started their mission from 500 million kilometers. It was a distance at which we felt short bursts of a BHD might go undetected. It would take 15 hours for the drifting ships to reach their target. And it would only be effective if that target remained on the correct path.

    The Ghosts would move in a square formation with a 30 kilometer distance between them. The hope was that at least one would slip inside the alien mega-ship. We watched patiently as the counter ticked towards zero. With two hours to go the alien fleet made a slight shift in its course. Shepard ran the calculations which revealed that only one Ghost now had a chance at an encounter.

    I wanted to enable the comm to the four Ghost commanders, but I could not do so without revealing our position. Our QE connection to home was secure and silent to the rest of the universe except for the entangled pairs at the other end at Command. Radio broadcasts were anything but silent.

    With a half hour to go the fleet again made another adjustment moving completely out of the path of the incoming Ghosts. The stealth attack mission was a bust. Shepard was livid as she had done an analysis of the fleet’s movements and had forwarded those results to Command. The Tacticians had done their own analysis and devised the current plan while excluding Shepard's data. After the fleet's last movement Shepard had simulated the assault with her own calculations which showed a correct estimate of their new location.

    At our distance it would be another seven days before any alteration to Command's plans could be put into effect as it would take that long for communications to arrive from Earth. I asked Shepard if there was any other way to contact the Ghosts without being detected. There was none. For seven days the Ghost ships repeated their attempts at crossing into the alien fleet. Each time they missed by wide margins as the alien fleet adjusted course.

    On the eighth day the raiders received their new orders. Shepard's calculations had matched the moves of the fleet. Again the 15 hour counter was reset and the Ghost raid begun. We watched anxiously as the timer approached zero. The assault yielded results.

    As the Ghosts entered the fleet's space one of the battleships suddenly veered off course and dropped its speed. Moments later bright flashes could be seen on its outer hull. The same phenomenon then happened to another battleship and then again to a cruiser. The main target had been missed but our tiny Ghost fleet was doing severe damage. A celebration erupted as cheers rang out over the QE comm link coming from Command.

    The three Ghosts ships that had made it inside were now broadcasting signals of their own. Command had worked it into the plans that once detection was inevitable they might as well broadcast what they were seeing.

    I was tuned into the video feed from Ghost 994 on-board the first battleship. Once inside they had launched all 64 of their Drillers. As the Drillers began their work the pilot performed a BHD micro-burst to move quickly back outside the large craft and to a safe distance.

    The Drillers were hard at work inside the alien vessels moving from bulkhead to bulkhead destroying everything in their paths. When the second and third Ghosts attempted their getaways the mega-ship was waiting for them. Two bursts of its powerful gravity weapon told the story of the end of eight brave souls.

    The next time around the attack counter never reached zero. The remaining two Ghost ships were detected and eliminated before reaching their targets. More than 500 Defender craft had been launched in an effort to engage in a large scale stealth attack. With the annihilation of the Ghost ships the raid was canceled as we could not risk sending 2,000 crewmen to what would be an almost certain death.

    I muted channel 1650 for a private conversation with Shepard. I pleaded with her to join me in taking some action, any action, on our own. We had one week remaining before death and destruction would be brought down upon our planet.

    We carried 63 of our 64 Drillers that were ready to be put into service if we could only get back inside the mega-ship. Shepard was steadfast in her response. So long as we had orders we would follow them. We had no way of knowing everything that Command was planning.

    She reasoned that perhaps our role in the coming days would be critical in turning the tide. That role would not happen if we were dead and scattered amongst the stellar winds. It was one of the things I appreciated most about Shepard, her reasoning was always sound.

    Back on Earth the factories continued to churn out Defenders, Drillers and coil guns. Other than the fringe few, the masses toiled on at building our defenses. Every major city was now defended by at least two dozen heavy coil guns as well as hundreds of light guns.

    In a burst of productivity we had raised our Defender count to 4,186 ready ships with fully trained crews. We had launched more than 500 space based mobile coil guns and produced thousands of ground launched Drillers. Our cooperation among nations and achievements at home had been nothing but incredible.

    Earth was as prepared as it possibly could be. I wondered if my grandfather had dug a bunker for my family. I wondered if there would be a farm to return too after the inevitable battle commenced. I wondered if I somehow made it through the crisis at hand... would everything have changed for the worst.

    We were up against 14 fully functioning alien carriers that brought 15,426 fighters. We had one battleship, four cruisers and 13 destroyers to contend with along with the behemoth mega-ship. I wondered if all the saucers had gravity weapons as powerful as the mega-ship. I wondered if my simulated 8-1 kill ratio would hold.

    As I sat in my chair lamenting my existence the alarms on my holo-screen began to sound. More than 100 enemy fighters had changed course and were headed in our direction. We had somehow been detected. It would take just over an hour for them to reach our position. I alerted Command and asked for direction.

    Command soon gave the go ahead for a return home. Our reconnaissance mission had come to an end. I pushed the throttle to full and six minutes later we vanished from the aliens sensors as we passed through light speed.

    When we touched down near Lake Pleasant it was 156 hours to zero. Crews were scrambling and practice flights into space were running non-stop. We were immediately escorted to the medical facilities where tests could be run on our newly improved bodies.

    I felt like a lab rat with all the techs surrounding me with their poking and prodding. I was then sent into the next room with a handler to remove my BGS suit for an evaluation. After removal the suit was immediately taken to a lab.

    I had my wash down and again moved in front of a mirror to check on my body's new appearance. I was shocked. My waist was thinner and the muscles in my arms, legs and torso were cut and hard. Any bodybuilder would have been proud. My skin was a light tan showing off my one-sixteenth Native American blood. It was also without blemish.

    My hair had grown fast and grown long. My light brown roots had returned to their youthful blonde. Had I somehow been able to bottle what had happened and if I was able to sell it during normal times I would have become fantastically wealthy over-night.

    I put on the dull gray Astronaut Corps uniform that had been delivered and was disappointed with how it hid my nearly perfect human physique. I then walked back into the outer room where the techs once again crowded around.

    Every test was run and data gathered. My eyesight was 20/8. My hearing 50% better than average. My reaction times doubled. And my IQ had settled at 147. In almost every way I was improved.

    I was then given the afternoon to spend as I wished. I made a beeline to the training simulators where Randy and Raven were hard at work training crews. They each took a short break to say hello and catch up. It felt good to see my old team. They were shocked at my appearance.

    I asked about Tork and about his progress. His spacewalk had saved my life, but almost ended his own. He was still in rehabilitation and had regained partial use of one of his arms. Raven said he was in good spirits and that he was a fighter. He was more concerned with the imminent attack than with his own health.

    He had repeatedly asked that no resources be used on his behalf. Command would have none of it. He was a hero and whatever we could do as a nation to support him was viewed as the right thing to do... and as worthwhile PR. Those who had been injured during battle with the aliens had received a hero’s praise from the world populations. It was a part of our humanity that garnered almost universal support.

    After my short stint with Randy and Raven I headed for the mess hall to meet Shepard. The mess hall was empty of flight crews. Shepard reasoned that everyone was now wearing a BGS and getting their nutrients from a belt pack.

    I ordered a hamburger and fries and a big chocolate shake. I began to wonder what a hamburger would taste like since I had not had one in over a year. It felt strange to bite into the warm charred flesh of the burger. The flavor in my mouth was something that had been missing. It was like seeing an old friend for the first time in years.

    When the meal was finished I felt a bloated sensation in my abdomen and had to catch myself before I let loose of a stream of urine without thinking. The meal was good and brought back fond memories of my grandfather's deep fried Thanksgiving turkey and my mother's succulent Christmas ham.

    But I was a practical person and the time-savings, simplicity and better nutrition that the BGS had to offer far outweighed the taste indulgence of a good meal. If man indeed had a future in space, I was sure the BGS would be a big part of it.

    I then invited Shepard to the base pub for a beer. Again the pub was empty of pilots and crews. We sat and chatted with two reactor assemblers about their workdays and lives. I wanted to tell of our adventures, but we were still under orders to not speak of what we had seen. It remained classified information at the highest of levels.

    From the pub I made my way back to my quarters and lay awake in bed for more than an hour, unable to sleep. The meds offered by the BGS kept us on a regular schedule, but I was no longer in a BGS. I placed a call to the infirmary and soon had a knock on my door. A nursing assistant had a small glass of water and two pills. The darkness soon overtook my consciousness. With only 146 hours to zero there would be much to do in the morning. War was now on our doorstep.
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    Factories produced at an unbelievable pace. Assemblers and gun placement technicians scurried about. Stress was high, but the citizens of Earth were largely holding it together. It was a cooperative effort never before seen by Man. More than 4,000 Defender ships and their crews were trained and at the ready. Gun turrets encircled the globe readying to protect the populous. Man was as prepared as he could be.

    There were only 52 hours remaining to zero. I had been given the day to travel home for a last visit before the hostilities commenced. The air taxi landed in front of my grandfather's barn. It was a familiar and welcome sight. Bessie stood in the fenced pen beside it, chewing at an open bale of hay. The smell of the farm filled the air as my parents came out onto my grandfather's porch to greet me.

    We shared several minutes of hugs, smiles and small talk before I asked about my grandfather. He was in the house resting from his arthritis. When I came into the living room he was sitting in his favorite chair, reading a book with an afghan covering his legs. His eyes lit up as I approached.

    I sat talking and holding his hand for an hour. I knew I was breaking the rules, but I wanted him to know where I had been, to know what I had seen. My parents sat listening intently as I told of the alien world and the creatures we encountered. I knew as I spoke that they would never tell others of that which I had told.

    We talked through the afternoon and I informed them on nearly every detail of my year in space. My mother sat with an awkward look on her face. It was a look of shock and disbelief. Her little girl could not have possibly done these extraordinary things.

    I then asked my father what they had done to prepare for the approaching war. He admitted that he had done little as running the farm without the usual help had kept his hours long. The local boys had all gone off to the cities to help with Earth's defensive efforts.

    My grandfather then squeezed my hand and told me not to worry. They had a small stockpile of guns in the cellar and enough food to last them for many months. He tried his best to place my worries back upon my own troubles.

    He had lived a long and happy life. I was still young. He and my father could protect themselves if the need arose. I was not to worry. His concern was for me and my crew. We would be the ones facing the ultimate danger. We would be the ones taking the biggest risk or making the ultimate sacrifice.

    Our discussion soon turned to my physical shape and I told him of the benefits of the BGS and of the space walk in the plasma field. I told of my lengthened DNA and he remarked at how glowing and healthy my skin appeared. I then rolled up my sleeve and showed off a muscular bicep. It was bigger and more toned than most of the men he had known throughout his life.

    He squeezed it with his still firm hands and nodded in approval. He was impressed with his granddaughter and feared for any alien that would be unlucky enough to venture close to her. As always, he used just the right words and boosted my confidence.

    My parents had prepared a grand meal of steaks and corn on the grill. I split open a sweet potato nearly as big as a football and took a heaping portion of my mother's broccoli salad. Dinner ended with a slice of warm pumpkin pie and a dollop of whipped cream.

    After the meal I helped my mother clean the dishes and then took a chair into the den with my grandfather for a few games of cribbage. It was a game he played for keeps and he skunked me as usual. Afterward we turned on the TV and watched old home movies as we sipped warm apple cider.

    When the evening came to an end I lay in bed looking at the pictures on the wall of my old room. I had been the redneck farm girl. There was a picture of the first time I drove a tractor and one of the first squirrel I bagged with my pellet gun. There was the awkward prom dress picture with my boyfriend at the time; he was two inches shorter than I.

    There was the picture of Liz and me playing in the creek just before she moved away. It had been a good childhood with a family who deeply cared and always inspired me to do my best. I struggled with the thought of being away from them once hostilities were to begin.

    I turned off the lights and sat up on the edge of my bed staring off into the moonlit cornfield just across the drive. Would any of it be there when I returned? Would I return at all? It was into the wee hours of the morning before sleep finally came. In the comfort of my old familiar bed I slept as the dead sleep. I did not stir again until dawn.

    We had a good wholesome farm breakfast before my ride settled down in the drive. I said my goodbyes as the tears flowed from my parent's eyes. I held back my own laments as to not add to their worries. When the air cab lifted off I broke down and sobbed for much of the two hour ride back to the base. I was a warrior and I was tough, but I still had emotions.

    When I was once again re-united with my crew the zero-clock had dropped to 22 hours. The alien fleet was now well within the heliosphere, it would soon be amongst our planets and soon after that at our doorstep.

    The day was spent in one briefing after another. We were given a breakdown of what we knew of the aliens. We were once again schooled upon their tactics and strategies and how we could best defend against them. We were then shown the videos of the squids that Shepard and I had taken on Alvin and then later again inside the mega-ship.

    The Tacticians gave their estimates of the deadly range of their gravity weapons. The mega-ship could reach out in space and destroy a standard Defender at 22,000 kilometers. For the other large ships the best we had was an estimate. Battleships were given an 8,000 kilometer range, cruisers 2,000 kilometers and destroyers 500 kilometers. The alien fighters were deadly out to one kilometer.

    In the year since Shepard and I had departed on our journey, the Defenders had received many upgrades. Shields were now 40% more effective, coil guns 30% and reactors 12%. Construction had also begun on a new class of ship. It would be our first destroyer and would be named the Brenner class.

    The destroyer would be powered by two full size reactors. It's shielding would withstand a direct close hit from an alien fighter. It was believed that it would also repel a gravity weapon hit from the alien mega-ship at 100 kilometers. It would be a much needed addition to our defense, but would not be ready for the coming war.

    The Brenner class would reach light-speed in one-minute, twelve-seconds and the shields would block asteroids the size of a bus at 52,000 SOL. A light year of space could be traveled in ten minutes when at that speed.

    A new hybrid of the BHD would allow acceleration in any direction making the flip maneuver a thing of the past. New sensors offered much higher resolution imagery and sensing and a redundant QE comm system made communications with Earth Command instantaneous. It was a marvel of human engineering in almost every aspect.

    Our scientists and engineers had made progress with our gravity weapon allowing a potent projection out to one or two kilometers. It was only equal to that of the alien fighter but an understanding of its full function was beginning to build. There were hopes that a breakthrough would happen within the year.

    Our Ghost had been modified with the latest enhancements. With 12 hours remaining to zero we were taken topside to the hangar where a technician was given the responsibility of training us on our new equipment. His name was Zack.

    When we first approached the ship I took note of the lengthened chassis. I had wondered about Randy and Raven and why we were kept together when the Ghost only had seating for two. I nodded and let out a yell of approval as we stepped aboard. Zack was waiting in my chair.

    As he turned to greet us our eyes met and there was an instant connection. I resisted the temptation to not let go when he greeted me and shook my hand. After an awkward but warm smile he cleared his throat and began giving us the tour of our newly modified Ghost Attack Fighter.

    For a moment I chuckled to myself and wondered who had come up with the name for a fighting vessel where the acronym was GAF. My attention was quickly regained by the handsome young man describing the modifications with his steel blue eyes, chiseled cheeks and strong chin.

    I soon looked downward in embarrassment when caught staring. I wanted to blame it on my raging hormones because of the lack of a BGS, but an appeal for any excuse would have only led to further uneasiness. When Zack had finished with his explanations he then turned and asked if I had any interest in having a beer at the base pub back below-ground. I accepted with a smile and we were soon seated at a table in the otherwise empty establishment.

    As we tinked our glasses together I asked Zack where he was from. He had grown up in a small town in Upper Michigan where his father owned a hardware and animal feed store. His summers were spent canoeing, hunting and fishing and his winters on the snowmobile racing circuit.

    He counted 47 broken bones amongst his trophies and a consistent ranking in the top five of his racing class before the devastation of the carrier attack led him to join the Corps. We spent two hours talking about our families and homes before the call came for lights out.

    As we walked slowly towards the pub door I held out my hand in an awkward attempt to say goodbye. He took it and drew me in close before whispering in my ear. He said I should come back when the fighting was over. He had confidence that I would return and that he would be waiting to continue our conversation when I did. As we parted he put forth a smile and a wink before turning down the hallway towards his quarters.

    When I arrived back at my room a technician was waiting for me. I was getting a new BGS. As I followed the tech towards the dressing area I had nothing but thoughts of Zack rolling through my head. They were my first thoughts of romance in nearly two years... since most of the fighting had begun.

    I was quickly pulled back to the reality of the moment when the tech pointed me into a dressing room where my new BGS was hanging. Within minutes the warm welcome sensation of being immersed in bio-gel returned.

    I stood looking in the mirror at my physique and wondered what Zack would think if I again met with him. The suit was tight in all the right places showing off my near perfect human form. I then blushed for a moment when I noticed the tech looking at me admiring myself. With my self-indulgence party over, I turned back to the business of the new BGS.

    The tech projected a holo-screen and began to talk about the enhancements to this particular suit. It was our latest and had several features that had yet to go mainstream. I eagerly awaited the run through on its abilities.

    The new BGS had an improved filter pack that would last up to 45 days before requiring cleaning. The power packs would last 90 days on average and came with an emergency slot where a coin sized Sodium pellet could be inserted to gain an additional two days of operation.

    But, the biggest improvement was in the active skin that was fully integrated into the suit and the helmet. The skin came with two levels of shielding. The first was a slight improvement over the last BGS offering the ability to safely move about in the highly charged stellar winds of the cosmos.

    The second level was a fully functional active skin. With a single thought to my audio implant I could turn on the suit's active skin, rendering myself invisible. It was a significant drain on the power pack with each new coin sized Sodium pellet offering only an extra 10 minutes of activation.

    I was also given a new gravity weapon sidearm. It would obliterate anything within 100 meters and was connected to a holo-targeting system within the helmet. It was deadly accurate. Each coin sized Sodium pellet was good for 25 shots at full power.

    When connected to a small plug on the glove its active coating gave it the same invisible qualities as the BGS, its power would be drawn from the power pack. The tech called it a gravity pulse gun and remarked that the weapon also consumed a great deal of power, so if the need arose I should use it sparingly.

    Testing had shown that the new BGS and weapon would drain the power pack completely in about six hours if used in a moderate fire-fight. When aboard our GAF we would be able to connect to the ship’s power or swap out power packs from our ship’s stores. There were enough power packs on-board to keep us running at a normal level for five years. When fighting, that number would drop dramatically.

    The tech then moved on to the new food pack. It would now last 45 days before requiring a change. If the food pack ran dry or the filter pack clogged the bio-gel of the BGS would last five to seven days before we would begin to feel the impact. Testing had shown that when a BGS and its bio-gel reached saturation the suit would have to be removed within 48 hours before becoming toxic. When I asked exactly what toxic meant I was given a look that made it very clear... toxic meant death.

    When the tech had completed a full check of the suit we began our walk back to my quarters. I asked if my crew had been given the same upgrade to which she replied "No". Shepard had received the new BGS but Randy and Raven would be in their old suits. Since manufacturing had only just begun on this version most crewmen would be wearing what they already had.

    As I lay back on my anti-grav mattress my thoughts once again made their way back to the topic of Zack. He was handsome, physically fit, intelligent and best of all he had an interest in me. But my thoughts of Zack were short lived as the sleep meds from the new BGS took hold. I quickly drifted off into a very adult dream.
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    The morning was spent in briefing after briefing. By noon the crews were being assembled in the launch hangars. The alien fleet had passed Neptune and would be upon us shortly. On the ground the factories continued to hum. Even with the battle for Earth underway we would be in need of a resupply at some point. The years of contributions by Earth's populations were ready to be put to the test.

    I wanted badly to make one final call to my family, but I knew it was not possible. I was left to use my grandfather's words to bolster my confidence. In turn I attempted a strong face for my crew.

    We soon boarded our GAF and began the ritual system checks. I hesitated for a moment and took note of the new controls on the weapons holo-screen. The new gravity weapon had been installed on our ship overnight in an attempt to give us any advantage that could be had.

    Only five such units were made available throughout the fleet. Randy immediately began poring over the manual while Shepard added the new weapon to the simulation hack she had previously loaded onto our computer. We would have two hours at our defensive station waiting on the alien fleet's arrival and Randy planned on using every minute of it to familiarize himself with the new technology.

    As the orders came in the Defender squadrons lifted off one by one. Just as with the battle against the carrier, half of the ships would take up position behind the Moon and half behind the protection of Earth. I was to lead a four ship squadron of GAFs from a starting location behind the Moon.

    Command had positioned sensors throughout the solar system in an attempt to give them better "ears" on what the aliens were up to since we had partially broken their language and communications. They hoped to gain knowledge of the alien's plans before they were put into action.

    When we reached our station behind the Moon, Randy began running simulations using the gravity pulse weapon. I decided to take up the same challenge in a simulation of my own. For most of an hour I turned and fired and speed off, I flipped and dove and again fired. The gravity pulse gun, with its ability to be steered, was quickly becoming my weapon of choice.

    In my excitement over its abilities I checked in with Randy to see how he was progressing. He was struggling. I wondered if my newly increased reaction times were giving me an advantage that Randy just did not have. His frustration only grew as we continued the simulations. I stepped in with the command decision to control the gravity pulse gun while I flew. Randy was glad to be rid of it.

    Our final half hour was spent checking and rechecking the ship’s systems. The alien fleet had passed the orbits of Saturn, then Jupiter and then Mars. Tensions were building as we were now only minutes from battle. I took a moment to give a final morale boosting speech.

    We were here, defending our world, our families and our lives. All of our achievements as a race had brought us to this point in time. We would now have to summon the courage, to rely on our skills and abilities, to step forward and give it our best.

    I stated that we should not go into battle with fear but instead with determination and respite. This day was our day, was Man's  day, we were going to crush these alien invaders and return to our homes and families as heroes. Earth would not be conquered on this day.

    Our tactical orders then flashed on our holo-screens. Our team would eventually be attacking a cruiser along with four squads of Defenders. We would first be given a quadrant with the task of clearing it of alien fighters before proceeding on to attack the cruiser.

    The Tacticians and Battle Planners had laid out waypoints for our squadrons to follow once the go-ahead was received. We would be in the third tranche of ships out of six to move into battle.

    We watched patiently as the battle timer on our holo-screens ticked down from ten minutes, to five and then to one. I looked around at my crew and gave a wink and a nod to each. When the timer hit zero, our screens began to light up with ship movements.

    When the outer perimeter of the alien fleet came within firing range of the space based mobile coil guns the first shots were fired. Two alien fighters immediately exploded. With the signal given our first tranche of Defenders entered the battle from behind the Moon.

    On our holo-screens green blips could be seen dancing around and between yellow ones... our Defenders were engaging the enemy. Our status screen had displays of "Kill Count" and "Death Count". I thought it a bad idea to show in real-time what our casualties were. The numbers on each began to accumulate.

    The mobile coil guns were relentless in their automated hunting of alien fighters. The "Kill Count" had quickly reached 30 fighters when the alien fleet made its first bold move. A cruiser and two destroyers speed their way towards the mobile guns.

    The cruiser used its powerful gravity weapon to shield the destroyers from the mobile guns wrath while the destroyers began to pick away at the mobile guns one by one. A helpless feeling was developing in my gut as I watched the battle playing out before me.

    Command soon countered the alien strategy with the launch of more than 5,000 newly enhanced Drillers to which the aliens also had a response. More than 3,000 of the alien fighters were dispatched. My holo-screen was soon awash in multi-colored blips weaving in and out, circling each other as the battle expanded.

    Within ten minutes of the war's beginning we had lost 36 of our mobile guns, 12 Defenders and 146 Drillers. The aliens were down 52 fighters. I fought back the urge to race into battle as our own attack counter ticked just under two minutes.

    As I watched the casualty counters my emotions would race from elation to sorrow back to elation. A burst of alien fighters would be lost followed by a number of Defenders and Drillers followed by another bad run for the aliens.

    When our command block went green I throttled up and headed into battle. Randy quickly selected three alien fighters and the holo-screen placed blue circles around the otherwise yellow blips. The alien fighters quickly turned as we approached and sped back towards their command ships. As the gap closed between us and our foes I began to get an uneasy feeling.

    We were soon facing an alien destroyer. Two Defenders from our squadron went red on our display with the first shots from the powerful alien craft. Randy fired off 32 of our Drillers as I banked hard in an attempt to evade the enemy. Our shields went to 34% and then 68% before our distance from the destroyer began to widen.

    Six more Defenders were lost in succession as the alien destroyer moved in on our weaker ships. The battle screen was now filled with blips from our squadrons of Defenders and Drillers.

    During our retreat Randy targeted two more alien fighters. This time we met them with a vengeance. I rolled high on the first as Randy fired the coil guns and I then hammered each with a shot from our new gravity pulse gun. The first fighter was cut in half by a tungsten pellet while the second was knocked dead by a gravity pulse.

    I quickly turned our GAF back towards the stalled fighter and Randy hit it with a coil round. The alien fighter exploded in a flash of glory as we sped through its debris cloud. Randy selected two more fighters to target when a counter order came in. We and the other GAF ships were to take heat from the destroyer until the other Defenders in our squadrons had managed a retreat.

    I again turned the ship back towards the alien destroyer. I reduced the feed to our BHD giving Raven more power to apply to our shields. Shepard ran a calculation giving us a 1,000 kilometer safe distance from the destroyer with a 500 kilometer direct hit bringing about our demise.

    In coordination with the four GAF ships in our squadron we took turns charging and then retreating in an attempt to draw the alien destroyer out. The tactic allowed two squads of Defenders to race free before the aliens once again adjusted their tactics.

    Our Defenders were being ripped apart one by one. I called on Command to order their full retreat and was denied. I then gave the order myself. I was not going to sit idly by while my fellow crews were left hanging. Again, I attempted to draw in the destroyer as our ships headed back towards the safety of the Moon.

    I maneuvered in close to a fighter as we fled to take one last shot. The coil gun round from Randy was deflected by the fighter but my gravity pulse hit home. Again the alien fighter went dead in space. Within the first minutes of battle, we had taken down 12 fighters and lost ten of our Defenders. Forty brave men and women had met their end.

    As a group, we had expended nearly two thirds of our Drillers. I glanced down at the casualty counts and was disheartened to see the confirmed loss of 132 Defenders and one GAF. We had 187 confirmed alien fighter kills yielding a kill ratio that was not sustainable. We were way outnumbered and were losing ground.

    Raven then came in with an idea. She stated that we might be able to sneak our way in close to the destroyer under the cover of the dead alien fighter. The gravity pulse gun could be used with a wide beam to generate a circular gravity field. It would allow us to push the alien fighter back towards the destroyer.

    We would then proceed to follow the dead alien craft using our stealth abilities. If all went well, she felt that we had a shot of getting inside the destroyer where we would be able to do real damage. Shepard quickly ran the calculations.

    Given the fact that the alien destroyer might simply move away and that we would possibly be detected Shepard placed our chances of success at 31%. I looked around at my crew and they each nodded in approval. I flipped directions and accelerated back to the dead enemy fighter.

    When we arrived a utility robot was hard at work attempting to revive its transport. A quick pulse from the gravity gun sent it hurdling off into space. I adjusted the gravity beam to the numbers Shepard provided and we began to slowly push the alien craft.

    Once the alien fighter was securely set in the circular field I pushed the throttle to full for five seconds. The BHD was then shut down and the active skin maximized. It would be a five minute ride to the destroyer under the cover of the dead alien fighter.

    We continued our watch of the battle stats as we drifted closer to our target. We had lost another 20 Defenders, but had taken out a respectable 97 alien fighters. There was no word yet on the success of a Driller making entry into any of the large alien craft.

    Shepard kept a running ratio calculation showing the number of alien fighters killed to the number of Defenders. The initial results showed the aliens having more than 4,500 fighters remaining when our Defenders would have all been annihilated. It was a number that Earth's ground defenses would not be able to counter.

    As we drifted we were soon within range of the destroyer's gravity weapon. Tension grew as we passed the threshold where our shields would not withstand a direct hit. Three minutes turned to two and then to one.

    Raven waited patiently with our own gravity shield. If the alien destroyer slowed the fighter with a wide beam Raven would in turn use our shield to slow us by pushing against the dead fighter. The tension and anxiety continued to grow with each kilometer as we moved.

    At 200 kilometers the destroyer began to brake the dead fighter as anticipated. Raven modulated our shield to keep us within ten meters of our cover. As we continued to slow we passed within five kilometers. A flurry of utility robots then emerged from the destroyer moving towards our position.

    At one kilometer Raven nixed our gravity wave. As the dead fighter continued to slow the active skin allowed us to pass through it and continue to drift towards our target. As the last of the alien utility robots passed our position it stopped and turned its antenna group towards us.

    The robot moved quickly to our position and spun on its axis as if looking for something. I awaited the death blow from the destroyer, but it never came. We drifted through the dull gray metal hull of the destroyer and into a brightly lit saltwater filled chamber teaming with squids.

    I gave Randy the go-ahead and he immediately set loose 16 Drillers from our arsenal. The BHDs of the Drillers turned the saltwater into steam as they sped away towards the bulkheads. I sent a gravity pulse towards the outer wall puncturing a small whole.

    Water from the chamber began to spew into space and crystallize as it froze. The squids within the chamber swam wildly towards the bulkheads only to be killed when explosions from the Drillers took out the ship’s systems.

    I flipped our ship around aiming our BHD back towards where we had come from while Randy opened fire with the coil guns. Each pellet from the coil guns turned the water to steam as it shot outward from our GAF.

    For a moment I reveled in the thought that today was the day that the enemy finally took casualties. Today was the day that they felt pain. I sent pulse after pulse back through the water towards the bulkheads each time opening up a gaping hole.

    As the bulkheads collapsed the great ship began to moan. The water temperature surrounding us began to rise rapidly. I took it as a sign that it was time to go. I pushed the throttle to full and we instantly exited the alien destroyer.

    Raven directed our shield towards the back of our ship as we began to accelerate. I clinched my teeth as the shield shot up to 78% and then slowly began to fade. We watched on the rear camera as the alien destroyer's hull began to buckle and twist.

    In a final gesture of death the destroyer exploded in a violent flash as one of the Drillers found its way to its fusion reactor. Cheers of joy rang through our GAF as we sped away, back towards safety. Randy smiled broadly as he targeted and killed two more fighters on the way.

    We had the first kill of a giant ship of the alien fleet. I hoped it to be the first of many. I gave Command a verbal of our tactic and was told it was being put into place wherever possible. When our celebration ended we were again heading back into battle, this time with our squadron by our side.

    Without the destroyer as backup the remaining alien fighters were much easier prey. I again glanced down at the stats and was encouraged to see 1,826 confirmed alien fighter kills to our 347 Defender losses. Shepard's ratio calculation showed us as having a small fleet remaining when the alien fighter count reached zero.

    Much of the afternoon was spent chasing down fighters in our quadrant. We kept our distance from the main body of the fleet and the other large ships as we picked away at their fighters.

    Two destroyers then turned in our direction. I put the call out to our squadrons to retreat. As we turned and fled, our holo-screens lit up with another 4,000 ground launched Drillers rocketing up towards the approaching destroyers.

    The space surrounding the large ships was soon filled with small explosions as the ships maneuvered and fired upon the Drillers. I took the opportunity to again throw our squadron into battle. We kept our distance from the large ships as the relentless Drillers charged the destroyers again and again.

    Cheers once again filled our cabin as one of the destroyers ceased to move and showed signs of destruction. Again a bright flash told the story as the fusion reactor aboard the destroyer was breached.

    Our celebration was short lived as the mega-ship maneuvered in close to the remaining destroyer. Wave after wave of Driller exploded in bright fury as the mega-ship swept the surrounding space with its powerful gravity beam. The active Driller count in our quadrant soon dropped to zero.

    Without the threat of the Drillers our kill ratio soon plummeted back near one-to-one. The mega-ship moved to another quadrant enacting the same highly effective Driller sweep. The tides of war had once again turned back towards the invader's favor.

    With the alien destroyer once again limiting our attacks I tried repeatedly to knock another alien fighter offline. As a new strategy the aliens triggered the self-destruct of their disabled craft. A green fog would spray out encapsulating and dissolving the dead fighter before we could make use of it.

    The next hour was spent chasing down the stray fighter that ventured too far from its parent destroyer. Our squadron's original 28 Defenders now numbered 12 and our team of four GAFs was down to three. We had kill credits for one destroyer and 47 fighters.

    After many hours of battle I was surprised that nearly half of our mobile coil guns were still in service pumping out tungsten rounds. Our scientists and engineers had launched a number of special Defenders with a new gravity shield. The special Defenders would sit in the middle of a cluster of mobile guns protecting them from the relentless attacks by the alien fighters.

    Slowly but surely a pod of alien fighters accompanied by a destroyer would charge a group of our mobile guns. The alien losses were heavy, but our mobile guns were falling one by one.

    I asked for Command to deliver new orders, but none were forthcoming. Command was occupied with larger strategies. Our holo-screens soon lit up with 186 new launches from the ground. It was a new type of nuclear space mine with an active skin and passive sensor.

    Each launcher held 20 such mines which would be released once free of Earth's gravity. The mines would drift towards the fleet and float unseen until fired by a 20 kilometer proximity trigger. The warhead was expected to kill any craft within 500 kilometers.

    As our battle continued, I locked onto a new fighter and gave chase. The fighter weaved and dodged, but our GAF and my reactions were too fast for its programmed behavior. Randy quickly notched another kill.

    The nuclear mines had soon drifted into position. A bright flash from a detonation showed on our holo-screens every few minutes. We were five hours into our war of attrition. The stats showed 4,324 confirmed alien fighter kills to our 1147 Defender losses. Our mobile guns had been knocked down to only 47 still in operation. The numbers remained in favor of the invaders.

    The war in the heavens continued to churn until the last of the mobile guns went silent. As we chased a fighter an urgent order came in from Command. All Defenders and GAFs were to return to Earth to their designated city defense assignments. The massive alien ships were making a move into Earth's atmosphere.

    The space mines took their last heavy tolls on the alien fighters. As a result the final alien assault force consisted of 10,652 fighters, 11 destroyers, four cruisers and a battleship. The mega-ship remained space-bound along with ten of the carriers.

    We were soon on our way to defend Seattle, Washington. I pushed the throttle to full as our squadrons split up for their new assignments. My nervousness grew as thoughts of civilian casualties entered my mind. We took up position above the city along with 22 Defenders and waited for the inevitable attack. We were now defending our homes.
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    I looked around at Raven, Randy and Shepard and gave each a nod of confidence as I shook on the inside. An alien destroyer and 126 alien fighters were heading our way. We waited patiently for our foes to enter the kill zone around Seattle, Victoria and Vancouver. Our ground defenses included regular armed forces, 36 heavy coil guns, 76 light guns and 66 of another new weapon... mini Drillers.

    The mini Drillers were fast to fly, quick to turn and had highly resistant shielding, but offered only a conventional warhead. Their biggest asset was to add confusion to the enemy tactics during battle as they chased fighters in a relentless pursuit.

    Just before breaching the outer perimeter of the Seattle kill zone the attack fleet altered course to the north. They moved up through western Canada between Vancouver and Banff National Park. The invaders then turned west to settle in the bay near Port Hardy.

    The calls for assistance from the area were short lived as the alien fighters spread out in an ever widening circle around the destroyer crushing everything human in their paths. I felt helpless as innocent people lost their lives just to our north while our orders to defend the Seattle zone remained.

    I turned to Shepard, Raven and Randy and asked if they had any ideas. There was only silence in response. I turned back to my holo-screen and watched in dismay as the alien fighter's circle of destruction continued to grow around the alien destroyer.

    Shepard then spoke up with an idea. The aliens had been able to trace the 25kHz buzz from our video sensors making our invisible advantage of the active skin largely useless. With our video feeds turned off we would largely be flying blind. Shepard's idea was to modify our video feed to be a series of low power still shots. On our holo-screens it would appear as a jumpy low-resolution video, but the 25kHz buzz would be gone. It was not an ideal solution, but it would be adequate for reconnaissance.

    I put the request into Command and was rewarded with a go-ahead. I gave the order to my crew and turned our GAF in the direction of Port Hardy. A quick burst from our BHD sent us hurdling towards our target. We drifted for half an hour before moving inside the ever widening circle of alien destruction.

    The video jumped in spurts and starts but the images were clear enough to see what was happening below. When we had almost reached the destroyer I patched the video feed back to Command through my QE comm.

    The destroyer was busy. Giant doors had opened on each side and small alien craft were moving out and down into the waters of the bay. Each of the small craft skimmed along atop the water heading for the shoreline of Vancouver Island. An amphibious assault was under way. The same scene was being repeated at various locations around the globe. The large alien craft had landed over shoreline waters and their assault forces were being released.

    Five green blips then appeared on my holo-screen coming from the southwest. They clung close to the cold ocean water of the Pacific. The first three came directly at the alien destroyer while the final two veered north and then turned to approach from the west.

    Raven punched in the identity codes which revealed stealth cruise missiles carrying old style 1 megaton neutron warheads. They were a remnant of the mistrust that still existed between nations... a remnant of the strategy of mutual destruction. A quick calculation by Shepard placed us directly over the destroyer when the first three missiles would be arriving. We would be in for one spectacular show.

    As the missiles hugged the terrain of Vancouver Island to the southwest I clinched my teeth and braced for an impact that would have no effect on our GAF with its active skin. I was soon let down as a gravity beam fired from the destroyer crushed the incoming missiles making their warheads inert.

    The alien ground units continued to pour out of the dark gray craft heading towards the shore. Raven then pointed out a dark shadow under the water's surface heading northward out of the bay. An underwater assault was underway as well.

    The two remaining cruise missiles continued on their slow approach from the west. I checked the kill perimeter of the alien weapon and took note that we were nearing the northern edge. In an attempt to distract the destroyer I ordered Raven to set our shields at the rear of our ship and I pushed our throttle to full. Our stealth tactic of single shot video had likely been compromised by the move.

    The destroyer quickly reacted firing a beam directly at our position. Our shields went to 102% before dropping quickly. It had been a gamble but the shields had held. At the same time the cruise missiles came within eight kilometers of the destroyer and detonated.

    The bright flash soon turned into a boiling mushroom cloud of fire and debris that spread outward in a thin triangular shape. The alien destroyer sustained heavy damage from the twin blasts.

    Trees on the island out to 5 kilometers burst into flames while those out to 75 kilometers in front of the blast were flattened. The warheads were effective at the eight kilometer distance due to the use of a shaped-charge type of explosion.

    I quickly flipped our GAF and headed back into battle. The fireball had consumed 29 of the alien fighters and disabled a dozen more. The destroyer was down in the waters of Port Hardy bay. A full third of the amphibious assault force lay still on the shores near Port McNeill.

    I maneuvered towards two incoming fighters and Randy made short work of them with our coil guns. I then dove hard towards the disabled alien destroyer while Randy launched four Drillers. We again took out another fighter that attempted to intervene.

    As we circled and fired at advancing fighters the work of the Drillers soon became evident. A bright flash consumed the alien destroyer when the reactor was breached. The area was soon covered in the familiar green fog as the remains of the alien destroyer dissolved and sank into the bay.

    Cheers went up at Command as two other destroyers met with similar fates. But the cheers were short lived as alien forces were now on the ground. We steered through a wave of fighters firing our coil guns and gravity pulses as we flew back towards the kill zone around Seattle.

    With the destroyer dead the alien ground forces turned their skimmers westward towards the Canadian mainland. They were now heading towards the industrial centers of Calgary and Edmonton. Raven counted 87 alien fighters circling ever eastward to assist in their assault.

    I again flipped hard and pushed the throttle full. There were a dozen damaged alien fighters on the ground near the blast zone and their utility robots were sure to be fast at work bringing them back to operational status. One by one I flew near the damaged fighters allowing Randy to finish the job the cruise missiles had begun.

    With our sensor feeds back in full operation I began to scan the waters north of Port Hardy for the sub-sea forces. They had either gone deep or were moving at an extremely fast pace away from the area. Raven signaled Command and soon had the readouts from the Canadian and American armed forces sonobuoys.

    On the tactical holo-screens commercial sea traffic in the area showed as white blips. Green symbols indicated nearby American forces of a cruiser and a fast attack submarine and Canadian forces of a Coast Guard cutter. Again, there were no signs of the alien submariners.

    With the damaged alien fighters annihilated, I put in a request to Command to go after the remaining alien forces in our area. The request was denied. I then asked to remain in recon mode shadowing the alien ground force and was once again denied. Our orders were to return to Seattle.

    As we cruised safely back into the Seattle kill zone our tactical screen again lit up with five green blips heading towards the alien forces. Five more cruise missiles had been launched at our enemy.

    I was saddened at the thought of innocent civilians in the area being sacrificed when a more precise strike could be accomplished with our Defenders. But, I was making judgments from the information I had and I could only guess that it was in some way incomplete. We again watched helplessly as the invaders continued their advance.

    Raven identified the cruise missiles as having ten kilo-ton neutron warheads. They were tactical weapons designed to destroy everything within a confined area. Two alien fighters soon broke ranks and moved on the advancing nukes. They knew how to detect them.

    Within seconds the five missiles were knocked from the air. Four fell harmlessly to the ground while the fifth detonated clearing out a heavily forested area in a circular pattern of two to three kilometers in diameter. The two alien fighters fell from the sky smoldering as they impacted the ground and were soon covered in the green fog.

    I again requested permission to attack the alien army and was again denied. Our sensors had detected 6,244 skimmers in the alien force now being escorted by 85 fighters. I had sudden visions of some of the training scenarios we had gone through back in the Defender simulators in boot camp. Fighting the ground forces from a Defender had been some of my favorites.

    The invaders had soon crossed the coastal mountains and were moving across the plains, several hundred kilometers north of Whistler. Calgary and Edmonton each had two heavy coil guns and numerous light guns. They each had a squad of four Defenders at their disposal as well as their conventional forces. They were heavily out-gunned by the attacking force.

    Word soon came in of other battles raging across the globe. The alien battleship and nearly 600 fighters had settled in the waters of Tsushima Island in the Sea of Japan. The island had quickly fallen after the alien battleship had released its armies. More than 60,000 skimmers and an untold number of subsurface craft had departed from the hangar bays of the mammoth ship. All were said to be heading for the Japanese mainland.

    Two destroyers and 722 fighters had settled in the South China Sea as a battle for the Philippines was underway. A cruiser accompanied by 677 fighters had taken up position in Hervey Bay just north of Brisbane Australia. To the northwest a destroyer and 276 fighters had overtaken Sri Lanka and were headed north towards India.

    Another destroyer and 342 fighters took position in the northern region of the Red sea. Two destroyers had landed in the Caspian and Black Seas, each commanding several hundred fighters. A cruiser, two destroyers and nearly 2,000 fighters had landed off Malta in the Mediterranean Sea. Sicily had fallen within minutes.

    The remaining cruiser and another two destroyers landed and overtook French Guiana and were moving southward along the north Brazilian coast with 1,544 fighters in tow. The final two destroyers along with four carriers and 4,122 fighters splashed down in the middle of the Pacific with their final whereabouts unknown.

    The invaders made a point of avoiding our most heavily defended cities. Our conventional forces were early in the process of receiving upgrades to their fighting equipment. By Earth standards they were better equipped than any force Man had ever known, but they had no real defense against the gravity weapons of the squids.

    A single platoon had received the new BGS suit that I was wearing. I checked for their whereabouts on the command screens and took note that they were deployed around Washington, D.C. I soon grew frustrated when I did not see a strategy forming up to attack the alien ground force near Seattle.

    I again requested that command allow us to attack the aliens headed for Calgary... again I was denied. Raven then remarked that there were pleas going out on the public airwaves for someone to come to the aid of Calgary. It was all I could stand.

    In the field of battle the squadron commander had the authority to take direct charge of their squadron if they felt the need. It would come at a high price if countermanding a direct order. I felt the ends justified the means. I directed two Defenders to keep watch over Seattle while the remaining Seattle squads followed me into battle on the plains below Banff. The order was given over loud objections from Command.

    I pushed the throttle to full. In less than a minute we were engaged with the alien fighter force. I rolled as Randy fired and Raven manipulated our shield. Two alien fighters were quickly cut in half. Our team then launched half of our remaining Drillers and my tactical holo-screen was soon full of blips moving about like a thick swarm of gnats.

    Command screamed for our return, but those screams fell on deaf ears. Until... alerts began to flash on our Seattle Defense screen. The submariner alien force had begun an invasion while we were off chasing the ground force. I felt sick to my stomach as I ordered an immediate return to defend Seattle. I had countermanded direct orders and abandoned my post.

    In the time it had taken us to return the port of Seattle was in shambles. Ships were ablaze and sinking in the sound and along the docks. As I flew in and began to target the alien ground forces, a large high-rise in the downtown district toppled over onto the expressway. Smoke was beginning to fill the skyline as a ground war ensued. Our armed forces fought fiercely but the overwhelming advantage of the alien gravity weapons mowed them down.

    An initial count of 3,126 alien skimmers had emerged from the waters of Puget Sound and immediately began destroying the docks and naval resources that were stationed there. They were knocking down or flattening everything in their path.

    I swooped low and slow and Randy began to target and annihilate the skimmers on his tactical screen one by one. I then turned south heading for the industrial district and Harbor Island. Flames shot high from the factories and warehouses. I identified a pod of five skimmers and headed directly for them.

    As Randy took aim our sensors went haywire and the tactical screens went white. The aliens had some type of jamming gear making our sensors ineffective. We were now limited to video for identification and aiming. Our fighting ability had been reduced dramatically.

    I yelled at Shepard and Raven to dig deep and find a way to overcome the jamming. I then turned to Randy with the statement that visual targeting was all we had. I would get him as close as possible and he would have to make the best of it.

    The alien forces spread slowly outward from Puget Sound destroying everything in their path. It was like a cancerous plague devouring the city one block at a time. We destroyed one skimmer after another, but their numbers were too great. Seattle was falling.

    Shepard then came back with a call. She had identified three alien vessels out in the Sound that were emanating the jamming signals. I banked hard and pushed the throttle forward. Within seconds the jamming pods were eliminated and our small Defender fleet once again began the task of killing squids.

    To our dismay the remaining skimmers turned and headed back to the protection of the Sound. I followed a pack of three as they submerged firing a full gravity pulse into their midst. The water beside them shot immediately downward and then rose in a high column as if a giant cannonball had been dropped.

    I then began feverishly pounding the waters of Puget Sound with pulse after pulse. Raven took note of debris surfacing from destruction of several more of the alien skimmers but it was soon evident that the amphibious force had gone.

    Most of Seattle's waterfront was in flames or flattened and millions of dead fish were now floating on the surface of Puget Sound. We had lost two Defenders in battle to close-in fire and had confirmed kills of 178 alien skimmers.

    Estimates soon came from Command that more than 300,000 souls had likely perished. Gone too was much of the manufacturing base and nearly all of the shipping abilities of the city which fed into much of the American northwest.

    We again took up a defensive position over the city. My commander came online on a private channel. My decision to take command on my own would be dealt with at a later date. We were at war and every soldier was needed. Seattle had taken a horrendous hit.

    But I was not to concern myself now for decisions I had made. There was much fighting yet to be done. Commander Jacobs went on to offer that if it was any consolation, our attack had slowed the alien ground forces enough that Calgary had received reinforcements before their arrival. The battle was ongoing and Calgary as a whole would not fare well. My actions were a wash and had likely saved as many lives in Calgary as were lost in Seattle.

    Reports were trickling in from around the globe. The Philippines had been devastated. Alien fighters were reported circling about mopping up any remaining survivors. The islanders put up a good fight, but the forces against them were overwhelming.

    The force that landed in Hervey Bay in Australia had turned north along the coast destroying town after town. Gladstone, Mackay and Townsville had been wiped from the map and Cairns was under siege and would fall within the hour.

    This war was not like most wars of the past. Throughout history there had been battles where complete cities were razed to the ground, every stone of every wall knocked down and every inhabitant enslaved or killed. But, those battles were the exception and not the rule. The spoils of enslavement had always been greater than those of annihilation.

    The squids took no prisoners and destroyed everything they came to that had been touched by Man. The inhabitants of each of those cities were dead, the cities completely destroyed. Their histories had come to an abrupt and complete end.

    In Japan the fighting had been fierce. The squids came ashore on Tsushima Island, overwhelming the local forces and then spreading southward. Japan's southwestern Islands had fallen quickly and the squid force had moved on to the southern Japanese mainland.

    Sasebo, Karatsu, Omura and Nagasaki had been crushed. The force at Fukuoka had been divided into three fronts. The first swept upward along the north shore, the second was cutting a wide swath across the center and the third moved deliberately southward, annihilating everything in its path. The squids were relentless and complete in their destruction.

    When observing each of these battles I had the urge to fly immediately to the aid of those under attack, but I had learned a hard lesson about why we follow orders, even if we don't agree with them at the time. In the fog of war the mind is left to fill in holes with speculative thoughts. Sometimes those thoughts are clouded by emotions that lead to bad decisions.

    I was not the first human to fall prey to the emotional minefield that we all walk through during wartime. But I had been lucky that my transgression had not caused more harm than good. Seattle had survived. While the waterfronts had been devastated, the rest of the city was now hard at work with rescues and repairs.

    I continued to scan the battle maps for information on how the war was going. Time after time the news was coming back as not in our favor. It was only the first day of fighting and our casualties were already in the millions.

    I selected the Indian peninsula tactical screen and observed that the attacking forces had moved from Sri Lanka onto the mainland of India and up the eastern coast. Again, laying waste to everything in their path.

    The forces that landed in the Black and Caspian Seas had combined into one and were busy flattening the great wheat fields of the Russian plains. I suddenly had the bad feeling that the aliens were now targeting our largely unprotected food supplies.

    I flipped from map to map and quickly came to the conclusion that we were in deeper trouble than I had imagined. The aliens would soon control the oceans which would eliminate our collecting of fish stocks which fed one quarter of our populations. They were destroying the wheat fields in Russia and the agricultural plains in Brazil.

    I wondered if their next targets would include the breadbasket of North America. We had food stockpiled in the cities but it would only feed the masses for a number of months. If this was the new alien strategy they would not have to attack our strongholds. They would just wait us out as mass starvation set in.

    Again the emotions of wartime crept into my thoughts. I asked my commander for orders and was told to hold my position. I passed on my observations of our food supplies being attacked and was told that Command was already fully aware. I looked around at my crew and received looks of apprehension. We were losing the war for Earth.
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    When the war moved into its second day we were being pushed back in the fight for Earth on all fronts except one. The battle for Italy was largely at a standstill. I pored over tactical screens and soon found the reason why. A single platoon of European soldiers, wearing BGS suits identical to mine, were stopping the aliens on every attack. The wearer of the suit could activate the skin at-will, making the less powerful weapons of the alien skimmers ineffective.

    I had contemplated the suit’s capabilities only to come to the conclusion that it would not be very useful during battle. When active you could travel through walls or enemy vehicles, but you had no way to stop or maneuver. If the suit was made active and you headed downward into the Earth you would not be able to halt your progress. You would drift endlessly through the ground until the power-pack failed and you became ensconced in rock or roasted in molten lava.

    To resolve the issue our engineers had come up with a micro BHD that attached to the knuckles of the suit glove. The first picture that popped into my mind was one of flying around like a superhero with one arm outstretched culminating in a balled fist. I wondered if the BHD enabled BGS came with a cape.

    The truth was not far from fiction. The assault platoon of BGS soldiers had discovered that the micro BHD also made for a formidable weapon. If the gravity pulse gun these troops carried was unable to stop the alien forces they could count on the destructive power of the BHD. They only needed to make contact to unleash its power.

    While the advent of the new BGS was good news, we continued to be pushed back on the remaining battlefronts. With the battle of the Philippines over the alien forces there had swept southward into Indonesia while the Australian force moved north into Papua New Guinea.

    The Japanese attack force moved up the island to take Hiroshima and Kochi. The conventional forces of the Japanese Army were slowing the progress of the alien assault, but it was still moving forward. With every city lost so went its manufacturing, so went its transportation, so went its contributions to the civilizations of the world.

    With the great Russian wheat fields in ruin the combined alien force of the Black and Caspian Seas had turned south across Kazakhstan. This was still largely an unpopulated area and the Tacticians were having fits trying to discern the strategy behind the move. The aliens continued to destroy anything of man as they went.

    The long day fell to night and the fighting continued around the globe. News soon came that the alien battleship at Tsushima Island had fallen prey to a single Driller. The South Korean forces had launched hundreds of stealth Drillers towards Tsushima and one of them had found its mark.

    The Japanese were in the process of fielding two squads of BGS troops who would be busy wreaking havoc amongst the invading ground forces. Their only hope of survival lay with the new BGS as the invading force would otherwise finish the task that it had begun.

    In the nearby battle of Alberta, Calgary had finally succumbed to the attacking force which had then moved on towards Edmonton. Again, I requested to fly to their aid, but was again denied. It was like watching some stranger assaulting your neighbor while you were not allowed to intervene. I had quickly learned that war was not for the weak of heart or mind and that sometimes you had to fight every instinct you might have, because someone else up the chain of command supposedly knew better.

    As we watched on with dejected looks on our faces, we soon got the reason for our orders. Again, the jammers surfaced in Puget Sound and our sensor screens went white. Thousands of skimmers surfaced and raced for the shores. I pushed hard on the throttle and engaged the enemy within seconds.

    But this time the enemy came prepared. Fighter after fighter emerged from the waters behind the skimmers. The skies were soon flooded and our attentions were turned to the larger craft. We had 20 Defenders and one GAF. Within minutes the aliens had us outnumbered by ten to one.

    I dove hard and knocked out the jammers in one fast sweep. Command soon unleashed the 66 mini-Drillers and our tactical screens were full of blips running wildly in every direction. The coil guns that remained from the initial invasion fired non-stop.

    The alien fighters continued to surface and the odds against our defense continued to grow. As I piloted our GAF through and around the alien hordes Randy smashed fighter after fighter. The numbers were overwhelming and our small Defender force was being picked off one by one.

    Our numbers dropped quickly from 20 to five to two. Our shields had taken numerous hits with some as high as 90%, but they had continued to hold. Randy had 17 kills and his numbers were climbing, but our defeat in Seattle was inevitable. As I turned and twisted and fired our gravity pulse gun we took three hard hits knocking two of our BHDs offline.

    We were ordered to retreat southward to Tacoma where we would join a force coming north from Portland. The skimmers continued their destruction moving slowly outward from Puget Sound as the alien fighters had complete control of the skies. With the new forces from Portland, our numbers would not be sufficient to stop the alien advance.

    The skies over Seattle, Victoria and Vancouver were ruled by more than 400 alien fighters. The thousands of alien skimmers moved ever outward crushing everything in their path. The northwestern cities had been reduced to rubble and more than 12 million citizens had perished. But that paled in comparison to the 137 million lives lost in the Philippines. Death tolls around the world were climbing rapidly.

    When the annihilation of the Seattle area was complete, the invading forces returned to the waters of Puget Sound. I then received orders to fall back to the hangars at Long Beach to affect repairs. Within minutes I set the GAF down and maintenance crews began their work.

    As we awaited word that our GAF was once again at full strength Shepard remarked that Edmonton had fallen and the enemy forces were now heading southward across the eastern Alberta plains towards Montana. The fighter support for the alien ground force had been reduced to 72 from its original numbers.

    Again I requested orders to take several squadrons to attack the invaders and again my request was denied. It was maddening to sit idly by while lives were lost but such were the emotional struggles of war. It was a dark time for all of Mankind.

    The alien forces from the Philippines and Australia had combined and were expected to overtake Indonesia by the afternoon. The aliens were relentless in their attack and complete in their destruction.

    The forces from the Black and Caspian Seas were cutting a wide swath through western China. The use of tactical nuclear missiles had been attempted repeatedly with each occurrence resulting in the weapons being knocked from the sky before detonation. The aliens learned our tactics fast and quickly countered those which were effective.

    When the green light on our repairs was given we prepared to fly back to Portland to join with our new command. As the rear door of our GAF closed a tech yelled at me to turn around. When I did I was surprised by a package striking me in the chest. When opened Randy had to ask about my broad smile. It was one of the new BGS gloves with the micro BHD. My BGS suit was now fully up to date.

    After pulling on the new glove I was given command of 14 Defenders out of our force of 46. Once in Portland it took no time for me to introduce myself and to organize our two squads by experience. Three Defenders had seen battle while the rest were barely out of training.

    Hours passed as we sat idle over Portland. The invading force in North America had crossed into Montana and continued their deadly assault on anything human that was in their path. When my frustration had reached a peak the orders finally came in for my detachment to move to a rallying point over Yellowstone National Park. A force of 35 Defenders was being moved up from Denver to join our ranks.

    We arrived in Yellowstone within minutes and began organizing for our assault. My team would head east towards Sheridan while the Denver squads headed north to Bozeman. We would attack the invaders over Lewis & Clark National Forest, but only after Great Falls had met with its demise.

    When our next great air war began the alien fighters had again been reduced in numbers. We had the advantage and it quickly began to show. Eight alien fighters soon fell to the Earth. I was again dismayed when the order came in to pull back. I rolled and Randy fired damaging two more fighters as we turned towards our new destination in Helena.

    When the last Defender had moved out of the area the alien forces once again regrouped and moved towards the southeast. As they crossed into the valleys around Martinsdale I was stunned when four large nuclear weapons were detonated at once. The nukes were placed on the ground in the path of the incoming invaders and detonated once they were within their midst.

    We were ordered back to finish the job as the mushroom clouds boiled up into the skies. The alien forces had been reduced by two-thirds. Within hours we would once again have complete control of the North American continent. It would be a small victory on the world stage but a victory none the less.

    The neutron bombs used in the explosion had a half-life of only months. Within two years the area would once again be safe for Man to inhabit. The residents of Martinsdale had been relocated before the warheads had gone off. It was a brilliant move by our Tacticians and Battle Planners. The American breadbasket would once again be secure if only for a short while.

    As we moved in to mop up the remaining forces the subsurface attack force once again appeared on the northwest coast. The skimmers and fighters had resurfaced in Coos Bay and were making their way up through Oregon towards Eugene. I winced when the 35 Defenders from Denver were ordered to return to base. With more than 400 alien fighters our force of 46 Defenders was once again outnumbered and outgunned.

    By the time we regrouped in Portland and headed south towards Salem the invaders had already overwhelmed Eugene. Again it was disheartening to know that another quarter million souls had lost their lives. As we raced into battle I gave our crew another talk.

    I talked of how these were our people that were being killed and our homes that were being destroyed. I talked of how we had attempted reasoning with the invaders to no avail and how righteousness was on our side. We would go after these destroyers of Man with a vengeance. We would turn the tides of this war when the last of the alien craft had fogged itself. When I looked around the cabin it was not at faces of despair, but at faces of determination. I then turned my focus back to the tactical screens.

    We met the invading force head on just south of Salem. The fertile valley was under assault by 412 alien fighters and 4,255 skimmers. I pushed the throttle and raced into harm's way as Randy again repeatedly fired our coil guns. We weaved and bobbed, dove and climbed, looped and swirled in and amongst the alien fighter force offering them nothing but death and destruction.

    Our success was an inspiration to the other pilots as we quickly claimed five kills. The battle south of Salem had raged for nearly an hour when we took our first hard hit. We had lost two of our port sensors making us nearly blind on that side. Shepard patched in feeds from the other Defenders, but the computer struggled to keep up with the ever changing information.

    We soon took another hard hit and then another. A third sensor had been lost along with two BHD rings. I tried my best to regain an edge, but our shots were missing and my timing was off. When a fourth and then a fifth direct hit took out two more BHDs I turned and ran for safety.

    We crossed over Santium Forest and settled in a small valley by Detroit Lake. Our remaining sensors picked up two alien fighters coming our way, but we were in no condition to fight. I found a steep embankment and used our remaining BHDs to drill into a hillside. Once fifty meters from the opening I shut down the systems in an attempt to avoid detection.

    The alien craft passed directly overhead and then moved slowly outward as if in a search pattern. Ten minutes of searching continued before the fighters turned and headed back to battle. When the surrounding area was deemed safe I opened the rear hatch and walked the 50 meters of the new stone and dirt tunnel to daylight. Our fighting was done until such time as we could affect repairs.

    Our Defenders and the light coil guns around Salem put up a fierce fight. It had taken the aliens more than two hours to crush that defense and once again move towards Portland. Shepard and Raven worked the ship’s computer in an attempt to repair or bypass our damaged sensors, but it was of no use. We would have to return to a maintenance hangar.

    We were only minutes from Long Beach using the BHD, but we were damaged and the alien attack force was still nearby. Randy then joined me as we looked out across the small valley from our tunnel opening. He then looked down at my glove and then up at my face. He didn't have to utter a word.

    I activated the skin of my suit and balled my fist. From Randy's perspective I had vanished into thin air, from mine I was now flying through the air following my fist as I went. With the active skin of the BGS there was no inertia to contend with. When I turned my wrist I was immediately taken in that direction. Within minutes I was zooming about as if it had been in my genetics since birth.

    I contacted Command from my QE comm and told my commander that I was returning to battle in the BGS. I was passing command of our ship to Shepard and was asking that every effort be made to get my crew back to the hangars in Long Beach. Command confirmed and wished me luck.

    The micro BHD did not move at the extreme speeds of a full drive. But it would allow you to attack the ground forces of the invaders at-will. I followed the highway back into Salem and then turned north towards the horde of alien skimmers.

    The skimmers had the appearance of a short flat bus. They moved about 20 meters off the ground firing two gravity weapons from either side as they went. The first skimmer I came upon had minor damage and had been moved to the back of the invading force.

    I landed gently on the transparent roof and looked down at the five squids manning its posts. Four were gunners while the fifth was a pilot. I stomped hard on the roof of the skimmer until one of the squids turned its four eyes upwards to look. Before it could react I used my gravity pulse pistol to blast a hole in the roof the size of a basketball and then another hole through the bottom. The concussion knocked the squids out and their chariot tilted hard to the left and headed for the ground.

    I again activated the skin of my BGS and flew to the next closest skimmer. Two more blasts and it was off to the next. It only took moments for the aliens to attempt to counter my efforts, but they had no good response to my disappearing and then reappearing elsewhere. I was like a ghost attacker for which they had no defense.

    I continued my bloodthirsty assault on skimmer after skimmer, each time deriving a great deal of pleasure from the looks on what I perceived to be their faces. I continued my rampage for half an hour before the first 100 skimmers had fallen victim to my vengeance. I then got a flash of the alien nursery in my head.

    These aliens were unlike us in almost every way and yet I somehow had a small level of anxiety running interference with my thoughts. What if these squids were just following orders? What if they had thoughts and feelings just like us? What if my indiscriminate and merciless killing, even if during battle, what if it was wrong? I pushed those thoughts to the dark recesses of my mind and continued on with the kill.

    As we hit the outskirts of Portland my kills had surpassed 300. The aliens soon adopted a tactic of firing their gravity weapon just over the top of their adjoining skimmers in an attempt to catch me when my skin was inactive.

    I had noticed the tactic as one of the first shots annihilated a blackbird flying just above the skimmer I was about to land on. I quickly changed my tactics to land on the ground below and behind the skimmer and to fire my pulse pistol upward.

    The skimmers then adapted to also pummel the ground in a random series of blasts in the hopes of getting that one in a million shot. I again adjusted my tactics to deactivate and then to fire in mid-air. My relentless and uninhibited killing of the squid forces began to take its toll.

    The aliens began to move their skimmers in tight pods where their weapons were much less affective. I continued to fly in and around the invaders killing at-will. I had again adapted my tactics to wait until I sensed a gravity pulse in my direction and then to fire immediately when it ended.

    The big guns at Portland were effective for a time, but one by one they were taken down by the skimmers. By the time Portland had fallen the aliens had lost half of their subsurface fighting force. I had taken down more than a thousand skimmers and with them their crews.

    With Portland in ruin the remaining skimmer force turned and headed back towards the Pacific. The 227 fighters continued northward to finish off Tacoma. I pushed hard with my glove, but I could not keep up with either force. Tacoma soon met with the same fate as had Seattle, Portland and Eugene.

    With Tacoma finished the alien fighters returned to the depths of the Pacific to rejoin their skimmer force. I headed back towards my crew and the tunnel I had dug with our GAF. They were gone.

    I then realized I had not checked in with Command since my killing spree had begun. My commander listened in disbelief at my story. They knew the aliens had been losing a high number of skimmers, but they did not know why. My adapted tactics were soon sent around the globe to the other BGS fighters. I had hopes we were onto something big, something useful to our weak defenses, something that could turn the war back in our favor.

    The remaining alien skimmers in Montana had continued their southern trek overwhelming the forces defending Casper Wyoming and were quickly approaching Cheyenne. From there it would only be a short run to Denver. But the alien invaders were not prepared for the BGS squad moving north from Colorado Springs.

    A dozen Marines who had no qualms about killing squids were in route to the front lines. Command had quickly passed on my tactics. Denver committed another 50 Defenders and for the first time since its landing the alien force was finally losing and losing big. The dozen BGS Marines wasted no time with their highly efficient methods and the newly adopted tactics.

    With the tides of war turned squarely against the invaders they turned in retreat and sought refuge in the depths of Grayrocks Reservoir. The BGS Marines were not far behind and the bloodbath that followed was one that would no doubt be talked about for centuries. Centuries of Man's history that had yet to be written, if we were to survive.

    Two more squads of BGS marines were then loaded onto transports on the East Coast and sent to San Francisco. If the next alien invasion came we would be prepared to defend. Our factories were now turning out more than 100 updated BGS suits a day and training camps were being setup to accommodate the new force.

    Defenders were stripped of much of their insides and setup as fast transports to move the BGS Marines into battle where needed. Our Tacticians and Battle Planners now had a formidable weapon with which to counter the invaders. Plans were being put into place of how to best deliver decisive blows.

    I was soon met by my crew with a repaired and reloaded GAF. I begged Command to send us into battle. My crew would take me in close and I would do the rest. This time the orders came down as desired. With a heavy burst of our BHD we were soon setting down in Brazil near the alien force that continued to devastate the Brazilian croplands.

    Ten minutes later I was hard at work destroying skimmer after skimmer. I had not slept in more than 72 hours, but I felt as full of energy as I had ever been. The stimulants of my BGS and my highly conditioned body had given me the ability to fight non-stop. I didn't need sleep, I didn't need food and I didn't need breaks for the restroom. Man had never seen a soldier such as me.

    I was soon joined by the squad of BGS Marines who had defeated the ground force north of Cheyenne. We pushed the limits of what our suits would allow and soon had the alien forces retreating. Their fighters circled helplessly overhead having nothing to add to their defense.

    When the skimmer force had finally escaped our wrath their numbers had been reduced from the thousands to several hundred. We were picked up by our transports and headed to the coastline where they had initially deployed from. The skimmers were gone; the alien fighters gone and the alien destroyer gone, vanished into the vastness of the Atlantic Ocean.

    They disappeared deep into the Atlantic where our sensors could not detect them. Our acoustic capabilities were the best they had ever been, but the aliens were a water species and their technologies somehow allowed then to move under the waves without detection. The fog of war was vast and deep.

    We soon received new orders to head to Tokyo after a refit in San Francisco. Command had a new addition to make to our micro BHD glove. The Japanese had been in a slow torturous battle for their homeland with Osaka finally succumbing to the relentless onslaught. Nagano was in danger of falling with Tokyo next in line.

    The Japanese BGS fighters had not been as effective as our Marines. The alien forces had locked in on their micro BHDs and had picked them off one by one. If not for the fierce determination of the conventional forces the nation of Japan would have already fallen.

    With our Brazilian operation complete we headed back to San Francisco for our updates. When we were over the skies of the bay Shepard let out a yell. There was a giant swell of water moving into the mouth of the bay with another one a kilometer or so behind.

    The island of Alcatraz was soon inundated with huge waves which spread rapidly outward. Fisherman's Wharf was quickly underneath 20 meters of water. The swell spread throughout the bay area washing over everything in its path.

    The second swell followed soon after the first, pushing the walls of water further inland. Alameda, Oakland, Berkeley and Richmond perished in heavy flood. Waters ten meters deep spread as far south as Fremont and Sunnyvale. In less than twenty minutes, more than five million souls were lost in the Bay area.

    The aliens had devastated the lowlands surrounding the bay without risking any of their troops. Word spread around the globe and the immediate evacuation of coastal cities was begun. Only minutes after San Francisco fell victim to the alien tsunami, Hong Kong and Shenzhen suffered the same fate with another 8 million lives taken. Within an hour Kuching and Brunei in Malaysia were engulfed by walls of saltwater destruction.

    The aliens had a new strategy that we had no counter for. The alien forces attacking Japan soon turned and dove deep into the Sea of Japan, abandoning their assault on Nagano. But the tsunamis brought a new threat to their citizens. Anxieties changed from a fear of death by crushing to a fear of death by flood and drowning.

    The seventeen million citizens of Tokyo were racing northward towards the hills of Kamagaya. Authorities feared it was only a matter of time before an alien tsunami would strike. The tides of war had once again turned and this time the invaders held the advantage.
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    With the Bay area devastated we were sent southward to the hangars at Long Beach. When we landed a team of technicians boarded and soon surrounded my chair. An extension was added to my glove that partially surrounded the BHD with an active skin. The alien forces in Japan had used detection of the BHD to track and annihilate the BGS Marines there.

    The new BHD shield would limit detection to when the BHD was aimed directly at an alien craft. Our new instructions were to fly at angles at all times or risk the same fate as the Japanese warriors. It did not take much to convince me.

    The Marine BGS squad that had fought so fiercely in Brazil was soon sent around the world to the Chinese mainland. The Black and Caspian Sea forces continued their ruthless destruction of the croplands of China. The Marines engaged the enemy and within minutes began to lose soldiers. The BHD shields were only partially effective.

    The Marines continued their assault, altering their tactics. They would lay in wait on the ground until the enemy was within range. They would strike hard and then fly off always heading away from their foe. The adjustment limited their exposure, but greatly reduced their ability to fight.

    The invaders abandoned their quest and raced to the security of the South China Sea. The eight remaining Marines in the BGS squad were soon landing in Long Beach. Debriefings followed with tactics discussed and again sent around the globe.

    For an hour there was silence. The alien forces were hidden in the oceans. Evacuations continued and arguments ensued as to how best to counter the devastating tsunami threat. I waited with my team circling low over the city. The silence did not last long.

    The next wave of assaults started with Da Nang, Nha Trang and Ho Chi Minh City. Twenty-two million Vietnamese citizens were lost as wave after wave washed deep into the coastal cities. Singapore saw the next assault where nine million of their citizens became victims of a violent wall of water.

    I again yelled at Command to give me orders to attack, but there was nothing to target. The aliens remained hidden behind their liquid curtain. A major swell was soon detected off Malibu. I watched in horror as it slowly rolled towards Santa Monica and downtown Los Angeles.

    My attention was then turned to my tactical screen with a single green blip screaming down from the mountains near Angeles National Forest. The blip quickly passed the incoming swell and then detonated in a bright flash and fireball directly over the area the swell had originated from.

    My tactical screen showed an alert of a similar explosion off the coast of Singapore and Ho Chi Minh City. The fireball rolled up quickly into a mushroom cloud and the nuclear alerts on our screens showed red. We then received orders to go to and dive down at ground zero. Command wanted to know if our new tactic had been successful.

    The first swell that was generated by the aliens came ashore from Santa Monica south to Torrance. A 10 meter tall wall of water washed inland annihilating everything within a kilometer of the coastline. A second smaller swell generated by the blast followed but the outgoing wash from the first countered its destructive power, leaving the remaining lowlands unscathed.

    As I approached ground zero I had to pull up hard to avoid the green fog that was bubbling to the surface. Shepard then reminded me that with our active skin the green fog would have no effect. Command soon determined the nuclear strikes to be as deadly to the aliens as their tsunamis had been to us.

    The Singapore strike had taken out an alien cruiser and two alien destroyers. The strike off L.A. another destroyer and the Ho Chi Minh bomb another cruiser and two more destroyers. The alien forces attacking our world had been cut in half. The enemy's aggression again went silent.

    I had to marvel at the thought of our old conventional weapons being the ones that were most useful against our alien foe. They could hide unseen in the ocean's depths but they could not hide from the violent concussion released from a one megaton neutron warhead. The ocean waters carried the shock and delivered a deadly blow.

    As we patrolled over the skies of Long beach a full day passed without any further attacks. I had been on station for nearly 72 hours without rest but my spirits were energized and my body strong. Word then came of the alien fleet exiting the central Pacific waters and shooting skyward. I received orders to shadow their departure.

    I pushed the throttle to full and within seconds I had video of the enemy on my holo-screen. Our sensors returned a count of one cruiser, two destroyers and four carriers. The heavily reduced alien fleet was followed by 5,168 fighters.

    The alien fleet joined the mega-ship and carriers at a position about twice the distance of the Moon from the Earth. We stayed far away and let our sensors do the dirty work. Command followed up with orders to observe and report.

    The populations of the world began the grizzly task of locating and identifying the dead. The initial tally came in at over 500 million of our brothers and sisters. Many of our major cities had been devastated or completely destroyed, but we had held.

    We had held against a superior force, making use of our ability to reason and adapt. I wondered what the carnage would have been like had the mega-ship joined in on the attacks. Whole cities would have been at its mercy from a distance beyond the reach of our guns.

    The west coast of the United States had been hit hard, but much of the rest spared. My grandfather and parents had not had to endure the terrors of the Northwest. I took a moment to imagine the quiet peaceful beauty of the farm, of a warm spring breeze coming in from newly planted fields.

    I then began a discussion with my team about all that had transpired. We talked of hundreds of millions of our citizens who had been killed. We talked of our changing tactics and the BGS with a BHD. We then moved to the topic of neutron bombs.

    It was an aging weapon whose only purpose had been the continuing threat of mutual destruction. This day, one of the most hated, feared and least used weapons in our history had probably saved Mankind.

    We then talked of what the aliens might do next. Would it be a new assault utilizing the powerful beam of the mega-ship? Would they come up with something entirely new? Or, would they turn and head back towards Epsilon Eridani?

    As the discussion continued I again began to dream about home. I was growing weary of the death and destruction of war. I had seen incredible sights and had accomplished fantastic tasks, but the excitement was beginning to fade. I then began to think of Zack.

    My mind wondered about what it would be like to have a real date with the young man that had captured my fancy, if for only a brief meeting. Would he be a gentleman? Would he be kind and attentive? Would he be strong and forceful if the circumstances called for it?

    I then came to the realization that I was dreaming about life, a life that had been foreign to me since joining the Corps. I leaned back in my chair twirling my finger on the armrest as my mind wondered. My life had been anything but living.

    The alien vessels sat motionless for weeks while Earth licked her wounds. Our factories continued to churn out weapons and our teams of Defender crews continued to train. The alien threat still loomed large on our tactical screen, but it somehow seemed diminished. Little did we know that our cheery outlook would soon change.
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    As we sat on station observing our foe, nearly two months had passed. The alien fleet continued to sit idle with the only activity being a number of fighters on patrol. During our daily discussion Randy spoke of how much enjoyment he would derive by being aboard one of the alien ships in our new BGS. I switched on my QE comm and made the suggestion to Command. To my surprise the order came back to use my discretion.

    We talked out the possibilities of getting on-board. We could not drift with our ship as the aliens knew how to detect us. Shepard soon came up with a solution. We would fly our GAF in the direction of the Moon where I would exit the rear door and begin to drift.

    She had worked out the calculations and angles needed for me to use the Moon's gravitational pull to slingshot around towards the alien fleet in my BGS. It would take 22 hours of drifting in space to reach our foe. I would only use my glove hand BHD when I had arrived at the alien fleet, to stop my forward progress.

    There was one big drawback to Shepard's plan. If I missed passing through one of the big ships I would have to continue drifting for five days before I could be safely picked up. I didn't hesitate to punch in the waypoint numbers and set the speed of our GAF to that which Shepard had derived.

    I then rose from my chair and changed out my power, food and filter packs. I took a second full power pack and slid it into a zippered pocket on my right thigh. Shepard did a thorough scan of my suit and weapon as a last check of preparedness. Both were in perfect order.

    I turned command over to Shepard and moved to the rear hatch. A low buzzing sound on the holo-display told us when the time had come. The active skin of the ship shut down, the hatch opened and I stepped out into the void of space without a tether. As the rear hatch closed I looked longingly at my team and at my ship disappearing when the active skin re-enabled.

    The hours floating seemed endless as I watched a counter ticking down on my helmet display. But the lonely hours soon passed. I could feel the pull of the Moon's gravity with the active skin of my BGS set at its lowest level, where mass and inertia still had an effect.

    When I rounded the Moon an alert flashed in my helmet display that it was time to set my active skin to full. I now had 17 hours to drift before reaching the fleet. I entered seven hours of sleep into my suit parameters and was soon unconscious.

    When the stimulants kicked in I was wide awake in seconds. I had ten long hours left to contemplate my existence. I thought of my grandfather and how he and my parents were now safe from the invaders. I thought of what I might do when I reached my target. I wondered what carnage I could bring forth when face to face with our enemy.

    I then thought of Zack and what being in his arms might feel like. The hours passed quickly as I drifted and dreamed. The counter ticked down and I soon had a visual of the enemy fleet. As I floated ever closer I began to get nervous about what might come.

    Would I somehow be detected and crushed before reaching my target? Would I be captured and the BGS and QE comm technology compromised? Would I float inside one of the ships and then freeze up not knowing what to do? The questions kept coming as my anxiety level rose.

    I prayed hard for the strength and determination to perform to the best of my abilities. The ships were immense and crowded with the enemy and I was but one soldier. I determined that I was aligned with the lone cruiser as its dark gray outer walls quickly approached.

    I passed through into the interior which was lit brightly with the bright green color of seawater. I was in a giant hangar that had row after row of the small alien craft floating at the ready. The occasional squid swam past on their way to perform some daily task. I continued to drift inward towards a bulkhead and whatever may lie beyond.

    As I looked about there were sub-tugs pulling long chains of containers. There were workers moving about and there were thousands and thousands of the alien fighting craft. I was then startled when a squid swam through me from behind swimming in the same direction as I drifted.

    It was a graceful animal in its habitat and its bright green skin and brown spots gave it a friendly if not cartoonish appearance. I wondered if our foe could one day be our friend. I wondered if they could be persuaded to leave in peace. I then patched my QE comm through to Command and back to Shepard on-board our GAF.

    I sent a message requesting a download to my suit computer of the latest translation work from our linguistics specialist. I had no intention of talking to the enemy, but I wanted to be prepared if I needed to know what they were saying. When the download was complete I switched on a passive audio sensor and listened for any sounds in the waters around me.

    I was soon enthralled at attempting to discern the meaning of a broken conversation by two squids as I drifted nearby. They were talking of battle and of the wonders they had seen. They talked of the richness of our oceans. I imagined it was much like a conversation our own troops might have had if the rolls of our species had been reversed.

    As I passed into and through the first bulkhead I was startled at what lay beyond, thousands upon thousands of sleeping squid. They were bunched together in pods of more than a dozen each. I had the sudden urge to start blasting, but I thought the intel being sent to Command over my video link might be a better use of my time.

    I soon came to another bulkhead and when I passed through I came into an aquarium teaming with sea-life from our oceans. I then had no doubt that they were studying our planet for occupation. Once through the aquarium the next section was set up for industrial work. The squids in this chamber moved about carrying materials and assembling the beginnings of what looked like more of the skimmers they had used in their assaults.

    The chamber that followed had aquarium after aquarium of strange sea creatures and kelp like forests. The creatures appeared to be two distinct types of fish. One moved slow and was fat with big bulging eyes while the other, eel-like in appearance, squirmed about in massive pods darting from one location to another.

    As I watched, a bale of the kelp plants was released among the eels followed by a pod of eels being released among the slow fat fish. I reasoned that I was witness to the alien's food chain where the fat fish would soon be made into meals for the squid masses.

    When I then floated through a bulkhead to the next chamber I was aghast at what moved into my view. Row after row of glass bubbles lined the walls of this chamber and in each bubble was a human. My psyche was again shaken when one of the human captives moved.

    I was now faced with a dilemma. If I was to start blasting squids would they retaliate against their captives? And, if I were to reach the inner workings of the reactor core of the cruiser would I have the nerve to try to destroy it knowing these men and women would perish by my hand?

    In a moment of panic I verbally asked the question of Command "What should I do?" Until that moment my communications with Command had been digital texts silently sent across the QE comm. But, my voice was anything but silent and soon drew the attention of every squid scientist in the chamber.

    They were soon swimming circles around my location while looking at what appeared to be electronic gadgets of some sort. One of them uttered a word that I could only imagine was an expletive as they all turned at once and fled.

    With my cover blown I enabled my BHD and headed towards what I expected to be the center of the ship. After a short BHD micro-burst I again drifted silently, now in a new direction. The next chamber was a corridor with yellow lights flashing on the walls in either direction. Groups of squids swam quickly past carrying some type of small arms weapons. I was sure they were being scrambled to the research lab to deal with my detection.

    I drifted through the wall of the next chamber and again encountered something unexpected. It was a large room filled with air. I checked my sensors and it was breathable, but with high levels of sulfur. The smell would be repulsive like the volcanic steam vents found on Earth, but it was breathable none the less.

    A humanoid type alien then entered the room with five smaller but similar creatures in tow. It was over two meters in height with a yellow scaly skin and six bright white eyes. The smaller creatures hopped and shoved and squealed at one another in a high pitched tone. It was evident they were offspring of the larger creature.

    The yellow humanoid had an anxious appearance to it as if worried. My conscious thoughts told me that it indeed should be worried, worried that its life was at an end, worried that its children would not survive the wrath of the intruder that had infiltrated their ship.

    As I looked around the room it appeared to be opulent, adorned with shiny bobbles and soft cloths. The humanoid was dressed in bright red apparel. Its long shining golden hair protruded from the multitudes of bumpy nodules on its head. The adult then herded the youngsters into a corner area, sat in a blue chair and looked downward at them.

    Two more of its kind then entered the room. They had a gruff appearance to them that spoke of soldiering. Each had a bright blue uniform and carried a weapon in their hands. A gold belt that stretched from the right shoulder down around the left waist was adorned with what looked like medals on the chest. The belt held several shiny hand weapons at hip level that looked ornamental but sharp and deadly.

    The humanoids then spoke in a language unlike that of the squids. The verbal sounds were guttural, made with grunts and hisses. I soon passed through the room and into another corridor, again filled with sulfur filled breathable air.

    The corridor was occupied by several more of the humanoid soldiers and a squad of squids with the bubble helmets stood at attention in front of them. The soldiers were busily barking orders at their bright green underlings.

    I drifted through the next wall into a much larger room about the size of a school gymnasium, rows of displays filled the room with light and beeps and buzzes with sound. The displays were manned by helmeted squids as a dozen humanoid taskmasters walked about pointing and giving commands.

    As I drifted a voice soon came over the QE comm from Command telling me to open fire. Our Tacticians and Battle Planners had determined the room to be a vital target. I immediately let loose with a gravity pulse gun in one hand and a small coil gun in the other.

    Debris began to fly in every direction as pellets from the coil gun ripped through their targets. The gravity pulse weapon smashed into the countless terminals sending squid bodies high into the air of the simulated gravity aboard the alien cruiser.

    Only seconds after my assault began it came to a quick end. The alien cruiser began to move sending me backwards through one bulkhead after another. I contained my firing just as the ship moved out away from me, leaving me floating in the dead of space.

    The cruiser was followed by the remaining alien fleet and was headed back towards Earth. Ten minutes after I had begun my assault, the alien fleet screamed downward through Earth's atmosphere, stopping just short of the ground near Jackson, Mississippi.

    I watched the tactical screen on my helmet display as I aimed my BHD glove back towards Earth and began the long journey home. I was soon met by my team and brought back aboard our GAF. We were heading back into battle.

    The guns at Jackson were overwhelmed by the thousands of alien fighters. The alien mega-ship, cruiser and two destroyers unloaded their cargoes and the squids once again began their ground assaults.

    More than 200,000 skimmers moved outward from the ruins of Jackson and soon turned northward. The more than 5,000 remaining alien fighters were backed up by another 5,000 from the alien mega-ship. As the fleet began its move northward the mega-ship used its long range capability to take out our coil gun emplacements half a state away.

    Again, everything human was smashed and destroyed as the aliens advanced. This time the cruiser and destroyers joined in the fight. Their long range weapons taking out coil gun emplacements to either side of the advancing army.

    I accelerated to full and soon came down over east Alabama near my grandfather's farm. The aliens were a state away and moving northward. We were told to join an air-wing of 72 fighters in the ruins of Atlanta and await orders. Again, I had difficulty holding back the urge to race into battle.

    As the alien fleet annihilated everything in its path, two dozen green blips appeared on our tactical screen. They were racing towards the alien fleet. Just as suddenly as the blips had appeared they went silent. The mega-ship hovering just above and behind the ground assault was taking out every threat moving in its direction.

    The advancing army stopped just short of a now flattened Tupelo, Mississippi. The mega-ship moved up to 50,000 meters and began firing its ultra-powerful gravity weapon to the southwest. Within an hour Birmingham, Alabama lay in ruin from a weapon fired from nearly 250 kilometers away.

    Word soon came from Memphis of a similar attack. On our tactical screens the alien ground forces were dispersing to the east and the west forming a skirmish line. Soon after Memphis lay in ruin the alien assault resumed its trek northward crushing everything in its path.

    The alien cruiser and 14 alien carriers moved in tandem with the mega-ship from the center of the skirmish line. The two destroyers took up position near the line ends and were firing their gravity weapons continuously destroying everything for 50 kilometers out to either side. The thousands of circling fighters were flying cover for the advancing force.

    We then received orders to move all Defenders and GAFs to Indianapolis. As we lifted off I took note of other activity on our tactical screens. The Tacticians and Battle Planners were attempting to use the same stealth nuke strategy that had been used at Martinsdale.

    The stealth nukes were being placed every 20 kilometers in a line stretching from Jonesboro, Arkansas to Dyersburg, Tennessee. Evacuations were well underway. When we arrived at Indianapolis we were joined by a force of more than 400 Defenders and 12 GAFs.

    The Defenders slowly moved into a formation that placed a ship every half kilometer going six ships deep. The other GAFs took up position on the left flank. I hesitated to join their ranks. When a second order came in to assemble I reluctantly looked back at my team. Something did not feel right. We had no weapons or strategies that were affective against the mega-ship. I could find no logical reason for the commands being given.

    It was not the first time I had questioned our tactics. But, again I didn't have all the information. I didn't know what our plans might be. So, I pushed easily forward on the throttle to move us into position.

    The Defenders on the right flank suddenly began to lose their shields and explode as their reactors detonated. The alien mega-ship had targeted our assembly and was firing from more than 600 kilometers away. Even with the atmosphere running interference, the alien weapon was too powerful for our shields. By the time the order to disperse was given, 64 Defenders and their crews had met their end.

    The alien skirmish line soon turned into an arc and continued its push north spreading outward as it went. Our enemy was cutting a 400 kilometer wide swath through America's heartland. Our hopes were now pinned on the silent nukes that lay in wait. But those hopes were soon dashed as the mega-ship turned its weapon on the areas where the nukes had been deployed. In 20 minutes, our only hope had been crushed by the superior power of the alien gravity beam.

    Our Defender force was moved to Roanoke Virginia where we had the protection of the Appalachian Mountains as the alien weapon was only effective with line-of-sight. It felt cowardly to hide away while millions of our citizens were being killed and our homes destroyed.

    The alien fleet continued to advance in an arc that stretched from Springfield, Missouri to Evansville, Indiana. Evacuating vehicles were smashed on the roadways as they fled. Many had abandoned their cars to run into the nearby fields to hide. Many had given up and stayed huddled in their homes awaiting a quick but horrible death.

    The tears welled up in my eyes and the anger in my heart. Was this the way the Earth was going to fall? Was this the way Man had chosen to end his fight? How long did I have before my loved ones became victims of the crushing alien attacks? How long did I have before our remaining forces were rounded up and put to death?

    I had a full complement of 64 Drillers at the ready. I had a ship that could travel faster than light. I had a suit that allowed me to move about invisibly and yet these all seemed useless against our superior foe.

    When the alien forces had destroyed St. Louis, Missouri they turned decidedly northwest. They were heading for the vast cornfields of Iowa. Their starvation strategy was once again coming to light.

    The anger in my heart grew until such time as I could no longer control it. I turned our GAF upward and shot into the sky and soon into the black space beyond. I arced our craft and re-entered the atmosphere near Hudson Bay in Canada. Shepard asked what I had in mind.

    The screams from my commander rang hollow in my audio implant. I soon switched off my QE comm. I knew I was once again disobeying orders, but I could not sit idly by any longer while our people were mercilessly slaughtered. I was taking the fight to the enemy.

    I told Randy to ready all 64 Drillers and that we would be going into battle. We could not fly to confront our enemy but we might have a chance at drilling. I pushed the throttle hard and did a flip near Minneapolis while hugging close to the ground.

    I set down just north of Des Moines, Iowa and turned our GAF downward. The BHD cut quickly into the rich farm soil and we were soon a kilometer underground. I leveled out and pushed the throttle full, heading southward. The BHD silently cut a tunnel through the Earth.

    I stopped just south of Des Moines and began circling tightly to cut a small chamber out of the bedrock. When complete, I pushed upwards, drilling a tunnel towards the surface. I stopped short by 5 meters so as not to give away our position to the approaching enemy.

    I flipped again and returned to our newly dug chamber. I then began to drill another tunnel towards the surface at a slightly different angle. The process was repeated until eight tunnels lead upwards and outwards coming just shy of the surface.

    Shepard again asked what I had in mind. I told her we would wait in silence for the alien force to begin passing overhead. When our foe was directly above Randy would be given the go-ahead to launch all Drillers. We would then turn and head safely northward through the tunnel that we had initially come through. With a little luck, we would be able to bring damage to our enemy or at least perhaps slow them down.

    We sat patiently, waiting until the sensors told the story of the destruction of Des Moines by the mega-ship. An hour later the ground above once again rumbled as the alien attack force moved overhead. I turned and gave Randy the order. Our 64 Drillers departed going eight to a tunnel while screaming towards the surface, drilling the final 5 meters of earth before breaking free. It was a surprise from below that the aliens were not prepared for.

    The Drillers emerged into several pods of alien skimmers and quickly did their worst. The progress of the attacking fleet was halted as chaos consumed the skimmers. The alien fighters circled helplessly overhead as their ground forces below attempted to scatter and run.

    In the commotion and chaos that ensued one of the Drillers soon found its mark in the alien cruiser. Minutes later the cruiser exploded in a bright flash, sending shards of debris in every direction, taking out a number of fighters and hundreds of skimmers just below. A green fog soon blanketed the area.

    The mega-ship pounded the ground positions where the Drillers had emerged from but to no avail, we were long gone. I then flipped on my QE comm and forwarded the video of what we had done to Command. Orders quickly went out to the remaining Defender fleet.

    Within an hour a second and third subsurface Driller attack had been launched and again the enemy took heavy casualties. The destroyers soon opened their doors and began loading skimmers. A fourth attack then took down one of the destroyers as it hovered just above the ground and loaded its cargo.

    Our strategy was working and the tides of war were once again turning in our favor. In a last effort to collect its forces, the alien mega-ship flew down the line of skimmers picking up crews as it went. When a Driller attack emerged in the line of skimmers in its path the mega-ship then turned skyward, followed by the 14 empty alien carriers, it was soon beyond the atmosphere.

    Defender crews from around the planet were soon called into battle against the 10,000 plus alien fighters. As Drillers filled the skies over the remaining Iowa corn fields the alien fighters soon abandoned the thousands of remaining ground forces in retreat, following after their command ship and carriers.

    Our attentions were soon focused on the more than 40,000 skimmers that had been left behind. The skimmer weapons were not powerful enough to overwhelm our shields. It was almost like shooting cattle in a fenced field. They had nowhere to run, nowhere to hide and no defense against our superior weapons. We were like crocodiles feeding on an animal who had lingered in the waterhole for too long. We were relentless and complete in our destruction.

    The final alien skimmer crews were given the opportunity to surrender, but they continued their fight to the death. I wondered if they themselves were only machines. I wondered what would motivate them to the point of dying so needlessly. Perhaps it was fear, perhaps it was their beliefs, perhaps it was in their culture to die fighting and never surrender. We then watched in disbelief as the final thousand alien skimmers grouped together and fogged themselves. When the last skimmer craft melted into nothing a cheer went up at Command.

    The alien mega-ship and its carriers and fighters regrouped in space at twice the distance of the Moon from the Earth. They moved randomly and the mega-ship made periodic sweeps with its gravity weapon to prevent another BGS incursion.

    Again Mankind had survived... survived to fight another day. In the attack another 146 million souls had perished, this time in the American heartland. Millions of acres of crops had been destroyed and everything human in the entire state of Missouri had been crushed.

    But, the aliens had once again been pushed back by an inferior force. We wondered what their next strategy would be. We wondered if we would somehow be able to counter it. We wondered if we would be able to overcome the potential annihilation of Man that still loomed in the heavens.

    Our scientists and other research personnel were poring over the videos of the newly discovered humanoid species. They appeared to be commanding the squids. I wondered if perhaps they were the key to ending this war.

    As we bandaged our fresh wounds, the alien force again sat idle for months. We had lost nearly a billion citizens since the arrival of the main alien fleet and we were facing the possibility of starvation for hundreds of millions more. Our factories continued to turn out fighting hardware and our citizens continued to train and to make repairs of what we could. I sat on station watching our foe and began to get that now familiar foreboding feeling.

    What were they planning? What terror would they bring next? What struggle would we have to fight to overcome and who were these new human like creatures? The alien mega-ship floated silently as we looked on. The moves that would come next were again ones that we had no way to prepare for and no way to fight. The few months of peace were blissful, but the tides of war would once again turn against us.
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    For months the citizens of Earth continued in their recovery efforts, but difficulties were mounting. Factories were at full production and supplies were becoming scarce. Food shortages were common and efforts to contain the unrest were at times insufficient. Man struggled to maintain his composure.

    Three times I had asked to take action against the alien fleet and three times I had been denied. I was angered and at the same time relieved when orders came in for my team to return to Lake Pleasant and the accommodations of Chamber #2. We had earned four days of rest and recuperation after 84 days straight of being at war. It was a liberty call I knew the crew was in need of.

    After touching down we were herded off to the med labs for an analysis of our BGS suits. Randy and Raven would be getting an upgrade while Shepard and I would be receiving a full analysis of our suit performances. As far as I was concerned they had worked flawlessly.

    When our checkout was complete we each made our way to our quarters. I laid back on my anti-grav mattress and placed a call to my family. It was evening in Alabama. Things back home were tough, supplies were in high demand and short supply and workers were still employed in the factories in the city, leaving farmers shorthanded during harvest time.

    My grandfather had been on the tractor for 10 hours straight trying to help my father bring in the corn. I wanted to return immediately, but the only available air-cab would not be free until morning. As always, my grandfather did not complain. Toiling in the fields was what made him happy.

    I checked the personnel logs and was disappointed to find that Zack was away visiting his family in Michigan and would not be returning until after my departure. Even though I looked forward to the short break from my crew I did not want to be alone. I rang up Randy, Raven and Shepard and we headed for the base pub.

    We drank into the wee hours of the morning, laughing, telling jokes and talking about our families and childhoods. Several hours had passed before we realized that our BGS suits were filtering the alcohol from our systems. Shepard pulled up a holo-display and checked the suit parameters. An adjustment was made to our filters and our evening of celebration continued.

    When our party had come to an end, I stumbled back to my quarters and laid back on the anti-grav mattress. I pulled up another holo-display and returned the BGS filters to normal. Within minutes my buzz was gone and the sleep meds had been administered. Sleep came quickly.

    When I woke in the morning I was expecting a hangover, but none was there. I shook my head and let out a "woot" in approval as I exited my quarters heading for the hangar. The air-cab was on time and I was soon on my way home. As I looked down at the passing landscape I smiled at the beauty our planet had to offer. It was worth saving.

    We passed over the Shenandoah Valley in Virginia and then over the foothills of western North Carolina. I casually answered my comm when an unexpected call came in. It was Command and I was being called back for immediate duty. The alien fleet was again on the move.

    I passed my orders to the cabby who quickly turned back towards Lake Pleasant. I was still in the air when the alien fleet touched down in Lake Ontario and disappeared under the water's surface. I called Shepard who was waiting in the hangar for my arrival. The team was ready and waiting for my return.

    When the air-cab touched down I tipped the cabby heavily and ran for my ship. Within minutes we were racing to a rally point in Roanoke. The tactical screen soon lit up with information. The fleet had come ashore at St. Catherines.

    When the fighters and skimmers surfaced they began the now standard annihilation of everything human. The mega-ship followed and then began pummeling Buffalo from a distance. When the big guns at Buffalo went silent the aliens revealed a new tactic. The mega-ship began using its gravity weapon to dig a three kilometer wide trench up the Niagara River heading towards the now ruins of Buffalo.

    The behemoth moved quickly and within half an hour had reached the waters of Lake Erie. A massive torrent of water now flowed through the trench on its way to Lake Ontario. The destroyer surfaced next, surrounded by a thousand fighters. It was heading up the St. Lawrence towards Ogdensburg. The powerful gravity weapon of the destroyer was soon put into action pushing earth into the great waterway to create a dam.

    Command launched numerous cruise missiles in an attempt to halt the alien progress, but each were knocked from the sky before closing in on our enemy. We were then given orders to head to Boston and then Montreal where another subterranean assault was planned. I was given command of two squads of GAFs to take out the destroyer.

    As the waters flowed into Lake Ontario the lake level began to rise. The streets of Toronto soon began to flood. The fifteen million inhabitants of the city suddenly had to seek higher ground. As we raced into Montreal and turned southwest, the mega-ship and its forces disappeared into the waters of Lake Erie.

    Before our arrival in Montreal the destroyer had finished its handy-work of blocking the St. Lawrence waterway and had returned to the safety of Lake Ontario. We were left with no target. I signaled Command and was told to "sit tight" as they evaluated the situation. I would do nothing of the sort.

    I commanded my two squads of GAFS to start drilling into the earthen dam constructed by the aliens. Our progress would be slow, but we would at least be attempting to do something. With the waters rising in Toronto, our work would be the only relief to be offered.

    The mega-ship and carriers, with their horde of fighters, were soon spotted at St. Ignace, knocking down the spans of the I75 bridge between lower Michigan and Canada, before diving down into the waters of Lake Michigan. My first thoughts were of Zack and his family in Traverse City. I signaled Command and asked for orders to the area... I was denied.

    The destroyer was next into action as it pushed a 20 meter swell of water towards the flooding shoreline of Toronto. The wave was long as the destroyer moved parallel to the shore as it pushed the water forward. Toronto was soon deluged with massive floods going 20 kilometers inland.

    The city and its suburbs soon lay in a lake with only tall buildings jutting up from the murky cold waters. Command again attempted nuclear strikes on the destroyer only to have the alien fighters knock down anything sent their way well before it came within range. The destroyer next surfaced and after using its gravity wave in one long sweep, the tall buildings of Toronto were knocked over and perished into the floods.

    My fears for Traverse City soon came true; a giant swell of water was reported heading down Grand Traverse Bay. I could only hope that Zack was able to move his family to safety. Word next came that the 9,000 fighters accompanying the mega-ship had surfaced and were flying cover as the mega-ship began to move southward in Lake Michigan.

    As the behemoth moved it pushed a 40 meter swell of water towards the shoreline. Within an hour the massive wave had moved as far south as Muskegon where 100,000 skimmers surfaced and followed the wave inland. Grand Rapids was soon overwhelmed and its ongoing history brought to an abrupt end.

    The destroyer departed the Toronto area and began a new campaign to annihilate the shorelines of Lake Erie. Again the fighters circled overhead as cover while the destroyer pushed a massive wall of water inland while moving southwest. Cleveland would be inundated within the hour.

    After sufficiently restoring the flow of the St. Lawrence, Command then ordered my squads into further action. We were to proceed to the shorelines of Lake Erie and then to dive beneath the waters. Our target was the destroyer and the strategy was to move ahead of it and to lie in wait.

    I was sure our progress was being monitored by the aliens and as such I devised a new strategy. We would drill below the lake bottom where we would launch a number of Drillers. After drilling their way through the earth a kilometer beneath the lake bottom they would then surface 50 kilometers in front of our position and begin hunting for the destroyer.

    We dug deep and launched 20 Drillers into the soils below the lake. We then continued forward taking position in front of the advancing destroyer. I was sure we had been detected and that there would be no surprise waiting for the destroyer. I was right. The destroyer stopped short of our position and rose above the surface. It continued to push walls of water towards the shoreline as it moved slowly ahead.

    But we still had Drillers advancing towards the destroyer and our programming of them could not have been better. The Drillers came up through the lake bottom and then surfaced directly under the destroyer.

    Eighteen Drillers were immediately destroyed, but two made contact with the ship’s outer walls and soon began their dirty work of eating the great ship from the inside out. The destroyer fell prey to the Drillers and its reign of terror on the citizens of the Great Lakes came to an end. As the green fog spread over the hollowed destroyer it sank into the cold murky waters of Lake Erie.

    The thousand fighters above then turned and headed for the mega-ship. I gave the order and pushed hard on the throttle as we rose quickly to attack the fighters who trailed the pack. Our 14 GAFs then launched all Drillers and began to pick away at the alien horde as the confusion of battle set in.

    We managed to down 16 alien fighters before turning back. A safe distance had to be maintained from the mega-ship or we risked being knocked from the sky. We turned and headed southeast towards Pittsburgh to await new orders.

    The mega-ship then turned its weapon on Detroit. From 250 kilometers it sat and did its dirty work. The Detroit death toll estimates rose quickly towards one million souls with the Windy City being the next to feel the alien wrath.

    With Detroit in ruin the powerful alien gravity weapon turned on Chicago. At the same time the 10,000 alien fighters swarmed down into the suburbs followed by the 100,000 skimmers who had since finished up with Grand Rapids. I cringed as the 50 Defenders who had been parked on the ground in Chicago rose up in an attempt to stop the alien horde. It was suicide.

    From Pittsburgh I received orders to return to Roanoke. The orders were firm as a major counter offensive was in the works.  Within minutes we were safely on the ground behind the Appalachians awaiting the call into battle. Our eyes remained glued to the tactical screen.

    The screen soon lit up with more than 50,000 Drillers and another 5,000 stealth cruise missiles. I waited for the wide sweeps of the alien gravity beam to clear the skies of our new offensive. I was stunned at what happened next.

    Huge fireballs erupted simultaneously in Gary, Oak Lawn, Shaumburg and Waukegan. As the giant mushroom clouds rose I knew the cities had been sacrificed in an attempt to stop the alien slaughter. The hair on the back of my neck stood up as I thought of the millions of lives that had perished in an instant, taken by our own hand. I opened my mouth to scream, but only silence emerged.

    The massive alien fighter and skimmer fleet had taken a heavy blow. The Drillers and cruise missiles were soon on target to finish what the self-annihilating nukes had begun. Within half an hour of the Chicago apocalypse the alien mega-ship was in retreat. The remaining skimmers had been abandoned while the final horde of 1,200 alien fighters left the atmosphere with the mega-ship.

    Our orders quickly came in and more than 400 Defenders and GAFs descended on the rubble of Chicago while chasing down and destroying the remaining skimmers. As the last skimmer crashed down into a green fog a cheer went up at Command. I could not bring myself to celebrate as I scanned the debris of what only hours before had been a teaming, thriving city of more than four million citizens.

    Before orders came to return to Lake Pleasant I pushed the throttle and flew to Traverse City to inspect the damage. My heart sank as I saw that the mega-ship had swept the flooded remains of the city and surrounding suburbs. Nothing over a meter in height was left standing.

    As the tears filled my eyes I again pushed the throttle and within minutes settled just above the tarmac at home base. As we taxied into the hangar I wiped my eyes. We touched down and powered off the ship. I stood and followed Randy, Raven and Shepard out of the rear hatch.

    I began the long walk towards the elevators with my eyes looking at the floor before someone stepped in front of me. It was Zack! His face told of what I already knew. Much of his family was gone. His life up until joining the corps had been stripped away. The hurt in his eyes was overwhelming.

    I put my arms around him and pulled him close and the tears once again began to flow. After a long embrace he pushed me back gently and then asked me to follow him to the hangar break room. As we turned the corner an elderly woman and man stood. I recognized the resemblance immediately.

    Zack's parents had flown back with him earlier that morning. They had survived with only a small bag of clothing and their Yorkshire terrier named T-Rex. But gone were his Aunts, Uncles and cousins. Gone was their home and gone were their neighbors and friends of many years. Their life in Traverse City lay in ruin. After a brief introduction I called my parents and asked if they would help. Their response was immediate. That afternoon, Zack's parents were in an air-cab heading for eastern Alabama.

    My day was soon filled with debriefings. Command needed every detail, every move and every thought that had run through our minds as the day's battles had ensued. By the time the briefings had ended Zack had been off duty for hours and had retired to his quarters for the evening. I wondered down to the base pub and ordered up a beer.

    The day had been long and I was growing ever weary from the seemingly never ending battles. It was a war with no winners. A billion citizens of Earth had perished and now countless numbers of the enemy. And what of the humanoid creatures, how many were there and why did they hate us so?

    I was soon joined by three technicians who had just come off shift from working on the new prototype ship. After seeing the clearance indicators on my BGS suit they opened up about what would be ready for testing in less than a year, the first of the Brenner Class destroyers.

    The twin reactors were in place and had been briefly powered up. A battery of 256 coil guns had been mounted and work had begun on the new directional BHD. The new drive would reside in a central core internal to the ship that would allow the pull from the generated black hole to move the ship instantly in any direction. Rumor had also spread of a new pulse gravity gun capable of killing a fighter from 200 kilometers. Our technology was advancing at a rapid pace.

    Plans had been launched for the creation of a battleship and a transport that could be used in the future for a planned assault of the alien homeworld. An assault that would not come until the threat of the mega-ship had been neutralized. The thoughts of a return to Alvin were racing through my mind.

    When I returned to my quarters the BGS meds had a difficult time lowering my adrenaline levels. I rolled and squirmed on the anti-grav mattress, running scenario after scenario of an Alvin invasion through my head. When sleep finally came my dreams were of combat.

    I would fight my way to the inner workings of the alien water city destroying everything in my path. I would float through the walls into the cabins of the humanoid masters and make them beg for mercy as I crushed their throats in my powerful hands. It was a violent dream, but one that I would remember fondly for the rest of my life.

    When I awoke in the morning my team had once again been called back to duty. We would be on patrol, keeping the ever watchful eye on the mega-ship and its movements. It had taken its old familiar position of twice the distance from the Earth to the Moon. A swarm of fighters were ever on patrol to give it early warning of any attack.

    Our GAF lifted off before I had a chance to say goodbye to Zack. His parents had been welcomed into my grandfather's home where they would receive good care and were welcome company. My dreams of a romance had once again been put on hold.

    The tour was soon monotonous and seemingly unending just as the last had been. The constant movements of the mega-ship had made any attempt at a stealth attack unsuccessful. Days, turned into weeks and then months with no activity. After 76 days on station word came of another week of rest and recuperation.

    When we touched down at Lake Pleasant I grinned wide as Zack was waiting to greet me in the hangar. It had only been months, but the fighting seemed a thing of the distant past. My time had come and I was eager to get to know the gentleman who stood before me. A date into town was in the works, a date that would soon be interrupted.
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    I felt a bit awkward as it was to be my first date in years. I had made every attempt to add clothing over my BGS, but none of my old clothes fit. I was now buff and strong. I had square shoulders and a tiny waist. My thighs were powerful as were my forearms. I began to feel more like a hideous monster than a woman.

    I sat nervously on the edge of my bed as I waited for the hour of our date. My makeup, hair and nails had been redone several times with each time in succession bringing a feeling of inadequacy, a feeling of being something less than a woman and more of a freak.

    My nervousness peaked when a knock came on my door. When it opened I was greeted with a warm smile and a brief hug. The nervousness quickly turned to excitement over the handsome man standing before me. He took my arm and we chatted lightly as we made our way topside. When the elevator door opened there were technicians scurrying about the hangar.

    The alien mega-ship was on the move. I signaled Command and was told to enjoy my time off. The aliens had moved to a position behind the Moon where they were less of a threat. If the need arose I would be immediately called.

    A local air-cab soon landed and whisked us away for our evening on the town. When we sat down for dinner I quickly became aware of the fact that I was still in the BGS. I had no need of food, nor was I hungry. After an awkward look from several other patrons, Zack broke into a laugh. He too had been nervous about the date and had neglected to take into account that I was in a BGS. As a courtesy I ordered a salad that I mostly just poked and prodded at as he consumed his meal.

    From dinner we moved on to a cheesy love story movie and we were both asked to leave when we began to giggle uncontrollably. We ended the evening sitting on a bench in the town square talking endlessly about our childhoods and how we had come to where we were. Zack finally worked up the courage to place his hand gently on my cheek. He then moved in for a kiss, a kiss that I longed for, but which did not happen. The evening was once again interrupted when a warble came over my QE comm. I was being ordered back to duty.

    The alien ship had moved down to the Moon's surface hovering only 800 meters above it. Fighters ran patrols as machinery was being set up on the Moon's surface, two kilometers from the great ship. My team was not going into action, but was to be on immediate standby in case the need arose.

    My dream date had come to an abrupt end. Zack dropped me at my quarters and with a disappointed look on his face he leaned in for a gentle kiss goodnight. His lips were warm and soft and he left soon after with a smile.

    As I walked towards a briefing room I could not help but think about my evening. He was handsome and rugged. His demeanor was one of friendliness and kindness and his sense of humor had me giggling like a school girl. When I rounded the corner into the briefing room my dreamlike state came to an end.

    The room was full of scientists and engineers having arguments with Command about what the mega-ship might be doing. Some were suggesting a moon base while others though it may be making repairs. The 14 alien carriers had landed on the Moon's surface making a perimeter about the mega-ship.

    I sat with Randy, Raven and Shepard and listened for hours as one scenario after another was presented. When the final idea was thrown on the table the scientists and engineers departed and the tacticians and battle planners entered the room.

    The next five hours were spent attempting to plan strategies for each of the scenarios put forth. I wanted to catch a wink with all the information flying about as we were only allowed to observe, but the stimulants from my BGS saw to it that I remained awake and alert.

    When the long meeting concluded we were sent back to our quarters to rest. There had been no change in the position of the mega-ship and the activities on the Moon's surface seemed to be at a minimum.

    With the great ship stationary, Command had wasted no time in making attempts at a strike. Drillers had been launched by the thousands only to be swept from the area when they came within line of sight of the mega-ship.

    Stealth missiles had been launched hugging the Moon's surface moving at only two meters height as they circled around towards the alien encampment. Fighters on patrol annihilated most with the mega-ship knocking down the remaining few with its gravity beam before they could come within range.

    Attempts at taking out the patrolling fighters had also been unsuccessful as the mega-ship protected the small craft from a distance. Four GAFs and their crews had been sent to their deaths in attempts to drift in unnoticed. Command's well of ideas soon ran dry.

    For five weeks we sat and watched as the alien fleet remained silent. For five weeks our factories were churning out countless Drillers and hundreds of new GAFs. Ground defenses were being updated with a new and improved gravity pulse gun capable of killing a fighter at 50 kilometers.

    Cities that had been ravaged by the alien tsunamis were being abandoned, the remaining citizens relocated. Damaged crop fields were being readied for the next year’s plantings. We were making every effort to fortify and rebuild as only through strength would we survive.

    I was sitting in a briefing with the same tired ideas and arguments being bandied about when a young scientist was quickly escorted into the room by his superior. He had news.

    The alien mega-ship had been busy during its five week stay on the Moon. Busy making use of its gravity beam in a way that only myself and Shepard had seen live. The young scientist was reporting that according to the latest measurements the Moon was now two meters closer to the Earth. The mega-ship was pushing the Moon!

    The room went silent for a moment as the realization of exactly what that meant began to sink in. The calm then exploded as everyone began to talk at once while calling superiors to inform them of the new revelations and then asking for instruction. Again, voices rose and arguments ensued.

    We had been unsuccessful in all attempts to get to the alien fleet and now it was using a strategy against us that we could not possibly counter. The scientists and engineers soon scurried off to their own meetings to discuss the consequences of a closer Moon.

    Command was in chaos for much of the day before word began to trickle in of what may lie ahead for us. As the Moon grew closer it would first begin to affect the tides. Within three months the calculations had tidal waters rising by an additional two meters in many areas. At six months those figures would double.

    At nine months the weather would be altered enough to send storms to parts of the world that were normally tepid. Snow would fall in the deep-south as far down as the equator and searing heat would build in the tundra’s of the far north. One estimate predicted the flipping of the Earth's magnetic poles.

    At one year major catastrophes would begin to strike as earthquakes would become commonplace. Nowhere on the surface of the planet would be spared from the tug of our new enemy, our own Moon.

    With nothing to contribute to the current dilemma I was soon given a week’s pass to return home. I arranged for Zack to join me. His parents had been grateful for the kindness they had received and had attempted to help out on the farm where they could. When we arrived we were greeted with teary eyes.

    After an evening spent with the family I stepped out onto the front porch of my grandfather's home and sat in the swing with Zack. As we swung back and forth I looked up at the nearly full Moon and wondered at its beauty. All through history Man had admired it and looked upon it with fondness, but it was now threatening our existence.

    The remainder of the week was spent getting to know Zack and his parents and everything I learned I liked. During the day we worked side by side with my father, readying the fields for the eventual spring plantings. Fences were mended and animals fed and cared for. It was a life I had always been fond of, but only now fully appreciated.

    When we returned to base at Lake Pleasant my team was once again assigned to patrol duty. We would take up station at 50,000 kilometers distance from the mega-ship and observe for any changes. It was a grueling ten weeks of boredom before returning to Earth for another week of rest.

    Again the time was spent with Zack at the farm and again the time was too short and our return to patrol duty prolonged. Six months had soon passed and the Moon grew ever closer. Low lying cities continued to be evacuated and our factories continued to churn out the implements of our defense.

    As months passed Command tried many new strategies against our foe with no success. The Moon crept ever closer and the tides rose. The weather then began to take drastic turns as the world, thermohaline ocean circulation patterns, began to slow. Random snows were soon seen in the tropics and heat waves across the northern areas of permafrost.

    A massive earthquake in Xi'an central China killed hundreds of thousands and left millions homeless. Rumors were rampant of the San Andreas being the next to go. The lives of the people of the world were in turmoil, but they somehow kept going to work, turning out new ships and weapons. We would not go down easy.

    After our return to base and before I left my quarters for the ship I had a knock on my door. It was Zack. He came in and we embraced in a long passionate kiss. He then dropped to his knee and pulled a small black box from his pocket. It was a ring. Without hesitation I said yes and he slipped it onto my finger with his steady hand.

    He rose to receive another long passionate kiss. He then told me of his new decision. He had joined the BGS Marines and would be leaving for his initial training within the week. He was a man’s-man and as such did not like being behind the scenes when fighting was taking place.

    Support at all levels during wartime was critical and as such every duty station required someone to man it. Zack felt his skills would be better suited to fighting on the front lines. He had the physical conditioning, the weapons knowledge and a strong will, he only lacked the final training.

    News then came of earthquake rumbles in Alabama. I decided it was time to act. I could no longer sit idly by observing while my loved one’s lives were in peril. I signaled Command and suggested that they allow my team to drill through the Moon and then drift up into the great alien craft. After a day of planning we were given the go-ahead.

    As I sat in my quarters with Zack a warble on my QE comm told me it was time to go. I rose, gave him a long kiss and then looked back longingly as I slowly made my way down the hall towards the elevators. As I looked down at my finger I realized that I now had another reason to rid the world of our alien enemy... a reason to return and live and to grow old.

    I met Randy, Raven and Shepard in the hangar and gave them the news of my betrothal. The congratulations were short as we were soon strapped into our chairs and powering up our GAF. When we lifted off I had a renewed feeling of fight. I had a feeling of being in control which I had not had for months, a feeling of being able to finally do something to bring an end to the madness that tormented our daily lives.

    I plugged in the waypoints provided by Command and pushed the throttle full. Within seconds we approached the Moon and slowed to a speed where our shields would keep up with the drilling. Within two hours we were ten kilometers from our target.

    At eight kilometers, Raven took note of something we had not counted on. The alien gravity wave penetrated deep within the rock of the Moon and the effectiveness of our shields began to drop. At five kilometers the shields reached 85%, at four kilometers 96%. We dare not go further.

    We turned and moved back through the tunnel we had drilled on the way in. When the shield effectiveness had dropped to 15% I brought our GAF to a stop. I signaled Command and told them of our problem. I then asked for time to evaluate and was granted whatever I needed.

    I had Shepard run the calculations for a full-on attack through the hole at just above light speed. Our shields would hold if only traveling through the Moon for the final four kilometers. They would not hold against the alien gravity beam.

    We sat for most of the day in our tunnel through the Moon trying to find a way through the gravity field. Shepard worked feverishly at her calculations, but each attempt told a familiar story. We would need our shielding increased by a factor of 100 to have a shot at making it through. Our technology was not ready.

    Randy then hatched a hair-brained scheme of his own. He wanted to know if it would be possible to remove a fusion reactor from the ship and to couple it into our BGS suits. Shepard rolled her eyes but was intrigued enough to run the numbers.

    Several minutes later she began to nod as she worked, transposing formulas and assembling schematics on her holo-display. After half an hour she sat back in her chair and stared hard at her screen. Prolonged minutes of silence only made the tension grow before she turned and told us of her findings.

    We would have to remove two of our reactors and couple them to a makeshift harness that she would construct from our supplies. She would then attach fused connections, binding the outputs of the two reactors together into one power tether. We would each attach the tether to our power belts through a hollowed-out power cell.

    We would have to remove our food packs to make room for the new power coupler as our full power cells would still be needed once we got inside the mega-ship. With our BGS suits and filters we still had the ability to survive without food for several weeks. It was a risk we were willing to take.

    I asked Shepard about other risks and rewards and she started with the later. The power supplied through the tether should be sufficient to keep our BGS shielding high enough to penetrate the spread-out alien gravity beam. The risk was that the reactors would cycle out of control and we would perish in a bright ball of Sodium fury.

    I asked how long before it would be ready for me to try and I was told we would all be going. It would take the combined pulls of our fist BHDs to move the reactors through the final four kilometers of Moon rock. Our progress would be slow as we would have to hollow out rock with our BHDs making a tunnel nearly two meters wide.

    Shepard placed our chances at 50 / 50. We would also have to field strip eight of our Drillers to construct a shield to put around the reactors. Should any part of our plan fail we would die an instant death.

    We worked for hours breaking down Drillers and hand welding supplies to build our harness. I sent the plans of our endeavor to Command and was told they would have their engineers look into the likelihood of it being a success. They wanted the final say before giving us the go-ahead.

    The remainder of the afternoon was spent removing the reactors. It would be many hours before Shepard would have a harness ready for testing. As the others worked I was left with nothing to do. I sat back in my chair and looked at the ring Zack had placed on my finger, my BGS gloves sitting in my lap. As I began to daydream my mind drifted off to better times. Time spent with Zack and my family, time spent on the farm. I wondered if this horrific war would ever end.
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    The team worked well into the night hours before the harness was ready. The reactors were powered on at their lowest setting and their outputs merged. One by one we each coupled to the tether and tested our suits. They functioned perfectly.

    Shepard then ramped up the reactors and again the suits were tested. We soon discovered that Raven's suit had a flaw in the heel that would expose her to the deadly alien gravity beam. It was decided that she would remain with the ship.

    With Raven unhooked Shepard then set the reactors to full. I was the first to blink out, turning my BGS into the physics phenomenon of an invisible warped space field. Randy reached towards where I had been and pushed his hand through the space I had previously occupied. When his hand passed out of my space I blinked back into existence.

    Shepard ran the numbers on my suit and again concluded that the shielding should be sufficient to withstand the gravity beam. Next out was Randy. It was fascinating to see someone first standing before and to then disappear in an instant. It was a sight that made you sometimes wonder about reality. Randy still existed in that space, but I had no way of knowing for sure.

    When Shepard had completed her own venture into warped space, she evaluated the performance diagnostic results of our suits. Except for Raven, the three of us would make the journey.

    Within the hour Command came back with the go-ahead. We turned the ship and opened the rear hatch. The alien gravity beam pushed at the contents of our GAF nearly pinning Raven to the front wall because of the defect in her suit. When the reactor harness was clear of the ship, the hatch was closed and the active skin brought back online.

    We were each attached to the harness, but invisible to each other. I gave the command and with our BHDs we began to move towards the alien mega-ship through the tunnel we had drilled. When we reached the four kilometer wall I gave the command to start disintegrating the Moon rock that now stood between us and the alien vessel.

    The drilling took many hours, our progress was slow. Shepard kept a leery eye on our suit parameters which had risen to 40% with just over a kilometer to go. When our nav computers signaled that we had entered the last 100 meters our shields had risen to 92%. Just before reaching the surface we gave one final pull with our BHDs to force us through the final meters of rock.

    At 98% we broke through the last layer and floated out just above the surface. The mega-ship was still 800 meters away. At 600 meters the shields hit 99% and at 400 meters 100%. I began to feel the force of the alien gravity wave growing heavy against my skin. At 300 meters the force had reached two G’s and at 250 meters four G’s. We were being crushed as we moved ever closer.

    At 200 meters the force was becoming unbearable. We did not have the shielding needed to get inside. As I enabled my comm to give the command to withdraw the gravity beam suddenly shifted. To our surprise Command had launched 500 Drillers as a distraction. They had been timed to arrive just as we exited from the Moon rock.

    I gave the command to abandon the harness and to move the final 200 meters under the power of our power cells. Within seconds we were free. The Drillers had been spread out to keep the aliens occupied as long as possible. As the last Driller was sacrificed the gravity beam swept back into our location just as we entered the exterior wall of the alien craft.

    For only a moment the gravity monitors in our suits spiked to 25 G’s. We soon learned that Randy had taken a hit. The gravity spike had crushed his feet before they had moved through the wall of the ship. He was now in excruciating pain and his BGS attempted to compensate by releasing meds.

    He was soon drifting unconsciously through the green alien seas that lay just inside the alien vessel. The suit would keep him under sedation as it attempted to increase his rate of healing. There was nothing we could do.

    As we drifted forward I took note of the many sub-trains moving cargo and squid riders about. Again the outer chamber was filled with row after row of skimmer and fighter. At our slow pace it took nearly an hour to cross the vast internal alien sea.

    When we passed through the first inner wall we were again in a feeding chamber. I reminded Shepard through a thought message with our audio implants to not speak as we would be detected. The audio conversion process was fast with my QE comm enabled implant, but was slow for everyone else. Even simple conversions would sometimes have many seconds of lag. It was a function of our technology that needed improvement.

    After drifting through several more bulkheads we came into an empty room. It was an air filled room. I blinked back in and soon felt the familiar pull of gravity. It measured as 0.77 G’s and was surprisingly pleasant after our long drift.

    I sent an override command to Randy's suit and he was soon lying on the floor in front of me. Shepard followed behind and secured the room. It was 12 by 20 meters in size and held stacks of shipping crates similar to the ones the sub-trains had been moving about.

    When I recognized a door down one wall I moved Randy around a stack of crates to a safer location. With the gravity now being in effect we were stationary. I adjusted Randy's suit to a setting that would allow the ship’s gravity to hold him in place while he himself would remain invisible to anyone else. It was the only option available to us.

    With Randy secure, we turned our attention to the alien ship. Shepard checked the air and remarked that it was the same consistency as the air I had encountered when with the humanoids on the alien cruiser.

    As we stood quietly debating our next move the door suddenly swung open. I blinked out, but Shepard was facing away and was too slow to react. A squid, wearing a helmet and pushing a small cart, looked up at her and jerked in a stunned reaction. Before it had time to react further I hit it with a pulse wave which in turn drove it backwards crushing it into the far wall.

    The helmet made a loud clang as it impacted the wall and the bright green alien slithered to the floor dead.  I blinked back in and rushed over to the door. The squid was alone, so I pulled the cart inside and closed the door behind it. As I looked down upon the dead alien a command came in over my QE comm.

    We were given orders to continue our exploration of the massive alien vessel with an emphasis on learning as much as we could about the humanoid taskmasters. It was an order we were eager to comply with.

    I was not about to leave Randy to the mercy of the aliens and soon had a plan in place to get him off the ship. Shepard programmed his BHD to give a sufficient enough blast to carry him off the ship. He would then drift for several days before he would be far enough out to safely be picked up by another crew.

    With Randy tucked away we dragged the alien carcass to a secluded corner of the room. Shepard and I then turned and walked towards the inner wall. Just before reaching it we each blinked out and once again began to drift. The outer hallway was empty and we floated into another storage area.

    When we came through the next wall we were surrounded by a number of the alien humanoids. They were sitting at tables, drinking and smoking. The six white eyes of the alien humanoids we had seen before now had a glazed appearance with green streaks running through them. I took it as a similar reaction that we had to drinking and smoking with our red bloodshot eyes.

    There was much conversation going on and I was sure our linguistics boys back home were running it through their translation algorithms as we watched and listened. The lighting was dull and the room filled with smoke, so I took a chance with a momentary blink in and out to stop my forward progress.

    It was fascinating watching the humanoids at play in what was predictably a bar scene. Conversations were loud with grunting noises that I could only imagine were laughs. Then, two of the humanoids stood facing each other while displaying angry gestures. The other patrons grew silent as they looked on. The four slits of their nostrils flared and the tips of their pointed ears turned a bright yellow. It was an impressive display.

    A third humanoid from behind the bar soon joined them and just as with every squabble scene in every bar of every movie I had ever seen, the bartender calmed the anger and offered up a fresh brew. Things soon returned to normal as the crowd once again returned to their discussions.

    I then received an audio text from Shepard. She was in a room with hundreds of sleeping humanoids. They were laid out on giant pillows on the floor with each curled up in a delineated space. One wall was full of what appeared to be lockers while another had racks of weapons. She had drifted into the humanoid's barracks.

    When the same two humanoids again stood in anger I took the opportunity to blink out and maneuver out of the bar while heads were turned. After floating through another hallway I came into the same barracks area as Shepard. I again blinked in bringing myself to a stop. I had the urge to laugh when I observed the sleeping humanoids. Their nostrils opened and then flapped gently shut as they breathed in and out. They made the same sound we would associate with passing gas only with several hundred doing it at the same time.

    I had a moment of panic and nearly fired my pulse gun as one of the humanoids quickly sat up with one of his six eyes halfway open. After letting out a snort he soon settled back into his slumber.

    With our barracks observation complete, we once again blinked and moved through the next wall. This time I was nearly blinded by a brilliant light. We were drifting through a reactor core. When we exited the other side I looked back at the containment vessel and then at the two squid technicians that were manning consoles in front of it.

    We again blinked to come to a stop and observed. Moments later a humanoid entered the room carrying a small red-tipped cylinder in one hand. The reaction of the squids was to appear to cower. The yellow humanoid then spoke in their language. Our translators told us that it was angry at some threshold not being met.

    The humanoid raised the cylinder and a green bolt of light flashed out of the end, striking one of the squids squarely in the back. It slumped over in its chair. As we waited and watched three more squids entered the room. Two removed the motionless green alien while the third took its place at the console.

    The taskmaster then began speaking and it was clear that the previous technician had been executed. The new tech was expected to not make the same mistake. When the humanoid exited the room the squids remained silent, working diligently to complete or continue the work they had been assigned.

    Command soon gave orders to continue our observances as we moved about mapping the great ship. Five minutes soon turned into five hours as we blinked from room to room. I began to grow weary of the game and had begun to repeatedly ask Command when the fun was to begin. I was eager to stop the alien vessel from continuing its push of our moon.

    The news I received next was encouraging. Our scientists and engineers had made a major breakthrough with the gravity wave technology. A massive effort was now underway to construct a ship with four macro generators.

    Each generator would have an output capable of supplying the power needs of several moderately sized countries. Only 46 would be needed to supply the energy needs of the planet. Estimates gave the ship the ability to nearly counter the gravity wave from the alien mega-ship. We now had a means to greatly slow the progress of the Moon which was now 670 kilometers closer to Earth.

    The next room we drifted into had the appearance of an alien massage parlor. Two females of the species were laid flat on a table while being rubbed down by two scantily clad males. It was a disgusting display as their bodies writhed about in evident pleasure and I was happy to continue drifting towards another wall.

    Before we could exit Command sent a new order. We were told to hold our position until further notice and it was critical for us to stay where we were. I hesitated before blinking to stop my progress. There was nothing about this room or the goings-on within that would be reason for our continued observation. I stood and stared in disgust as I pictured the boy’s home at Command ogling their monitors.

    I soon learned the reason for our stop. Command had been busily constructing eight harnesses similar to the one we had used to drift aboard. These harnesses were more powerful giving them the ability to drift fully through the dispersed alien gravity beam. Each harness housed a squad of eight BGS Marines.

    The Marines had been given the task of securing one each of an alien squid and an alien humanoid. They were then to be transported off the ship and back to Command for interrogation. It was a bold move on our part as the information they could possibly provide might be such as to bring about the end of the war.

    As the alien masseuses plied their trade the alien females continued to writhe in pleasure. As interesting as it was to gaze upon another species in what was likely some of their daily routine I had to avert my eyes. The erotic displays before me only brought more loathing to an otherwise contemptuous species. I scowled as I followed my orders to hold.

  


  
    Chapter 15

    


    

    


    

    I quietly sent an audio text to Shepard as the Marine raid got underway. We continued to observe the alien women as their perverse needs were being met. Alerts then popped onto my helmet display. Shepard's power cell was failing. Seconds later she was standing visible in the middle of the room for all the alien humanoids to see.

    One of the males was the first to take notice and he immediately let out a series of low grunts. I raised my pulse gun and quickly ended his existence. His tall thin yellow frame slammed hard against a rear wall and he slumped to the floor.

    The females next sprang into action first leaping upward and then pushing off the ceiling in Shepard's direction. I blasted the first sending her flipping end-over-end into the far wall. The second female reached Shepard before I could aim and fire off another pulse. Shepard was knocked backward by the humanoid female and the two were soon wrestling on the ground next to me.

    I reached down placing my pulse gun next to the head of the alien while aiming away from Shepard. What came next was horrifying and at the same time gratifying. I squeezed the trigger and the pulse exited the end of my weapon. The alien female's head then split apart and what I could only imagine had once been her brains were now splattered on a wall to our side.

    I blinked in and turned the weapon towards a now horrified male masseuse. He let out no further sound except for the fast breaths that he now took. I turned on my translator and in the tongue of the squids I told him to not move and to raise his arms above his head. He quickly complied, but with a puzzled look on his face.

    I then signaled Command and told them of our dilemma and of the fact that we now had an alien humanoid prisoner. They were then made aware of the fact that Shepard's BGS was no longer under power, she had no weapon and within 48 hours the toxins in her blood would build to the point of bringing about her death.

    Command signaled back to hold our position as one of the Marine squads was being diverted to our location. I then walked over to the shaking alien to begin an interrogation of my own. As I raised my pulse gun towards his head he seemed eager to please me.

    The room was indeed a massage parlor and the two women had booked it for what would be the equivalent of two Earth hours. The masseurs had twenty minutes of giving pleasure remaining before a ten minute cleanup followed by the next clients. As I listened I looked on in disgust.

    I began to quiz the alien about the status of the squids versus his own species. He was soon spilling his guts, answering each question I asked in an attempt to save his own life. I was not impressed with how easily he rolled over on his fellow aliens. I then thought of how many humans would do the same. We all had our limits.

    The squids were a species that were considered of a lower intelligence. They were workers and under his interpretation they were slaves. His race housed and fed and provided them with jobs and in turn they submitted to whatever rules were put in place. I said that it sounded like a miserable existence to which the alien gave a puzzled response.

    He said it was what they knew, what they did and what they freely accepted. Most species amongst the stars subjugated themselves as a means of survival. It was a widely accepted practice. He went on to say that if our race had merely accepted the superior leadership of the Kurtz we would not be at war.

    There were several revelations in his seemingly simple statement. His species were known as the Kurtz and there were other species out there besides the two we were currently at war with.

    I then asked of the name for the squids to which I was told "Barhoo". The Barhoos had been in the service of the Kurtz for more than 4,000 Earth years. It was all they knew and they fully accepted their position. I then asked if the Kurtz were in service to anyone to which he went strangely silent. I held the pulse gun to his skull and told him to answer.

    He immediately complied while at the same time inferring that he had only hesitated because it was an odd question. The Kurtz were indeed subjects of the Frekkin Empire, just like everyone else. The Frekkin were a supposedly fierce species that controlled 46 star systems within our arm of the Milky Way galaxy.

    I was the first alien he had seen outside of the Empire, but he had only been to one colony besides the second planet of Epsilon Eridani, the planet we now called Alvin, not counting the Kurtz homeworld of Toleda.

    I had a sudden panic that the aliens had somehow cracked our military communications. I wondered how else they could have known of the name I had given the planet only a year earlier. I then realized that Command had released the name of the planet to the press, giving it a designation aside from the normally cryptic astronomical one. They had no doubt monitored our communications as their fleet approached.

    I asked the alien if he had a name. It was Pelm Gurkus. I then asked Pelm how many of his kind were on-board. He replied that Pelm was his primary name, his family name, Gurkus was his given name. He thought for a moment and answered that since the only surviving ships were the mega-ship and the 14 carriers he would place the number at about 1,300.

    Each carrier had a Kurtz population of 50, all in the military sect. The mega-ship had a combination of military and civilians and the fleet was commanded by a low level royal family. Ambassador Rial Dorius was the Royal who commanded the fleet.

    He then began to lament the war that had been ongoing. The loss of ships would not be looked kindly upon by the next family up the chain. The Horbis’ commanded 12 such mining fleets and the loss of so many ships would likely be the end of the Rial family as a royal line.

    What appeared to be a concerned look grew on his face as he thought about a possible change in command. The Rials had been good to him and he had heard stories of other, more difficult families to be subjects of. He did not look forward to the possibility of being sold or traded down to a lower position.

    I asked about being a subject and he said that everyone in the fleet belonged to the Rial family. The credits he had received for signing on with them had been spent on elevating his mother to a new position with another family. There was an entire hierarchy under the family structure with the Royals being at or near the top. You were born into your family’s position in life and that was where you stayed unless the head of the family was able to move up a level in the hierarchy. Females were the dominant gender.

    I was again floored at how easily the alien gave up information. After pressing him further he confessed that he had joined on with the fleet with thoughts of seeing the Frekkin Empire. Up until their assault on Earth, all he had visited over his 42 Earth years of service were two mining colonies, and of those he had only been able to see one. It was by no means the adventure he sought and it was not the adventure he was promised by the job recruiters on his home world. But the work was good and he had lived a comfortable life.

    He then told that everyone was born into freedom. When they reached working age they would commit to a family for a position, with the proceeds going to their family head. Their term for the family head was similar in description to our "governor".

    He then alluded that the Frekkin Empire was not always an easy place to make a living. Often it was difficult to even stay alive. From what he had witnessed death came easily out amongst the stars. If you were lucky enough to attach yourself to Royals who kept themselves occupied with a business other than conquest, you could live a long and comfortable life.

    As Gurkus thought further of the demise of the Rial family he began to get a sad look on his face. If the Rials were to fall out of royal status it would be disastrous for any who were in their employ. His own position would be diminished, putting pressure on his family’s position. Up until this point in the war he had chosen to not think about the consequences of loss. His sadness began to turn to distress.

    I then posed a new question to Gurkus. What would happen to his family status if he was taken prisoner by another species, a perhaps more powerful species? After thinking for a moment, his mood began to change. If he was taken as the spoils of war and then offered a position above what he had with the Rials it could turn the almost certain loss of status that was coming, into a gain. He delighted in the thought of a new position with a powerful species. For him, the decision to cooperate fully was an easy one.

    I inquired about the gravity wave weapon to which he replied that the technology aboard the ship was beyond his or any other Kurtz' knowledge. It was not Kurtz technology. The ships and equipment were all provided from above. They were provided by those far enough up the family hierarchies that he had no knowledge of where they had come from. He pondered that perhaps it had come from the Frekkin Empire. It was something that he had never given much thought to as it was not relevant to his or his family’s position in life.

    I then asked where on the ship the Royals resided. He hesitated before telling me they were four decks up and three perimeter halls out. The higher up in decks you went, the higher the status of those who resided there.

    I then asked about the military. Since most of the ships were automated drones the military sect was cast as one of the lower position sects. They resided on the lowest of the air-decks. Below them and on the outer perimeters of the ship were the Barhoo’s.

    The Barhoo’s were low intelligence workers and fell far below any Kurtz in the hierarchies. They were also used frequently in battle as they were voracious breeders, so their populations were easily re-established.

    I then asked Gurkus why the other mega-ship was pushing one of the moons of Alvin. He did not have an answer. The door then opened behind us. I blinked out and waited for whoever was coming in. It was an extravagantly dressed female, a direct niece of Rial Dorius.

    Shepard made a quick lunge slamming her hard against the wall as the door closed. The Kurtz dignitary went limp in her arms. Gurkus quickly moved over to offer assistance. With his help the niece of Rial Dorius was laid out on the massage table. Gurkus looked frantic.

    I blinked in again and a startled Gurkus let out a series of low grunts. The translator told us that the lower Royal was dead. Shepard’s lunge had crushed her midsection as was evidenced by the green blood running from her nostrils. It seemed the Kurtz were fragile beings.

    The Marines soon arrived and had Gurkus encased in a transport module. Shepard was given a new power cell and the Marines soon blinked out and were on their way. Command then sent orders for us to find the Royals and to observe. Before leaving I sent a low level gravity pulse into the wall that the door slid into, denting it and thereby making it inoperative.

    Following the directions given by Gurkus we then floated up four decks and out three hallways. On each level it was apparent that the Kurtz on that level were of higher status than those of the level below. I wondered what the niece of Rial Dorius had been doing on such a low deck. Gurkus was no longer around to answer.

    We then floated into a room that looked somewhat familiar. A tall thin extravagantly dressed Kurtz was sitting in a blue chair gazing into a holo-display. I then realized that the room was familiar because I had been there before. This was the alien being that I had encountered when I had first drifted onto the alien mega-ship before its arrival to Earth.

    As we watched I sent a text to Command asking if my video feed could be sent to the Marines who were in possession of Gurkus. I then asked if the video could be shown to Gurkus so that I might ask questions about what I was seeing. Several minutes passed before Gurkus' image appeared on my helmet display.

    I texted a question as to who the Kurtz was that was sitting before me. Gurkus replied that it was the sister of Rial Dorius, Rial Mabia. She was second in command of the fleet. They were twin sisters and the governor of the family had been chosen by their mother before her death.

    I asked if the two sisters got along to which Gurkus again looked confused. There was no contention within the hierarchy. It was not permitted and had been punishable by death for many millennia. It was a rule that the Kurtz dare not violate as it was viewed as distasteful and if discovered would immediately lower a family’s position.

    I then asked Command for permission to blink in and to question Rial Mabia. Permission was granted and within an instant a startled Royal was looking into the end of a pulse gun. Shepard remained unseen.

    I then called her by name when asking the first question. I wanted to know why they were invading our planet. Mabia looked around the room wondering where I had come from and then decided it would be wise to answer.

    They had come for the Sodium. Sodium was used as the source of energy throughout the Frekkin Empire. It was an extremely valuable commodity. Our planet was rich with the form they needed for mining, Sodium that was dissolved in water. I then asked why they did not mine it from elsewhere as Sodium was a plentiful resource amongst the stars.

    She replied that the equipment they had could only be used with Sodium that was dissolved in water. These were the ships they had been provided and the directions they had been given, to mine Sodium from water planets.

    I then asked why they had left Alvin and why they were pushing one of its moons towards the planet. She replied with an answer that our scientists had speculated upon when we had witnessed the pushing in action. The Sodium of Alvin had been depleted. Only enough to use as breeding grounds for the Barhoo remained. The submerged Barhoo city would have lifted into space by now and would be on its way to Earth along with the other mega-ship. The ship containing Rial Dorius.

    The moon de-orbit was as speculated. As it moved to a lower orbit it would speed up causing it to eventually crash into the other moon. The high Sodium content of the twin moons would then rain down on the seas of Alvin. Within several hundred years the planet’s oceans would once again be rich in the form of Sodium they required for mining.

    I asked how long it would take to deplete the Sodium of the Earth’s oceans to which she replied, 400 of our Earth years, most of the lifetime of Rial Dorius. Had we not resisted, the Rial family would likely have been given another mining fleet, hence elevating their family position and elevating Mabia's position. With the costs of lost equipment due to our resistance the Rial family would be lucky to hold onto its current status.

    I then asked Rial Mabia why they had not responded to our attempts at a truce. She replied that it was not the way of the Frekkin Empire. If a superior force was to arrive at your world you were expected to subjugate yourselves immediately or face annihilation.

    Our response some 70 odd years before, during the Sodium Apocalypse, had sealed the terms of the war. The order to annihilate had come down from Royals much above the Rials and very likely above the Horbis'. With a failure, all the families in the hierarchy above the Rials would suffer.

    Mabia then posed that if my government were to submit, it would bring an end to the destruction of our civilization. We would be allowed to take our place amongst the Frekkin Empire as subjects of the Kurtz. They were a fair and just people and in their employ we would do well.

    I lifted the pulse gun to her forehead. It took all my strength to not pull the trigger and splatter her brains across the room. I then turned the table on her supposition. I asked that she submit immediately to me and take her place amongst the superior race of Humans.

    For a moment she looked perplexed. She then countered that our cultures and way of life were already doomed as the Moon grew ever closer to our planet. We could destroy the mega-ship, but we had no way of stopping what had already been put in motion. Our weak gravity beam would not stop the progress of the moon in time to prevent the major catastrophes that were only months away.

    In less than a year the Earth would be uninhabitable to us. Rivers and streams would be disrupted, farming non-existent and the chain of life that brought food from the oceans would cease to exist. We had only two choices. Submit or die.

    I then received a text from Shepard. Mabia was right. The earthquakes we had recently seen were only the beginning. The damage caused by the pull of the Moon would worsen exponentially. I then asked Mabia what she knew about the gravity beam to which she responded with the same line that Gurkus had given. They did not know how any of it worked, only that it did. She then repeated her request that humanity submit.

    I pushed the nose of the pulse gun firmly into her forehead and let out a growl. I then withdrew the weapon when a drop of green blood began to roll down across her nostrils from an indentation I had made.

    Shepard then texted that I try giving the same offer as I had given Gurkus, she reasoned that Mabia might need a tangible offer on the table before giving the suggestion any consideration. Shepard suggested that I offer her an ambassadorship of her own. I sat next to the alien who now had a disgusted look on her face. The negotiating soon began.
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    Command gave the go-ahead to offer whatever I could dream up in an attempt to turn our enemy. As I began to piece together my offer, the door into the room opened and two Kurtz military officers entered with their weapons aimed directly at me.

    Before I could fully blink out a green bolt struck me in the abdomen sending me to the floor unconscious. Shepard returned fire with two pulses knocking the military men backwards into the far wall. They slumped over dead. Mabia looked around the room wondering where the blasts had come from. Shepard remained hidden.

    The room was soon flooded with soldiers. My power belt was inspected and my power cell removed. I was now defenseless. The soldiers were given orders to move my unconscious body to the brig. Rial Mabia did not want to look any further upon the hideous two-eyed alien creature.

    Six Kurtz soldiers soon lifted my body. It was a strain to them as my bones were thick and tissue dense as compared to their own. The gravity on their homeworld of Toleda was only three quarters that of Earth.

    Shepard was unsure of what to do next and Command gave the direction of wait and see. She drifted alongside the soldiers in warped space as I was transferred to the brig on the lower decks. My power belt was given over to Kurtz scientists for study. Aside from my capture I now had only 48 hours to live before the toxins in my system overwhelmed my body’s ability to process them. Being wrapped in a BGS had its drawbacks.

    When I regained consciousness I was lying on a long bed in a small room. The walls were the same dull gray as the remainder of the ship except for the one separating the room from the hallway, it was transparent.

    I was soon joined by a Kurtz scientist escorted by two soldiers. The scientist looked me in the eye and let out a series of grunts and wheezes. Without my helmet translator I had no idea what he was saying. He then placed a small box on the bed beside me.

    When he next spoke the box repeated his words in perfect English. He wanted to know about the suit. There was no way I was giving him any information, so I decided to use the same excuse that Gurkus and Mabia used, I didn't know anything about how it worked, only that it did. I could only guess that the expression on the alien's face was their equivalent of a scowl.

    He then identified himself as Rial Boota, the nephew of Rial Mabia. He had been given full authority to gather whatever information he could, using any method he chose. The phrasing of his words gave me an uneasy feeling.

    My powerless pulse gun was removed and placed in a container followed shortly after by my gloves. A device was brought in that soon neutralized my audio implant and the QE comm it contained. The alien scientist then began to feel around on my suit until he located the means to remove it. I was soon stripped naked and left standing in a pool of disgusting bio-gel.

    The stench was horrifying as usual, but the aliens had no reaction. Rial Boota then commented, he felt the gel in the suit was unusual, it was fragrant unlike our world. I thought for a moment and then realized that the alien atmosphere was heavy in sulfur. The disgusting stench of my bio-waste was probably like perfume to the slit nostrils of Boota.

    My helmet, weapon and suit were then carried out of the room. Boota and the two guards exited leaving me covered in my own filth. Shepard dare not blink in for fear that the room was being monitored. As other guards walked by the transparent wall of my room I had an uneasy feeling of being nothing more than a caged animal that was on display.

    For hours I sat in the cold smelly room waiting for Shepard to free me or for Boota to return. As I sat with my hands on my face looking down at the floor I noticed that some of the bio-gel was beginning to move.

    The movement continued over several minutes before a message became legible. "Command working rescue" was spelled out on the floor. Shepard had placed her pulse gun on its lowest setting allowing her to push the bio-gel around without having to blink in.

    The gel quickly became muddled as a guard approached and walked past my cell. After several minutes Shepard began another message "carriers lifting o". The message writing stopped mid-sentence. I waited for her to continue and wondered if a guard was approaching. I wondered why she had stopped and what the full message was.

    Many hours passed and the message remained as it had been. Guards had walked by without any attempt by Shepard to hide our only form of communication. Boota then returned to the room with the two guards.

    His team had been analyzing the suit and they were beginning to make progress on determining how it functioned. He found our primitive yet highly effective technology fascinating. I did not give him the satisfaction of a reply.

    Boota sat on the bed next to me and again pressed for information. I remained silent. He then gestured to one of the guards who grunted a command into a communication device on his sleeve. Several minutes later another Kurtz entered the room with a piece of gear to be placed over my head. I wondered if the torture that was an almost certainty was about to begin.

    Boota reached around to the back of the headpiece and flipped a switch. A clear visor flipped down in front of my face and a soft bar soon looped around my neck, seconds later the soft bar inflated sealing off my breathing from the rest of the room.

    Another thirty seconds passed before I began feeling anxious. Was I to be deprived of air? Would the psychological trauma of my body convulsing while it tried to breathe push me over the edge? I wondered how long it would be before I cracked.

    As I struggled for air a fine mist was sprayed into the headpiece. I soon had a feeling of euphoria. After several minutes with my head in the clouds a second mist was sprayed. Within seconds my dreamy thoughts turned to paranoia and I was filled with fear. I trembled at the mere suggestion by Boota that I was about to experience pain like I had never felt before.

    The misting process was repeated for nearly half an hour with my psyche being pulled from one extreme to another. When the headpiece was removed I was in a complete state of confusion.

    Boota then suggested he was my friend and that he was here to help me. In my mind I somehow believed it to be true. He then began to question me about the suit and how it functioned. A small part of my brain screamed to be silent, but that part was no longer in control. I began telling Boota everything I knew.

    The questioning continued until I passed out from exhaustion. When I awoke I had been washed and fed through an IV. The stench of the bio-gel was gone. The device was again placed over my head followed by more misting and interrogation.

    Over the course of what must have been several weeks I told Boota everything about my past. I told of my family, of my friends, of how to reprogram an automated milker, of how long it took for corn to grow in the field, Boota was fascinated.

    Within just over a month the knowledge of our technologies, our strategies and our weapons was now fully known to our enemy. My life had become sad and lonely except for when Boota entered the room. He meant everything to me and nothing else mattered except for his company.

    I had no thoughts of Zack or Shepard, or of a rescue mission. I was not worried about my family or about what was happening to the other citizens of Earth. The joy of seeing Boota each and every day was my life in its entirety.

    I was unaware and uncaring of what was going on around me. The alien mega-ship and the carriers had left the vicinity of the Moon and were now in transit back to Alvin. It was a trip that would take 13 years to travel with the alien's propulsion system.

    When the ship suddenly departed Shepard and the Marines had been left outside. They floated 800 meters above the Moon until such time as our ships picked them up.

    Rial Mabia had determined that the discoveries made by Boota about the BGS suit and its capabilities far outweighed any Sodium that could be mined from Earth. Our suit with its ability to travel through walls and to disappear would be a discovery that would elevate the family back home, possibly as high as the rarely heard of two-position upward move.

    Mabia thought of the power and status she might wield as the discoverer of this new technology. In the hands of the aliens it would mean certain doom for Earth. The mining and subjugation of the Human planet would no longer be of concern to the Rials. It would be something for lesser Royals to quibble over.

    Back on Earth there was no rescue mission planned for returning one individual. I was considered a prisoner of war. Earth had a much bigger problem to deal with. The Moon was still closing in and the destructive force of its gravitational pull was wreaking havoc around the globe.

    I sat in my cell daily, waiting for my best friend Boota, until one day he no longer came. The alien scientist had gathered all the useful knowledge I possessed. He and his team were now busy trying to unlock the technical secrets of the BGS and its Sodium skin, secrets of which I had no knowledge.

    With no daily Boota and no headpiece, my confused state slowly returned to normal. I was now depressed over my capture and with how easily I had given up our secrets. My days were long with the only stimulus being the occasional passing guard. Even the other Kurtz aboard the ship no longer came by for a gawk at the hideous two-eyed Human.

    With nothing else to do I turned my focus towards my physical condition. I had grown weak after months of inactivity in the lower gravity aboard the alien vessel. The Kurtz diet was rich in seafood and I soon found myself eating as often as they would feed me. With the high protein food and the intense isometric workouts I forced upon myself, I was soon able to regain my muscle mass and flexibility.

    I offered no resistance to the guards who brought my twice daily meal or to the squid that cleaned my chamber pot. My cell was only a holding cell and I would learn later that prisoners were not usually taken and would not be allowed on the air-decks if they were. I was an exception and the chamber pot accommodation was made only because I was a most valuable prisoner.

    After months of incarceration I was glad that a long term effect of wearing a BGS had been the loss of body hair. It had been the only thing that had prevented a hideous jungle from sprouting under my arms, on my legs and on my privates. Once a week I would receive a visit from a squid with a bucket of a watery solution and a set of nail clippers. A sponge bath was looked upon as a necessary accommodation even though the Kurtz preferred my week-old odor to none at all. My hygiene was not a priority for my captors.

    As I sat alone in my cell my only thoughts were to prepare for the moment when my freedom was at hand. I practiced the timing of hand to hand combat moves with the hopes that an opportunity to escape would one day arise.

    During the hours of rest for the Kurtz the lights in the hall would dim. It allowed me to gaze upon my reflection in the transparent wall. I was buff, I was hard and I was powerful. I remained naked, but with no humans around to see me it no longer mattered.

    I waited and plotted and planned for my moment and often wondered what the trigger for my escape would be. The weeks turned to months and the months to years. I wondered what had become of my grandfather and of my parents and Zack. Were they safe? Had we made progress with our gravity wave and stopped the impending disaster of a too close Moon?

    These were the things I pondered between workouts. These were the things that kept me sane. As long as I lived I still had hope, hope for a life where I was once again on Earth, hope for a life where I was once again free.
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    This Human is asking for your help!

    If you enjoyed reading this book please leave a review on Amazon. If you have general comments to the author or would like to be included on a mailing list for new releases please send an email to: comments@arsenex.com. I like feedback!
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    It had been five long years since my capture. During that time I had managed to befriend one of the evening guards who patrolled my hall. I parroted the sounds he made when he would pass my cell. He soon took an interest in what the Human could learn.

    As I mimicked him I began to learn their language. It took many months of trial and casual conversation before I was telling him stories of my world. He had seen images, but as a military guard of low rank, those images had been few and far between. His name was Gor Hershen.

    His family had a long history of military service. With few wars in the Frekkin Empire in the last millennium, they had failed to gain any position, but Hershen considered it a good living. He wanted not for food or comfort. His only regret for his post was for companionship. There had been a female on one of the destroyers that had shown interest at one port of call. But she was gone now, dead in the battles against my species.

    Hershen worked the night shift. Without a sun there was no actual day or night, but the Kurtz were insistent on keeping time synced to their homeworld. In Earth time, the 33 hour days were split into three 11 hour shifts. Hershen was one of only a handful who worked the night shift while most on the ship were in stasis.

    He was a kind soul and would occasionally slip an extra portion of fish into my daily meals. In return I told him stories of Earth, stories about the freedoms everyone enjoyed and stories about how one could move from the bottom of society to the top with only hard work and a bit of luck.

    Many of my stories were embellished, but Hershen would not have cared even if he had known. This was his escape from an otherwise mundane existence. He was like a sponge soaking up the tales that spilled out before him.

    His interest was piqued further when I mentioned that perhaps he could increase his lot in life by becoming a bard. A bard in the world of the Kurtz was only three positions below a Royal. He was soon dreaming of the tales I had told and of the chance to move his position in life upward, if even only by a notch.

    His parents had passed on in a mining accident years earlier where a container of Sodium came in contact with water. It was a rare occurrence, but one that would happen from time to time. He had a younger brother in service to another family back home, but it was he who was considered the family governor.

    As our friendship and trust grew I began to slip in a question or two about the Royals during our talks. He was hesitant to answer until I told him it was his turn to tell me stories, stories that I had not heard, stories that would entertain me, stories about what he knew, because as a bard he would have to be practiced at keeping one's attention.

    I asked about the number of Barhoo on the ship and he replied that it was only a small crew of several thousand for maintenance purposes and for re-breeding when we were close to our destination. I asked what happened to the seeming hundreds of thousands to which he replied that they were left behind, ejected into space as they were of no use on the long journey.

    I was shocked at the thought of how little life meant to the Kurtz and the Barhoo. Death seemed to be something that was commonplace, with no real effort put forth to sustain or extend life. That revelation told me that Humans would never submit to the rule of the Frekkin Empire. We valued our lives and would do whatever we could to prolong them.

    I asked about my BGS to which Hershen replied that he did not know of its whereabouts. I asked if the news of its existence had been sent forward to Rial Dorius to which he responded "No."

    Rial Mabia would keep that information close and only deliver it in person where she could claim credit. That type of discovery would not be transmitted for fear of credit going to someone else. Position was a high stakes game and the Royals played it for keeps.

    It was not long before I learned that Boota and the other scientists resided on the second level. Their labs were seven hallways outward from our position. Other than guards surrounding Mabia on the first level, there were no soldiers until level-four where the officers resided with some of the lower ranking civilians. The brig was on level-five.

    The air corridors of the ship were arranged in circles around the ships core. There were 14 hallways with the higher ranking Kurtz towards the outer perimeter. Elevators going up were arranged every 50 meters. One had to have access codes to reach each higher level.

    I asked about why it was rare that anyone besides Hershen and the two day-shift guards walked by my cell. Hershen explained that everyone was in stasis for most of the trip back to the planet I called Alvin. There were five air-levels with each having three shift guards. In addition, a small contingent of guards watched over the sleeping Rial Mabia. At any given time there was only one guard on each floor. When traveling at speed in the dead of space there was little to fear.

    I then inquired about the device in my head and if he knew how it had been deactivated. I prodded him along about how it would be an interesting story on my world. He took the bait.

    It took him months to get the information I sought but he was determined to be the best storyteller Toleda had ever known. There was a small device in the science lab that would place a field around electronics making them inert. If the polarity of the field were to be switched my audio implant would once again begin to function.

    I romanced about the idea of convincing Hershen to somehow retrieve the device, but I knew it was not a possibility. He had no access to the upper levels and I dare not attempt to include anyone else in my scheming.

    I soon began to fake having trouble sleeping. Hershen was kind enough to bring me a sleeping aid that the Kurtz commonly used. Over a several month period I managed to save a large portion of the drug which remained hidden under the pad on my bed.

    It was a courtesy on Toleda to share your food with others. I had shared many meals with Hershen as he was not one to break tradition. On the night I had planned for an adventure I asked if he could bring a tray of fish cakes. I convinced him that it was in celebration of an Earth holiday and that it was a tradition I missed. Hershen eagerly complied.

    When he returned I asked if there would be a second helping, again I alluded to it being a tradition to which he quickly scurried off to retrieve another tray. I pulled the sleep aid from my pad and mixed it into several cakes. If my plan worked I hoped to have a chance to explore.

    When Hershen returned I began to spin a tale about a man who was swallowed by a whale. Hershen listened intently as he feasted on the tainted cakes. The drug worked quickly and within minutes Hershen was fast asleep.

    I tested repeatedly that he would not wake before I removed his armpad. I spoke the command to open the door in my best Kurtz and was rewarded with the wisp sound it made when opening or closing. I stepped nervously into the hallway.

    It had been five years since I had been taken captive and five years since I had been outside of my cell. It felt strangely odd to leave the familiar comfort of my room. It was also the first time in several years that I became aware of my nakedness.

    My body was hard and taught and my mind sharp. My blond hair was now down to my waste and had to constantly be pushed out of my eyes. I walked slowly down the hallway peering into each empty cell as I went. I was the only prisoner on the mega-ship.

    I walked the hallway around the ships core coming once again back to my cell. Hershen continued to sleep. I then walked to the nearest elevator and opened the door. I nervously spoke the command to move to the next level. When the doors opened I waited for my inevitable capture, but it did not happen.

    I peered out of the elevator down the hall in either direction. There was no one there. I stepped out and began a slow walk in an attempt to explore. As I stepped around a corner I came face to face with the level-four guard. He was startled to see anyone awake, especially an alien.

    Inwardly I panicked, but I was somehow able to utter a greeting in his language. I then made up a story that I had mistakenly come down from the level above and was unsure of how to return. My armband code did not seem to be functioning. I begged that he assist me without notifying the guard on that level as I did not want to get in trouble and lose my new position as a liaison.

    I was not sure where the words had come from, but to the guard they seemed to make sense. I asked his name in case I had the chance to return the favor or if perhaps I decided to send him a few credits. His name was Keris and his eyes lit up at the thought of someone in such a high position needing his assistance. I was soon escorted back to the elevator and given a warm goodbye as the door closed behind me.

    On level three I looked for the guard and used the same ruse to once again move up. Brotic was most accommodating. Again I was bid farewell and proceeded to level-two. When the elevator doors opened on level-two the guard was nowhere to be found. I walked the seven hallways outwards until I reached the hall that supposedly held the science lab. I tried each door as I stepped barefoot down the hall.

    Each door opened with a wisp sound to a room that appeared to be a science lab. I did a cursory search in each, but found nothing that resembled the device in question. When I exited the fifth lab I was confronted by the shift guard Corthur. He was immediately inquisitive as to who I was and why I was there.

    I told him I was under direct command of Rial Boota and that I was tasked with checking data in his lab. But I had not been to his lab and was lost. Again I begged for assistance and indicated that I would be extremely grateful for his help. I was then escorted in the other direction to Boota's lab.

    I was amazed at how little security there was on the ship. But then again, it was a ship that traveled in one direction for 13 years. No one came on or got off and most of its inhabitants were asleep in stasis chambers. They were also very aware of the hierarchy rules and knew the consequences of any violations. What I was doing was just something that was not done.

    The door to Boota's lab slid open and I turned to the guard and asked for his discretion about the incident before bidding him good-day. He hesitated for a moment and then turned to continue his dull and monotonous, uneventful rounds. He at least now had thoughts of a possible reward for his kind service from someone of higher stature.

    I moved through the lab examining drawers, shelves and cabinets. I was almost ready to give up when I opened a cabinet and saw a familiar looking device. It was as I remembered and as Hershen had described.

    I gently picked up the tool and examined it for a button or switch. There was none. I checked for compartments or doors and again found nothing that could be opened. I shook the device in frustration. I was annoyed that I was so close to enabling my QE comm, but I had no idea of how the device worked.

    I then thought back to my capture and to the first time Boota used the device on me. I raised the black 20 centimeter cylinder up to just behind my ear and was startled when I heard the double beep of my audio implant rebooting.

    I replaced the device and hurried out of the lab. I rode the elevator down to level-five and quickly made my way back into the cell where Hershen still lay asleep. I closed the cell door and then replaced his armband. I shook him and he grumbled.

    I shook him again and he awoke groggy, with sleepy eyes. I remarked that there must have been something in the fish because I had fallen asleep too. I helped him to his feet and then said good-night before turning back to my bed. He looked on with half open eyes and then turned and stumbled out of the cell.

    Once he was down the hall I enabled my QE comm channel and sent a text to Command... "Is anyone there?" Several minutes later a reply came back asking who I was. I was rusty in my thought to text conversion and found myself continuously inserting Kurtz words into my conversation. It was all I had spoken for most of the previous five years.

    My contact was a low level comm officer, so I immediately asked for someone from Command. He said that was not possible, but he could relay whatever I needed to the proper officers if I wanted to confer the information to him.

    I was taken aback at the thought of being passed along, but I began to tell the story of what had happened, of my interrogation and of the fact that our BGS technology had been compromised. After my message was sent onwards a response from above the comm officer was slow to come back, so I asked what the status was with the Moon and how Earth had fared.

    The news was not good. It had taken another year for the declining orbit of the Moon to be stopped and reversed. Only now was it nearing its original position. During the time I had been gone the weather had turned nasty and earthquakes had been commonplace.

    Food shortages had been severe due to crop losses from the alien attacks. They had only grown worse with the bad weather. Fish stocks had fallen dramatically in the oceans. There had been two major food wars fought over the remaining fertile grounds with billions dead from the fighting or starved from a lack of food. It had not been Man’s finest hour.

    The last truce had only been holding for two months, but tensions were beginning to rise as food stocks were dwindling. Had the aliens only waited a short while their dominance over the human race would have been complete.

    The world’s population had fallen from 11 billion souls to just under 10 billion when the aliens departed. The wars and starvation had taken those levels down to just under four billion. The devastation was immense with tsunamis, floods, hurricanes, tornadoes, snows and earthquakes striking with little or no warning. And the fighting between nations had been equally as destructive with whole cities being razed.

    I then asked about a mission to stop the progress of the alien vessel so that the BGS technology would not fall fully into the enemies hands. None was planned as all resources were being spent on defending North America and its remaining food supplies. I told of the likelihood that the BGS information had not left the ship and that if we could somehow stop the ship we could prevent the knowledge from being used against us. That information would be passed on to Command and decisions would have to be made by them.

    After a long conversation I then asked to disconnect so that I could make an attempt to call my grandfather and parents. I was told the chances of their survival were low and that normal communications had been disrupted for years. I then asked if there was anything that could be done, anyway that I could find out if they were alive.

    Several seconds passed before the comm officer on the other end came back with an attempt. He would try to patch me through to the base in Savannah, but from there it would be hit or miss.

    I thanked him for his effort and waited patiently as the next comm officer connected. After some time I was patched through to Pensacola and then routed to Troy, Alabama. I next heard the old familiar sound of a land line ringing in the farmhouse. It went on for seven rings before it was answered. It was Zack's mother.

    She immediately went outside and called in my father who raced to the phone. The tears flowed as I began sending texts. I dare not talk as I was fearful of them discovering that my comm had been enabled.

    My grandfather had passed away two years since. It had been from natural causes, he had fallen over dead in the tomato patch, going out the way he would have wanted to go. Zack's father had also passed away from illness as there were no more hospitals or doctors anywhere nearby.

    My mother was out tending to the animals and was doing well. I then asked about Zack and my father hesitated. In the second food war he had lost most of his right leg, but soldiers were in need and he was soon again on the front lines using a prosthetic to get around.

    He was one of only a handful of BGS Marines who were left and had seen many days in battle and had taken many lives. My father was worried as the last time he had seen him, his face was sullen and his eyes had no life in them. Such was the life of a soldier in modern war.

    I then told my father of my capture and of how I was still held prisoner on the alien ship. I was in good health, but was still a captive. With all the problems on Earth there were no resources being put in place for a rescue mission, I was likely on my own for the foreseeable future.

    He was thrilled that I was alive, but unhappy at the thought of my continued captivity. I told him that such was war and that each of us had to make sacrifices if we wanted things to ever get better. Before I was able to say goodbye a comm tech came on the line and stated that he was sorry, but the connection had been broken. Other, official communications needed the lines.

    The news from home was bleak. So many lives lost and so much devastation. A weakened Earth would be easily overwhelmed by a sizable alien force. And from what Hershen had told me we had only dealt with a mining fleet that had minimal assault capability. The Frekkin were far superior.

    As I sat in my cell I contemplated what to do next when contacted by Command. My communications had come at a difficult time for Earth, but I was not being ignored. Discussions were in the works and I was to hold my position until such time as further questions could be asked and the proper resources diverted in an attempt to end my dilemma.

    I was thankful and had relayed that I would cooperate fully. I laid back on my pad and looked up at the dull gray ceiling. For five long years I had waited for something to happen, some word from Earth. It was a good feeling to once again be known, a good feeling to hear my own language. I was once again a part of a team, of the race of Man, and I liked it.

    As I settled back I consumed one of the tainted fish cakes. I then began scheming about what I might do next. I could easily overpower Hershen and the other guards up through level-two but I had no idea of what trouble I would meet if I moved beyond.

    And what of my BGS suit and weapon? Should I risk another venture like the last in an attempt to find them? Would the power cell still have Sodium or could I find the stash of Sodium pellets that I once had in my thigh pocket? These were all risks to be contemplated on another day. I soon slept soundly under the influence of the powerful alien sleeping drug.
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